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This annual report, in both English and Chinese versions, is available on the Company's official website for
corporate communications at www.irasia.com/listco/hk/crcement/index.htm (the “Company’s Official Website”).

Shareholders who have chosen or have been deemed consented to receive the corporate communications of the
Company (the “Corporate Communications”) via the Company’s Official Website and who for any reason have
difficulty in receiving or gaining access to the annual report posted on the Company’s Official Website will promptly
upon request be sent the annual report in printed form free of charge.

Shareholders may at any time change their choice of the means of receipt (either in printed form or via the
Company'’s Official Website) of Corporate Communications.

Shareholders may send their request to receive this annual report in printed form, and/or to change their choice of
the means of receipt of Corporate Communications by notice in writing to the Share Registrar of the Company,
Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 26th Floor, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong or by
sending an email to the Share Registrar of the Company at crcement1313-ecom@hk.tricorglobal.com.
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In this annual report, the following expressions shall have the following
meanings unless the context indlicates otherwise:

"associated corporation”

"Board”

“China Resources Group”

"Chinese Mainland”

“Company”

“CR Holdings”

“csl”

“Director(s)”
“FAI"

“Fujian”
"GDP"
“Group”
“Guangdong”

“Guangxi”

“Hainan”

“Hong Kong”

“IPO"

“Listing Rules”

has the same meaning as provided in the
SFO

board of Directors

CR Holdings and its subsidiaries

PRC excluding Hong Kong and Macau
Special Administrative Region

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
China Resources (Holdings) Company
Limited, a company incorporated in Hong
Kong with limited liability

Cement Sustainability Initiative

director(s) of the Company

Fixed asset investments

Fujian Province, China

Gross domestic products

the Company and its subsidiaries
Guangdong Province, China

Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region,
China

Hainan Province, China

the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region of the PRC

the initial public offering of the Shares on
21 September 2009

The Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange
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“Model Code”

BUERAFEBIEDARA  “NSP”

hE ARLAE

AARIHEHAZZSZNEF  "Prospectus”
FLA =+ — BB AR

=

=

KABEERZZETNFE  "Scheme”
LA Z BERARER AR 2B
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—IEIR & RENET &

BREBESNERFSH K "SFO”
BB (&

FRELTEE “Shanxi”

AAFIfR AP EFREE  “Share(s)”
0.108 TTAIAR (7

BIEER -EM- -f@&EN&  “Southern China”
pistea)
EBEBERXFAERAR  "Stock Exchange”

BT EAETEN "HKS”

ARBT FEUAEER  "RMB”

£7T EEATHNE "Uss”
EALL "%
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"PRC"” or “China”

Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Companies set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules

New Suspension Preheater technology in
the manufacture of cement

The People’s Republic of China
a prospectus of the Company dated

21 September 2009

the share award scheme of the Company
adopted by the Directors on 2 September
2009 and amended by the Directors as
a cash award scheme on 17 November
2010

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)

Shanxi Province, China

share(s) of HK$0.10 each in the share
capital of the Company

encompasses Guangdong, Guangxi, Fujian
and Hainan

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited

Hong Kong Dollars, the lawful currency of
Hong Kong

Renminbi Yuan, the lawful currency of
China

United States Dollars, the lawful currency
of the United States of America

per cent

cubic meter
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited was incorporated on 13
March 2003 in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited
liability under the Cayman Companies Law and is the holding company
of all the cement and concrete operations of the China Resources Group.

The Company was listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited on 29 July 2003 by way of introduction and no funds
were raised by the Company as part of the listing.

The Company was privatised as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Smooth
Concept Investments Limited (subsequently renamed as China Resources
Cement Investment Group Limited) by China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited and the listing of the Company’s shares on the Stock
Exchange was withdrawn on 26 July 2006.

The Company was re-listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange
on 6 October 2009 by way of a Global Offering. Since the completion
of the Global Offering and as at the date of this annual report, the total
number of issued shares of the Company has remained unchanged at
6,519,255,462 shares of HK$0.10 each, of which China Resources Group
is holding approximately 73.34% of the issued shares of the Company.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited is one of the leading cement
and concrete producers in Southern China and is one of the large-scale
cement producers supported by Chinese Government authorities. We
were the largest NSP clinker and cement producer in Southern China by
production capacity in 2010 according to the China Cement Net and the
largest concrete producer in Southern China by sales volume in 2010.

Our operations range from the excavation of limestone to the production,
sale and distribution of cement, clinker and concrete. Our products
are primarily used in the construction of infrastructure projects such as
hydroelectric power stations, dams, ports, bridges, airports and roads,
suburban development and high-rise buildings. Our products are mainly
sold in Guangdong, Guangxi, Hainan, Fujian and Shanxi through our
well-established waterway, railway and road logistics network. As at
31 December 2010, we had 56 cement grinding lines and 25 clinker
production lines in operations, with annual production capacity of 47.8
million tons of cement and 32.7 million tons of clinker respectively. We
also operate 49 concrete batching plants with annual production capacity
of 28.8 million m? of concrete. These production facilities are located
in the various provinces of the Chinese Mainland and Hong Kong as
follows:

Kife b =) Ja

HEGEE BEM HESHE BEE SEEMHE BEILAK
E7,/BBTHE  Province/SAR Cement Clinker Concrete

No. of lines million tons No. of lines million tons  No. of plants million m?
E® Guangdong 16 134 5 6.4 19 11.5
ER Guangxi 29 254 14 204 15 9.0
B Fujian 4 3.0 2 14 9 5.1
=L Hainan 5 40 3 33 1 0.6
i} Shanxi 2 2.0 1 1.2 - -
piipal Zhejiang - - - - 2 1.1
B Hong Kong - - - - 3 1.5
et Total 56 47.8 25 327 49 288
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In addition, we have 50% direct equity interest in three jointly controlled
entities which control eight cement grinding lines, two NSP clinker
production lines and two concrete batching plants in operations in
Guangdong, with annual production capacity of 8.1 million tons of
cement, 3.7 million tons of clinker and 1.1 million m? of concrete,
respectively.

We place strong emphasis on corporate social responsibility and are
one of the few cement producers in China that owns 100% NSP
clinker production lines which are mostly installed with residual heat
recovery generators that recycle the heat generated during the clinker
production process, enabling us to reduce energy consumption, achieve
high production efficiency, minimise pollution and improve product
quality. Our clinker production facilities are strategically located near our
limestone quarries, which supply the limestone required for our clinker
production.
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RPN T BN ER AR A ER KRR T Our principal cement grinding facilities, clinker production lines and
FEUARI A LA T 3 2 - concrete batching plants are situated at the following locations:
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW
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The production plants with cement grinding facilities and clinker production lines in operation

H 5 Tianyang e 7% Nanning e & Shangsi
E[% Bingyang G &5 Guigang o <& Pingnan
£)T Changjiang @ &)1l Fuchuan m B Fengkai
%% Yangchun @ EZ Caoxi @ HI#K Liulin

TR RA KR EAR R AR EE R EERM

The production plants with cement grinding facilities and clinker production lines under construction

HE Wuxuan 0 B )1| Luchuan @ K FE Yongding
#E& Longyan m M Xinzhou @ A Changzhi
BEREIORHE

The cement grinding plants in operation

[ 4% Fangchenggang 7E)T Zhanjiang
55 Dongguan n JIZE Shantou
EEPRR R B

The concrete batching plants in operation
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27 February 2010

8 March 2010

9 April 2010

15 April 2010

20 April 2010

17 May 2010

The Company's application as a
member of the CSI was approved by the
World Business Council for Sustainable
Development

The Company was included as a
constituent stock of the Hang Seng
Composite Index and two Thematic Hang
Seng Indexes, namely the Hang Seng
China-Affiliated Corporations Index and
the Hang Seng Mainland 100 Index by
Hang Seng Indexes Company Limited

Commencement of operation of the first
5000 tons per day (annual production
capacity of 1.6 million tons) NSP clinker
production line in Shangsi County,
Guangxi

Signed an agreement to acquire (i) a
cement production plant together with
all its assets and liabilities associated with
its operations in Caoxi Town, Longyan
City, Fujian; and (ii) 100% equity interest
of San Teh (Quanzhou) Building Materials
Co. Ltd. (subsequently renamed as China
Resources Cement (Quanzhou) Limited)
held by San Teh Ltd. and its subsidiary at
the total consideration of RMB830 million.
Total annual production capacity acquired
was 1.4 million tons of clinker and 3.0
million tons of cement

Commencement of operation of the
second 5000 tons per day (annual
production capacity of 1.6 million tons)
NSP clinker production line in Fengkai
County, Guangdong

Commencement of operation of the first
5000 tons per day (annual production
capacity of 1.6 million tons) NSP clinker
production line in Fuchuan County,
Guangxi
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1 June 2010

9 June 2010

21 June 2010

Signed (i) an agreement to acquire
72% issued share capital of Guardwise
Investments Limited held by an
independent third party at the total
consideration of US$72.0 and (ii) a
shareholders’ agreement which provides,
from time to time, shareholders’ loans
pro-rata to the respective shareholding
in Guardwise Investments Limited to
Guardwise Investments Limited and/or its
wholly owned subsidiary, Shanxi Fulong
Cement Limited (subsequently renamed
as Shanxi China Resources Fulong Cement
Limited), with a total amount of not
exceeding RMB2,110.0 million. Guardwise
Investments Limited and its subsidiary have
two NSP clinker production lines with total
annual production capacity of 2.7 million
tons and four cement grinding lines with
total annual production capacity of 4.0
million tons under construction in Liulin
County, Shanxi

The Company was appointed the co-
chairman of CSlin China

Signed a framework agreement to acquire
100% equity interest in six companies
held by subsidiaries of Universal Cement
Corporation at the total consideration
of HK$820.0 million (which was
subsequently reduced to HK$810.0
million pursuant to the findings of the due
diligence review). The six companies own
a NSP clinker production line with total
annual production capacity of 1.0 million
tons, three cement grinding lines with
total annual production capacity of 3.5
million tons and four concrete batching
plants with total annual production
capacity of 2.3 million m* in Huizhou City,
Guangdong and Ningbo City, Zhejiang
Province, the PRC
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8 July 2010

18 August 2010

5 December 2010

17 December 2010

Commencement of operation of a 2500
tons per day (annual production capacity
of 775,000 tons) NSP clinker production
line in Yangchun County, Guangdong

Commencement of operation of a 4000
tons per day (annual production capacity
of 1.2 million tons) NSP clinker production
line in Liulin County, Shanxi

Signed an agreement to acquire from
a subsidiary of Yue Xiu Enterprises
(Holdings) Limited 50% equity interest
in several jointly controlled entities that
engage in clinker, cement and concrete
operations in Guangzhou City and Hong
Kong at the consideration of HK$618.3
million for the equity interest and
HK$622.3 million for the debts owed
by the jointly controlled entities to Yue
Xiu Enterprises (Holdings) Limited. The
jointly controlled entities control two NSP
clinker production lines with total annual
production capacity of 3.7 million tons,
eight cement grinding lines with total
annual production capacity of 8.1 million
tons and two concrete batching plants
with total annual production capacity
of 1.1 million m?® in Guangzhou City,
Guangdong

Commencement of operation of the third
5000 tons per day (annual production
capacity of 1.6 million tons) NSP clinker
production line in Fengkai County,
Guangdong
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23 December 2010

28 December 2010

29 December 2010

Signed an agreement to acquire 52.4%
equity interest in Shanxi Yaohua Cement
Limited from independent third parties at
the consideration of RMB90.7 million and
will further inject cash of RMB220 million
as additional registered capital of Shanxi
Yaohua Cement Limited to increase our
Group’s equity interest in Shanxi Yaohua
Cement Limited to 89.8%. Shanxi Yaohua
Cement Limited plans to build a 4500
tons per day (annual production capacity
of 1.4 million tons) NSP clinker production
line and two cement grinding lines with
total annual production capacity of 2.0
million tons in Xinzhou City, Shanxi, which
are expected to commence operation by
the end of 2012

Independent shareholders approved the
Master Lending Agreements under the
Strategic Cooperation Agreement at the
Company'’s extraordinary general meeting

Entered into an agreement with an
independent third party for 72%
equity interest of China Resources
Cement (Changzhi) Limited at the total
consideration of RMB 201.6 million. China
Resources Cement (Changzhi) Limited
has entered into an agreement to acquire
from a wholly owned subsidiary of the
joint venture partner of China Resources
Cement (Changzhi) Limited a 1200 tons
per day (annual production capacity of
372,000 tons) NSP clinker production
line and two cement grinding lines with
total annual production capacity of
600,000 tons, which are in operation in
Changzhi City, Shanxi, at a consideration
of approximately RMB139.5 million.
In addition, China Resources Cement
(Changzhi) Limited plans to build a 4500
tons per day (annual production capacity
of 1.4 million tons) NSP clinker production
line and two cement grinding lines with
total annual production capacity of 2.0
million tons in Changzhi City, Shanxi,
which will commence operation by the
end of 2012
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30 December 2010

24 January 2011

27 January 2011

Commencement of operation of the first
5000 tons per day (annual production
capacity of 1.6 million tons) NSP clinker
production line in Tianyang County,
Guangxi

Successfully acquired additional non-
controlling equity interest in certain
companies that engage in clinker, cement
and concrete operations in Guangzhou
City and Hong Kong, which were owned
by Guangzhou Yuexiu Cement Holdings
Limited and its subsidiaries, at the
consideration of approximately RMB405.8
million. These companies were controlled
by several jointly controlled entities in
which the Group acquired 50% equity
interest on 5 December 2010

Signed an agreement to acquire a cement
production plant under construction in
Longyan City, Fujian, together with all
the assets and liabilities associated with
the plant owned by an independent
third party at the total consideration
of RMB277.2 million. Further amount
of RMB520.0 million is expected to be
invested to complete the construction of
one 4500 tons per day (annual production
capacity of 1.4 million tons) NSP clinker
production line and two cement grinding
lines with total annual production capacity
of 2.0 million tons
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2010 2009 2008
EEB(ARET) Turnover (HK$ million) 14,1415 6,906.9 5,781.3
RETFE FHIE ST E NLHEESE  EBITDA (HK$ million)
piEn (A8ET) 3,318.3 1,640.1 1,270.5
FREEN(B&ET) Profit for the year (HK$ million) 2,133.8 1,027.3 783.7
RAEHEE AEGZAF Profit attributable to owners of
(B8%T) the Company (HK$ million) 2,040.8 1,010.2 760.9
BREF AKX (ET) Earnings per share — basic (HK$) 0.313 0.400 0.973
RIB—FF RIZTNF RIZEZTN\F
+=A +=A +=A
=+—H =+—H =+—H
As at As at As at
31/12/2010 31/12/2009 31/12/2008
BEERABE (BEET) Total assets (HK$ million) 35,327.9 24,2339 10,693.5
RAGHEE AER R Equity attributable to owners of the
(B&%rn) Company (HK$ million) 14,776.3 12,257.6 4,366.6
eI R (BB Non-controlling interests (HK$ million) 469.0 373.0 346
BHFRE (BBET) (7#71)  Net borrowings (HK$ million) (note 1) 9,095.7 3,225.2 4,124.8
fEEX (772) Gearing ratio (note 2) 89.5% 76.5% 103.0%
FEEE(773) Net gearing ratio (note 3) 61.6% 26.3% 94.5%
BREEFE-RA (BT) Net assets per share — book (HK$)
(it4) (note 4) 2.27 1.88 5.59
i notes:
1. ERFREN B AR S RIRTTHRER R E 1. Net borrowings equal total indebtedness less cash and bank balances and pledged
AT bank deposits.
2. EEERTIAABEEERALRRES ARG EmE 2. Gearing ratio is calculated by dividing the total indebtedness by equity attributable to
B owners of the Company.
3. FEERDAMERUFERUARA RIS ARG 3 Net gearing ratio is calculated by dividing net borrowings by equity attributable to
B owners of the Company.
4. SRR FEIRE AR R AHEA ARSI 4. Net assets per share — book is calculated by dividing equity attributable to owners of

FRENEHITROBEE -

the Company by the number of issued shares at the end of the year.
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We have a desire to ...... grow as one of the leading
national cement and concrete producers ......

The road to this destination is long and we have to
shoulder heavy responsibilities.

FINAL RESULTS

The consolidated turnover and the consolidated profit attributable
to owners of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2010
amounted to HK$14,141.5 million and HK$2,040.8 million, representing
respective increases of 104.7% and 102.0% when comparing to last
year. The remarkable performance was mainly attributable to () the
increase in sales volume of our products resulting from additional
production capacity through the completion of self constructed
production lines and also from the acquisitions made since 2009; and
(ii) improved profit margin due to increase in selling prices of our products
due to strong demand for our products in Southern China. Basic earnings
per share for the year ended 31 December 2010 was HK$0.313.

DIVIDEND

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK$0.045
per share for the year ended 31 December 2010 (2009: Nil). Subject to
approval by shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming annual
general meeting, the final dividend will be distributed on or about
20 May 2011 to shareholders whose names appear on the Register of
Members of the Company on 6 May 2011. Such final dividend will not
be subject to any withholding tax in Hong Kong.

The Board did not declare any interim dividend and total distribution for
the year ended 31 December 2010 is HK$0.045 per share (2009: Nil).
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The economic stimulus policies announced by the Chinese Government
in early 2009 has continued to encourage strong economic activities
and foster the healthy and sustainable economic development of China
during the year. According to the National Bureau of Statistics, albeit
a slow down in the Chinese national GDP growth in the second half
of the year, the GDP for 2010 still grew at a high rate of 10.3% to
RMB39.8 trillion, which was 1.6 percentage points higher than that of
2009. The FAI of the Chinese Mainland reached RMB27.8 trillion for
the year, representing an increase of 23.8% over 2009. According to
the respective provincial Bureau of Statistics, the GDP of Guangdong,
Guangxi, Fujian, Hainan and Shanxi for 2010 were RMB4,547.3 billion,
RMB950.2 billion, RMB1,380.0 billion, RMB205.2 billion and RMB908.8
billion, representing increases of 12.2%, 14.2%, 13.8%, 15.8% and
13.9% over 2009 respectively, and the FAI in these provinces were
approximately RMB1,611.3 billion, RMB785.0 billion, RMB827.3 billion,
RMB133.1 billion and RMB635.3 billion, representing increases of
20.7%, 37.7%, 30.0%, 32.8% and 29.6% respectively over 20009.

The national level long term development plans, including the Pearl
River Delta Region Development Plan in Guangdong, the North Bay
Economic Zone Development Plan in Guangxi, the West Coast of Taiwan
Straits Economic Zone Development Plan in Fujian, the International
Tourism Island Plan in Hainan and the Plan to Promote the Rise of the
Central Region embracing Shanxi, have entered their first or second year
of construction stage in 2010 and are expected to continue to play a
significant role in the markets that we operate. Despite the government
policies to control the rapid increase in property prices, the construction
of property remained active with a total area of approximately 760
million square meters being completed in 2010, representing an increase
of 4.5% over 2009. More land was released by the governments for
the construction of affordable houses. During 2010, the construction
and upgrade of a total of 5.9 million affordable houses commenced, of
which 4.8 million were completed. In order to control the overly heated
high end property prices and accelerate the urbanisation of the second
and third tier cities, approximately 10.0 million affordable houses will be
constructed in 2011. It is expected that construction of affordable houses
will be maintained at a high level and therefore will generate a steady
demand for cement products during this period.

Year 2011 marks the beginning of the Twelfth Five-Year Plan. The
various levels of governments have laid out their development plan for
the next five years and it is expected that economic activities would be
strong in 2011 to ensure that the economic targets during this five year
period can be achieved smoothly. Through the use of fiscal, monetary
and administrative policies, the Chinese Government will allow rapid
economic expansion while focusing on controlling inflation and avoiding
asset bubbles being developed.
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The demand for cement products was strong in 2010. Despite the power
cut policy of certain provincial governments during the last quarter of
2010, the total cement production in the Chinese Mainland for the year
increased to approximately 1.87 billion tons, representing an increase
of 15.5% over 2009. The total cement productions in Guangdong,
Guangxi, Fujian, Hainan and Shanxi for the year were approximately
115 million tons, 75 million tons, 58 million tons, 13 million tons and
33 million tons, representing increases of approximately 14.5%, 16.7%,
6.1%, 38.9% and 29.6% respectively over 2009. According to the China
Cement Association, there were 203 NSP production lines commenced
operation in 2010 which have increased total annual clinker production
capacity in China by 243 million tons. As at 31 December 2010,
there were about 1,316 NSP clinker production lines with total annual
production capacity of approximately 1.2 billion tons in operation in the
Chinese Mainland.

In September 2009, the National Development and Reform Commission
announced its desire to deal with the over-supply and duplicate
construction of production capacity of certain industries which include the
cement industry. All the then previously approved cement projects that
have not commenced construction were required to obtain re-approval
for the actual commencement of construction. Since then, only limited
projects have obtained re-approval. On 30 November 2010, the Ministry
of Industry and Information Technology issued the document on “Entry
Conditions for Cement Industry” which stipulated the various conditions
on approval of cement projects by the provincial level governments with
effect from 1 January 2011. These conditions include, among others, the
limit on provincial per capita clinker capacity, the simultaneous closure of
vertical kiln capacity resulting in equivalent or less net capacity, sufficiency
of limestone reserves, production technology, energy consumption,
environmental protection standards including emission, product quality,
health and safety, etc.. This document also expressed the government
policy to encourage the consolidation of the cement industry so that the
resources of the country will be used more effectively.

In May 2010, the State Council of China released targets on the
closure of 91.6 million tons of inefficient cement production capacity
in the Chinese Mainland. In August 2010, the Ministry of Industry and
Information Technology announced the closure of 762 companies having
approximately 107 million tons of cement production capacity with
outdated technology by September 2010, of which 5.4 million tons, 4.5
million tons, 3.4 million tons, 1.7 million tons and 8.4 million tons were
located in Guangdong, Guangxi, Fujian, Hainan and Shanxi respectively.
In accordance with a document Guofa (2010) Number 7 issued by the
National Development and Reform Commission, all vertical kilns with
diameter of 3 meter and below shall be closed by the end of 2012.
The Chinese Government has further indicated that all inefficient kilns
will be eliminated by 2015. In order to ensure that these policies will be
enforced, various ministries and departments of the Chinese Government
met in December 2010 and worked out plans to eliminate the kilns with
outdated technology.
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All these policies on the construction of new cement plants and the
closure of inefficient cement kilns will be beneficial to the long term and
healthy development of the cement industry in China and will create
more opportunities for the future expansion of cement manufacturers
with high sense of social responsibility.

As one of the key large-scale cement manufacturing enterprises
supported by the Chinese Government, the Company adopts long-
term practice on recycled economy, energy conservation and emission
reduction, and other initiatives that are beneficial to society and
the environment. CSI of the World Business Council for Sustainable
Development is the indicator in sustainable development of worldwide
cement industry. During the year, the Company was admitted as a
member of the CSI and became the co-chairman of CSI in China. By
joining the CSI, the Company will not only be satisfied with compliance
with the Chinese national environmental standards, but will persist in
implementing emission controls of the international standards, so as to
become a sustainable, respectable, long lasting enterprise, maximising
shareholders’ value and becoming a pioneer in “green cement”.

During the year, we donated 3,100 tons of cement worth of HK$1.0
million and cash amounting to HK$3.7 million for charity purpose in
Southern China.

During the year, we have made a number of acquisitions in Shanxi to
strategically enter Shanxi, as our first move outside the Southern China.
As at the date of this annual report, we have two NSP clinker production
lines and four cement grinding lines with total annual clinker and cement
production capacity of 1.6 million tons and 2.6 million tons respectively
in operation, and three NSP clinker production lines and six cement
grinding lines with total annual clinker and cement production capacity
of 4.3 million tons and 6.0 million tons respectively under construction in
Shanxi. We aim to increase our total annual cement production capacity
in Shanxi by way of acquisition to over 15 million tons in the next two
years, representing a then market share of over 25%.
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As at 31 December 2010, our annual production capacities for cement,
clinker and concrete amounted to 47.8 million tons, 32.7 million tons
and 28.8 million m? respectively. In addition, we have 50% direct equity
interest in three jointly controlled entities which control annual production
capacity for cement, clinker and concrete in Guangzhou City amounting
to 8.1 million tons, 3.7 million tons and 1.1 million m? respectively.
According to our current construction plan, our annual production
capacities for cement, clinker and concrete will be increased to 61.8
million tons, 43.8 million tons and 37.2 million m?3 respectively at the
end of 2011 and further to 77.8 million tons, 58.9 million tons and 44.4
million m? respectively at the end of 2012. These expansion targets will
be met by the new cement plants currently under construction, the new
production lines to be added at our existing cement plants in operation,
approved projects and projects already acquired.

We are aiming at a market share of approximately 25% in the areas we
operate. The achievement of the above expansion targets will enable
us to maintain our leading position as the most influential cement and
concrete producer in Southern China and Shanxi. We will continue to
look for capacity expansion in Southern China, Shanxi and other parts of
China where we consider having strategic value in accordance with our
“Lowest Total Cost” expansion strategy, which will be achieved principally
through mergers and acquisitions. According to the Twelfth Five-Year
Plan, the Chinese economy will continue to grow rapidly and investment
in the area of water conservation and related projects, highway and
railways, and residential buildings will remain strong. We have a desire to
capitalise on these investments and grow as one of the leading national
cement and concrete producers during this period. The road to this
destination is long and we have to shoulder heavy responsibilities. \We
will keep on working hard in the next five years to realise this honourable
mission.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my heartfelt thanks to our
shareholders for their continuing support and to the management and all
the employees for their contribution and dedication to their work.

ZHOU Junqing
Chairman

Hong Kong, 4 March 2011
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The Company achieved remarkable performance in
2010 resulting from the dedication to work of all
employees. I would like to express my gratitude in
this reqard .
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ACQUISITIONS

On 15 April 2010, the Company approved the acquisition of a cement
production plant together with all the assets and liabilities associated with
its operations in Fujian and 100% equity interest of San Teh (Quanzhou)
Building Materials Co. Ltd. (subsequently renamed as China Resources
Cement (Quanzhou) Limited) held by San Teh Ltd. and its subsidiary,
which are independent third parties of the Company, at the total
consideration of RMB830 million (equivalent to approximately HK$943.0
million). Please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 15 April
2010 for details of the acquisitions. The acquisitions were completed in
July 2010.

BB L E R

Liulin cement production plant
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On 1 June 2010, the Company approved the acquisition of 72%
issued share capital of Guardwise Investments Limited held by an
independent third party at the total consideration of US$72.0 and
a shareholders’ agreement was signed which provides shareholders’
loans pro-rata to the respective shareholding in Guardwise Investments
Limited to Guardwise Investments Limited and/or its wholly owned
subsidiary, Shanxi Fulong Cement Limited (subsequently renamed as
Shanxi China Resources Fulong Cement Limited), with a total amount
of not exceeding RMB2,110.0 million. The maximum amount of the
shareholder’s loan to be provided by the Group is RMB1,519.2 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$1,726.4 million). The funds are intended
for the construction of two NSP clinker production lines with annual
production capacity of 1.2 million tons and 1.5 million tons, and four
cement grinding lines with total annual capacity of approximately 4.0
million tons in Liulin County, Shanxi. Please refer to the announcement
of the Company dated 1 June 2010 for details of the acquisition. The
acquisition was completed on 2 June 2010. The NSP clinker production
line with annual production capacity of 1.2 million tons has commenced
operation in August 2010.

On 21 June 2010, the Company approved the acquisition of the entire
equity interest in six subsidiaries of Universal Cement Corporation, an
independent third party of the Company, from three subsidiaries of
Universal Cement Corporation for a total consideration of HK$820.0
million (which was subsequently reduced to HK$810.0 million pursuant
to the findings of the due diligence review). The six companies collectively
engage in the production of clinker, cement and concrete and own a
NSP clinker production line with annual clinker production capacity of
approximately 1.0 million tons, three cement grinding lines with total
annual production capacity of approximately 3.5 million tons and two
concrete batching plants with total annual production capacity of 1.2
million m? in Huizhou City, Guangdong; and two concrete batching
plants with total annual production capacity of 1.1 million m?* in Ningbo,
Zhejiang Province, the PRC. Please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 21 June 2010 for details of the acquisitions. The
acquisitions were completed in September 2010.

On 5 December 2010, the Company approved the acquisitions of 50%
equity interest in several jointly controlled entities that engage in clinker,
cement and concrete operations in Guangzhou City and Hong Kong from
a subsidiary of Yue Xiu Enterprises (Holdings) Limited at the consideration
of HK$618.3 million and the debts totalling HK$622.3 million owed by
the jointly controlled entities to Yue Xiu Enterprises (Holdings) Limited at
par. The jointly controlled entities control two NSP clinker production lines
with total annual production capacity of 3.7 million tons, eight cement
grinding lines with total annual production capacity of 8.1 million tons
and two concrete batching plants with total annual production capacity
of 1.1 million m? in Guangzhou City, Guangdong. Please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 6 December 2010 for details of
the acquisitions. The acquisitions were completed on 31 December 2010.
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On 23 December 2010, the Company approved the acquisition of 52.4%
equity interest in Shanxi Yaohua Cement Limited from independent
third parties at the consideration of RMB90.7 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$106.6 million) and will further inject cash of RMB220
million (equivalent to approximately HK$258.5 million) as additional
registered capital of Shanxi Yaohua Cement Limited, which will increase
our Group's equity interest in Shanxi Yaohua Cement Limited to 89.8%.
Shanxi Yaohua Cement Limited plans to build one 4500 tons per day
(annual production capacity of 1.4 million tons) NSP clinker production
line and two cement grinding lines with total annual production capacity
of 2.0 million tons in Xinzhou City, Shanxi, which are expected to
commence operation by the end of 2012. A deposit of RMB20.0 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$23.5 million) has been made in January
2011.

On 29 December 2010, the Company approved the acquisition of 72%
equity interest of China Resources Cement (Changzhi) Limited from an
independent third party at the total consideration of RMB 201.6 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$236.9 million). China Resources Cement
(Changzhi) Limited has entered into an agreement to acquire from a
wholly owned subsidiary of the joint venture partner of China Resources
Cement (Changzhi) Limited a 1200 tons per day (annual production
capacity of 372,000 tons) NSP clinker production line and two cement
grinding lines with total annual production capacity of 600,000 tons,
which are in operation in Changzhi City, Shanxi, at a consideration of
approximately RMB139.5 million (equivalent to approximately HK$163.9
million). In addition, China Resources Cement (Changzhi) Limited plans
to build one 4500 tons per day (annual production capacity of 1.4 million
tons) NSP clinker production line and two cement grinding lines with total
annual production capacity of 2.0 million tons in Changzhi City, Shanxi,
which will commence operation by the end of 2012. As at 31 December
2010, a payment of RMB90.0 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$105.8 million) has been made.

Subsequent to the year end on 27 January 2011, the Company approved
the acquisition of a cement production plant under construction
in Longyan City, Fujian, together with all the assets and liabilities
associated with the plant owned by an independent third party at a
total consideration of RMB277.2 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$325.8 million). Further amount of RMB520.0 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$611.1 million) is expected to be invested to complete
the construction of one 4500 tons per day (annual production capacity
of 1.4 million tons) NSP clinker production line and two cement grinding
lines with total annual production capacity of 2.0 million tons at this
plant. As at the date of this annual report, a deposit of RMB170.0 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$199.8 million) has been made.
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Other than the addition of production capacity resulting from the above
mentioned acquisitions, the Group’s annual clinker production capacity
increased by 8.5 million tons during the year from the completion of six
self-constructed production lines. They were Shangsi 1st line (5000 tons
per day) and Fengkai 2nd line (5000 tons per day) in April, Fuchuan 1st
line (5000 tons per day) in May, Yangchun 1st line in July (2500 tons
per day), and Fengkai 3rd line (5000 tons per day) and Tianyang 1st line
(5000 tons per day) in December. There were also eleven cement grinding
lines and twenty concrete batching plants being completed or acquired
during the year 2010, increasing our total annual cement production
capacity and annual concrete production capacity by 10.8 million tons
and 11.7 million m? respectively. As at 31 December 2010, our annual
production capacities for clinker, cement and concrete amounted to
32.7 million tons, 47.8 million tons and 28.8 million m? respectively.
Notwithstanding the rapid expansion of our production capacity during
the year 2010, we managed to maintain production activities at high level
and the utilisation rates of our cement, clinker and concrete production
lines were 85.7%, 111.4% and 51.5% respectively for year 2010 as
compared with 83.0%, 114.8% and 49.9% for year 2009.
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The conveyor belts at Fengkai cement production plant
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The water level of the Xijiang River, which had been historically low since
the last quarter of 2009 and had significantly affected the traffic along
the Xijiang River, has resumed to normal level near the end of April 2010.
During this period of low water level, delivery of some of our cement
products for the affected section of water transportation route was
made by truck. Additional freight costs of approximately HK$52.7 million
incurred from January to April 2010 were transferred to customers and
reflected in the selling prices. In the low water level season from the last
quarter of 2010 until the date of this annual report, water level has been
normal and traffic on Xijiang River has not been interrupted.
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THARRRE
REPORT FROM CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

LOGISTICS DEPARTMENT

With a view to facilitate the sale and transportation of our cement
products, to ensure availability of adequate transportation facility along
the Xijiang River and to stabilise the freight cost of logistical movement
on the Xijiang River, we have set up our Logistics Department which
aims at establishing an efficient and strategic logistics and distribution
network along the Xijiang River. On 4 June 2010, we have established
Guangxi Rungui Water Transportation Limited with an independent third
party, holding 49% equity interest. Guangxi Rungui Water Transportation
Limited currently owns 4 vessels with annual tonnage of approximately
240,000 tons and is expected to establish a fleet of 100 vessels with
total annual tonnage of 6.5 million tons by the end of 2014. As at
31 December 2010, we have established 28 silo terminals with total
annual transshipment capacity of approximately 20 million tons along
the Xijiang River and its branches substantially in the Pearl River Delta
area of Guangdong to facilitate the sale of our cement products. We
are also seeking adequate location for setting up a comprehensive plant
embracing the grinding, packing, distribution and storage of our cement
products in Guangdong.

The berths at Fengkai cement production plant
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PROCUREMENT

Throughout 2010, coal prices were maintained at high levels due to
strong demand for coal as the result of rapid economic growth. In order
to control the risk of coal supply, we have streamlined the supplier list and
diversified coal purchases to include 18 new coal suppliers. Performance
of coal has been traced to the individual suppliers to ensure that the
quality of coal purchased is in accordance with agreed standards, which
has led to disqualification of 3 coal suppliers from our supplier list in
2010. Of the coal purchases in 2010, approximately 71% in volume were
originated from Vietnam (86% in 2009).
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HUMAN CAPITAL

In order to prepare for the rapid expansion of our Group and to fulfill
the need for management personnel at all levels, we have continued to
enhance our human capital reserve. In addition to hiring more talents,
we have also engaged professionals and specialists to assist us in training
our middle to senior management to ensure that there is adequate pool
of candidates for the succession plan of each of our existing and future
operating units. In March 2010, we commenced the Qualified General
Managers Program which aimed at helping the middle managerial staff
to be prepared for more senior positions within the Group. A group of 42
people were selected to participate in this program which consisted of 10
training sessions. More qualified training programs will be arranged for
junior to middle management team members in 2011.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

There are more details regarding our Group's performance in the section
on Management Discussion and Analysis in this report.

ZHOU Longshan
Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 4 March 2011
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Turnover

The consolidated turnover for the year ended 31 December 2010
amounted to HK$14,141.5 million, representing an increase of 104.7%

over HK$6,906.9 million for the previous year. An analysis of segmental
turnover by product is as follows:
—2-BF —ZTNF
HE  THYEE EXE HE  THEE X8
T/ THE/
IHK BT TR VA BT FHET
2010 2009
Average Average
Volume selling price Turnover Volume  selling price Turnover
'000 ‘000
tons/m? HK$ HK$'000 tons/m? HK$ HK$'000
29,586 336.0 9,939,832 16,446 272.9 4,488,004
3,146 274.7 864,315 2,757 2113 582,674
10,770 309.9 3,337,390 6,308 2911 1,836,247
14,141,537 6,906,925

The increase in volume sold in 2010 reflected the strong demand for
our products. Our new production capacities from self-constructed
production lines since 2009 and from the acquisitions of production
capacities made in 2009 and 2010 enabled us to improve our
production scale. For the year 2010, approximately 77.9% of the cement
products we sold were of 42.5 or higher grades (78.2% in 2009) and
approximately 30.4% of our cement products were sold in bags (30.6%
in 2009). Internal sales volume of cement for our concrete production
was 2,033,000 tons (1,321,000 tons in 2009), representing 6.4% of the
total volume of cement sold (7.4% in 2009). The intra-group transactions
of HK$703,202,000 were eliminated from turnover on consolidation in
2010 (HK$347,623,000 in 2009).
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The average selling prices of cement, clinker and concrete in 2010 were
HK$336.0 per ton, HK$274.7 per ton and HK$309.9 per m? respectively,
representing increases of 23.1%, 30.0% and 6.5% respectively over
2009. The increases in average selling prices of cement and clinker in
2010 primarily reflected:

(1 Market demand and supply: The demand for cement was strong
during the year due to robust economic activities such that we
were able to pass on cost increases to the market. In addition, the
shortage in supply in the fourth quarter as the result of seasonal
fluctuation which was magnified by the power cut policy in
certain provinces has driven up the selling prices further.

) Increased coal price for the year: As mentioned in the next section
on major production costs, average coal price increased by 26.4%
over that of the previous year. We adjusted our selling prices to
reflect the increase in coal cost.

(3) Change of payment basis for certain customers: During the year,
more customers in Guangdong requested change of payment
terms from an ex-factory basis to a cost-plus-freight basis leading
to total freight charges of HK$238.7 million which has been
included as part of the selling price (HK$47.9 million in 2009).

The increase in average selling price of concrete in 2010 reflected the
increase in cost of production due to the increase in cement prices.

Our cement sales by geographical areas in 2010 were as follows:

—g-%% “FThE
#E  TUEE EXE HE  THEE e
W B TER el BT FET
2010 2009

Average Average
Volume selling price Turnover Volume  selling price Turnover
‘000 tons HK$ HK$'000 '000 tons HK$ HK$'000
11,702 353.0 4,130,232 7,734 2704 2,090,807
13,173 3054 4,022,429 7,937 2674 2,122,615
1,300 353.8 459,947 118 279.6 33,119
3,398 389.1 1,322,157 657 3674 241,463
13 380.8 5,067 - - -
29,586 336.0 9,939,832 16,446 2729 4,488,004
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Major production costs

The average price of coal we purchased in 2010 was around HK$742
per ton, representing an increase of 26.4% from the average price of
HK$587 per ton in 2009, while the quality of coal was lowered with
average thermal value decreased by 2.8% to 4,712 KCal per Kg. Coal
prices went up during the extremely cold winter in early 2010 which
stimulated the demand of coal for electricity generation and also created
chaos in coal supply due to the frozen Bohai port. Coal price has gone
up gradually since April 2010 due to reduced supply as a result of several
serious coal mine accidents and has remained at a high level. During
the year, our unit coal consumption in the clinker production process
increased to 165.3 Kg per ton of clinker, representing an increase of
2.8% from the average of 160.8 Kg per ton of clinker for 2009. Our
standard coal consumption increased from 108.5 Kg per ton of clinker
in 2009 to 108.9 Kg per ton of clinker for the year. This is due to the
production plants obtained from the acquisitions that are yet to be
upgraded and the new production lines that commenced operations
during the year. Excluding these production lines, the standard coal
consumption for the production lines operating at the beginning of the
year decreased to 108.1 Kg per ton of clinker for the year. Due to the
increase in coal price, our average coal cost of production for the year
increased by 30.0% to HK$122.7 per ton of clinker produced. Coal cost
represented approximately 43.4% of the cost of sales of cement for the
year (42.0% in 2009) and approximately 35.1% of the Group’s total cost
of sales for the year (33.5% in 2009).

Our electricity cost increased by 9.8% to HK$41.5 per ton of cement for
the year (HK$37.8 in 2009) due to general increase in electricity tariffs
since November 2009 and more production activities being carried out
in Guangdong and Hainan where tariffs are higher than that in Guangxi.
We managed to improve our electricity consumption to 88.7 KWh per
ton of cement produced for the year (91.6 KWh in 2009), representing a
cost saving of approximately HK$54.7 million. Our residual heat recovery
generators performed satisfactorily and generated 764.0 million KWh
of electricity in the year, representing an increase of 60.1% over 477.2
million KWh of electricity generated in 2009. The electricity generated
in the year accounted for approximately 25% of our required electricity
consumption and we achieved a cost saving of approximately HK$416.6
million for the year. Electricity cost represented approximately 14.9% of
the Group's total cost of sales for the year (16.0% in 2009).
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Gross profit and gross margin

The consolidated gross profit for 2010 was HK$4,463.3 million,
representing an increase of 118.6% over HK$2,042.1 million for
2009 and the consolidated gross margin was 31.6%, representing an
increase of 2.0 percentage points over 29.6% for 2009. The increase in
consolidated gross profit for year 2010 was mainly attributable to the
increase in sales volume and selling prices of our cement products. The
gross margins of cement, clinker and concrete for 2010 were 35.6%,
17.2% and 23.3%, as compared with 31.4%, 17.5% and 29.0%
respectively for 20009.

Other income

Other income for 2010 was HK$219.6 million, representing an increase
of 185.9% over HK$76.8 million for 2009, mainly attributable to
an exchange gain of HK$48.2 million derived from net bank loans
denominated in HK$ as a result of the appreciation of RMB against HK$,
increased interest income of HK$46.1 million earned on higher level of
bank deposits and increase in government incentive received of HK$37.4
million calculated based on value added taxes paid.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses for 2010 were HK$989.7 million,
which were 108.6% over HK$474.4 million for 2009. As a percentage
to consolidated turnover, selling and distribution expenses increased
to 7.0% in 2010 from 6.9% in 2009. The current year's selling and
distribution expenses included freight charges of HK$238.7 million
resulting from the change of payment basis from an ex-factory basis to
a cost-plus-freight basis for approximately 6.7 million tons of cement
products sold in Guangdong (HK$47.9 million in 2009). Had the effect
of the change of payment basis been excluded, selling and distribution
expenses as a percentage to consolidated turnover would have been
decreased to 5.4% for 2010 compared with 6.2% for 2009.

General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses for 2010 were HK$1,211.7 million,
representing an increase of 158.1% over HK$469.5 million for 2009.
As a percentage to consolidated turnover, general and administrative
expenses increased to 8.6% for 2010 from 6.8% for 2009. This was
attributable to the increase in staff costs as the result of increased number
of employees in line with our expanded operations and additional
provision for performance related bonus of HK$204.6 million, impairment
loss on fixed assets of HK$59.7 million and the write off of doubtful
debts of HK$64.2 million.
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Taxation

The effective tax rate of the Group for 2010 was 4.4%, representing an
increase of 1.9 percentage points from 2.5% of 2009. This was because
a higher portion of the profit was generated from subsidiaries which are
subject to the Chinese Mainland Enterprise Income Tax rate of 25%.

Net margin
As the combination of the impact from the above changes, net margin of

the Group for 2010 was 15.1%, which was 0.2 percentage points higher
than that of 14.9% for 20009.

As at 31 December 2010, the Group’s cash and bank balances and
pledged bank deposits included the following amounts:
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31 December 31 December
2010 2009
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2,396,547 4,835,930
1,451,496 1,143,546

2,849 2,276

As at 31 December 2010, the Group’s banking facilities amounted to
US$130.0 million, HK$5,655.0 million and RMB10,656.5 million, of
which RMB5,246.0 million was unutilised and remained available for
draw down. Under the terms of certain agreements for total banking
facility of HK$5,715.8 million equivalent which will expire from May
2011 to December 2014, CR Holdings, the Company’s holding company,
is required to hold not less than 51% of the voting share capital in the
Company. Under the terms of certain agreements for total banking
facility of HK$5,545.8 million equivalent, the net gearing ratio of the
Company (as may be adjusted to exclude certain non-tangible assets)
shall not exceed 180%. The net gearing ratio of the Company as at
31 December 2010, calculated by dividing net borrowings by equity
attributable to owners of the Company, was 61.6% (26.3% as at
31 December 2009).
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As at 31 December 2010, the total bank loans of the Group amounted
to HK$13,024.1 million (HK$9,377.6 million as at 31 December 2009)
equivalent and they comprised loans in the following currencies:
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31 December 31 December
2010 2009
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130,000 18,060
5,655,000 2,192,000
5,410,500 6,203,500

Among these bank loans denominated in RMB, total amount of
HK$440.6 million equivalent was secured by fixed assets of the
Group (HK$936.8 million as at 31 December 2009 was secured by
bank deposits and fixed assets) and HK$12,583.5 million equivalent
(HK$8,440.8 million as at 31 December 2009) was unsecured.

Bank loans which carried interests at fixed and variable rates amounted to
HK$822.6 million and HK$12,201.5 million respectively as compared to
HK$681.4 million and HK$8,696.2 million as at 31 December 2009.

The Group’s business transactions were mainly carried out in Hong
Kong dollars and Renminbi. The Group’s exposure to currency risk
was attributable to the bank balances and bank loans which were
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the
entity to which these bank balances and bank loans were related.
The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy
in respect of foreign currency exposure. However, the management
monitors the related foreign currency exposure closely and will consider
hedging significant currency exposure should the need arise. As at
31 December 2010, the Group was engaged in a hedging contract in the
amount of US$100,000,000 for the purpose of the settlement of a US$
bank loan.

As at 31 December 2010, certain assets of the subsidiaries of the
Company with an aggregate carrying value of HK$345.5 million
(HK$844.6 million as at 31 December 2009) were pledged with banks for
banking facilities used by these subsidiaries.
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contingent liabilities.

Expansion Plan

Construction of production lines in
Fengkai County, Guangdong with
a total capacity of 4.0 million tons of
cement and 6.2 million tons of clinker
Construction of production lines in
Fuchuan County, Guangxi with a total
capacity of 1.9 million tons of cement
and 1.6 million tons of clinker
Construction of production lines in
Shangsi County, Guangxi with a total
capacity of 1.9 million tons of cement
and 1.6 million tons of clinker
Construction of production lines in
Tianyang County, Guangxi with a total
capacity of 1.9 million tons of cement
and 1.6 million tons of clinker
Construction of production lines in
Wuxuan County, Guangxi with a total
capacity of 1.9 million tons of cement
and 1.6 million tons of clinker
Construction of production lines in
Shantou City, Guangdong with a total
capacity of 1.8 million tons of cement
Repayment of bank loans
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Residual
balance to be
used as at
31/12/2009

HK$ million

2,039.5

227.9

153.5

685.3

7213

27.1
420.0

4,274.6

FEER
fEARE
BEET

Used during
the year
HK$ million

2,039.5

2279

153.5

551.5

505.4

271
420.0

3,924.9

Unused balance was kept as cash at bank.

As at 31 December 2010, the Group did not have any significant

As stated in the Prospectus, the Group had plans to use the proceeds
obtained from the IPO and the residual amount to be used as at
31 December 2010 were as follows:
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Residual
balance to be
used as at
31/12/2010

HK$ million

133.8

215.9

349.7
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During the year, the Company approved the following construction:

M

one clinker production line with annual capacity of 1.6 million
tons and two cement grinding lines with total annual capacity
of 1.9 million tons in Longyan City, Fujian, with the cost of
construction amounting to approximately HK$1,300.9 million;

two clinker production lines with annual capacity of 2.7 million
tons and four cement grinding lines with total annual capacity
of 4.0 million tons in Liulin County, Shanxi, with the cost of
construction amounting to approximately HK$2,480.4 million
(Please refer to the acquisition on 1 June 2010 mentioned in the
Report from Chief Executive Officer);

one additional clinker production line with annual capacity of 1.6
million tons and two additional cement grinding lines with total
annual capacity of 2.0 million tons in Shangsi County, Guangxi,
with the cost of construction amounting to approximately
HK$601.5 million;

one clinker production line with annual capacity of 1.4 million
tons and two cement grinding lines with total annual capacity
of 2.0 million tons in Xinzhou City, Shanxi, with the cost of
construction amounting to approximately HK$940.1 million
(Please refer to the acquisition on 23 December 2010 mentioned
in the Report from Chief Executive Officer);

one clinker production line with annual capacity of 1.4 million
tons and two cement grinding lines with total annual capacity
of 2.0 million tons in Changzhi City, Shanxi, with the cost of
construction amounting to approximately HK$940.1 million
(Please refer to the acquisition on 29 December 2010 mentioned
in the Report from Chief Executive Officer); and

fourteen concrete batching plants with total annual capacity
of 8.4 million m3, with the cost of construction amounting to
approximately HK$493.6 million.
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As at 31 December 2010, the Group has outstanding capital expenditure
in the amount of HK$8,052.9 million of which approximately
HK$6,741.5 million is expected to be expended in 2011. Details of these
projects are as below:
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BEENER +ZA=1-H REEE +ZA=t+-H
e BHRE BARE  HBERXM
AEAT AEAT AEAT BEAT
Outstanding
Total capital Expended Expended capital
expenditure as at during expenditure
ER Projects for the project 31/12/2009 theyear  at31/12/2010
HKS million HKS$ million HK$ million HKS$ millon
BEARERHTFASN Construction of production lines in
FER OKRRARE Fengkai County, Guangdong with
HBER S B /4,000,0008  a total capacity of 4.0 million tons of
26,200,000 ) cement and 6.2 million tons of dlinker 6,084.2 2,954.3 2,062.4 1,067.5
E@ETEE@E%@%JH%E@ Construction of production lines in
B (KR RARLE) Fuchuan County, Guangxi with
EERE7 31 51,900,00088  atotal capacity of 1.9 million tons of
&1,600,000 i) cement and 1.6 million tons of clinker 1,114.3 641.8 308.5 164.0
BN EA LB &N Construction of production lines in
FER OKRRARH Shangsi County, Guangxi with
HBEED 751,900,000  atotal capacity of 1.9 million tons of
K1,600,0000 ) cement and 1.6 million tons of clinker 1,430.0 890.6 346.4 193.0
A A P 5 0 Construction of production lines in
HER KR RAEH Tianyang County, Guangxi with
WEREDFIA1,900,0008  atotal capacity of 1.9 million tons of
%1,600,00018 ) cement and 1.6 million tons of clinker 1,031.2 157.3 551.5 3224
BREUNERREEMN Construction of production lines in
FER OKRRARH Wuxuan County, Guangxi with
BER D FIA1,900,0008  atotal capadity of 1.9 million tons of
K1,600,0000 ) cement and 1.6 million tons of dlinker 988.3 98.2 505.4 384.7
B f A B FOLEET R Construction of production lines in
FER OKRMBES Shantou City, Guangdong with a total
/£1,800,0008 ) capacity of 1.8 million tons of cement 2434 191.0 311 213
WA R EFRE) | B Construction of production lines in
E?%? (7K R AR Luchuan County, Guangxi with
EERE7 71 51,900,00088  atotal capacity of 1.9 million tons of
&1,600,000 ) cement and 1.6 million tons of clinker 995.7 753 407.9 512.5
FEf MBRRAKE B/ Construction of production lines in
FER ORRARH Yongding County, Fujian, with a total
HBEREH7151,900,0008  capadity of 1.9 million tons of cement
K1,600,0000 ) and 1.6 million tons of clinker 1,176.1 83.6 4049 687.6
BEMRERGEEN Construction of production lines in
HER KR RAKH Yangchun County, Guangdong with
HBERH B 51,000,0008  a total capadity of 1.0 million tons of
%800,00018 ) cement and 0.8 million tons of clinker 330.8 2.7 2418 86.3
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Projects

(continued)

Construction of production lines in
Longyan City, Fujian, with a total
capacity of 1.9 million tons of
cement and 1.6 million tons of clinker

Construction of production lines in Liulin
County, Shanxi, with a total capacity of
4.0 million tons of cement and
2.7 million tons of clinker

Construction of the second set of
production lines in Shangsi County,
Guangxi with a total capacity of
2.0 million tons of cement and
1.6 million tons of clinker

Construction of production lines in
Xinzhou City, Shanxi, with a total
capacity of 2.0 million tons of cement
and 1.4 million tons of clinker

Construction of production lines in
Changzhi City, Shanxi, with a total
capacity of 2.0 million tons of cement
and 1.4 million tons of clinker

Acquisition of production lines in
Changzhi City, Shanxi, with a total
capacity of 600,000 tons of cement
and 372,000 tons of clinker

Construction of 14 concrete batching
plants with a total capacity of
8.4 million m? of concrete

Technological upgrade projects and
other purchases of fixed assets
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Total capital
expenditure
for the project
HK$ million

1,300.9

2,480.4

601.5

940.1

940.1

163.9

493.6

398.0

20,712.5

R-BRNF
tZA=+-H
Eff#E
BEBT

Expended
as at
31/12/2009
HKS million

5,094.8

R-2-%%

REEE +ZA=t-H
BAME  HHEAXH
BEAT REAT
Outstanding

Expended capital
during expenditure
theyear  at31/12/2010
HKS million HK$ million
4971 803.8
1,982.8 497.6
119.3 4822

- 940.1

- 940.1

105.7 58.2

- 493.6

- 398.0
7,564.8 8,052.9

Apart from the foregoing, the Group had no other significant planned
capital expenditure or commitment as at 31 December 2010. The above
planned and intended capital expenditures and commitments will be
financed by IPO proceeds of HK$349.7 million as stated in the section on
“Use of Proceeds” above and the remaining balance will be financed by
bank loans and internally generated funds.
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As at 31 December 2010, our Group employed a total of 17,183 full time
employees of whom 115 were based in Hong Kong and the remaining
17,068 were based in the Chinese Mainland. A breakdown of our
employees by functions is stated as follows:

Management 241
Finance and administration 2,476
Production and technical 12,508
Quality control 1,545
Sales and marketing 413
Total 17,183

Among our 241 senior and middle managerial staff, 60% possess
university degrees, 31% have received post-secondary education and
their average age is about 41. We offer our employees remuneration
packages mainly on the basis of individual performance and experience
and also having regard to industrial practice, which include basic wages,
production unit allowance, performance related bonuses and other staff
benefits. The Company has established a share award scheme whereby
eligible employees of the Group may be granted cash benefits calculated
and paid according to shares of the Company acquired by the trustee
under the share award scheme. On 17 November 2010, the Company
changed the terms of the share award scheme to the extent that benefits
awarded will be paid in cash rather than shares of the Company. Details
of the Scheme are stated in the section on Long Term Award Scheme in
the Report of Directors.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Madam ZHOU lJunging, aged 57, has been an
executive Director since June 2003 and has been
the Chairman of our Company since August 2008.
She was the Chief Executive Officer of our Company
from September 2006 to August 2008. She obtained
a bachelor’s degree in wireless technology from the
Tsinghua University, China in 1979. She joined China
Resources Group in 1986 and has 24 years of experience
in international trade and corporate management. She is
the Vice Chairman of the China Cement Association.

Mr. ZHOU Longshan, aged 50, has been an executive
Director since March 2003 and has been the Chief
Executive Officer of our Company since August 2008.
Mr. ZHOU was the Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer
and an executive director of China Resources Gas Group
Limited (a listed company on the Stock Exchange) from
March 2008 to November 2008. Mr. ZHOU obtained a
bachelor's degree in economics from the Jilin Finance
and Trade Institute, China in 1983. He joined China
Resources Group in 1984 and has 26 years of experience
in international trade and corporate management. He is
the Vice Chairman of the 5th Session of the Guangdong
Province Cement Industry Association, the Vice President
of the 2nd Session of the Guangdong Building Materials
Industry Association and the Vice President of the 7th
Session of the China Concrete and Cement Products
Association.

Mr. LAU Chung Kwok Robert, aged 54, joined our
Company in May 2003 as the Chief Financial Officer
and has been an executive Director since April 2008.
Mr. LAU obtained a bachelor’s degree in social sciences
from the University of Hong Kong in 1979 and has 29
years of experience in reorganisation, assurance and
advisory services with international accounting firms
and in serving as financial controllers and chief financial
officers of listed companies. He is a fellow member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
and a member of the Canadian Institute of Chartered
Accountants.

EHKRIERAEMR AT China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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Mr. DU Wenmin, aged 47, was appointed a non-executive Director in
August 2008. He joined China Resources Group in 1985 and is currently
the Chief Human Resources Officer of CR Holdings. He has been a non-
executive director of five listed companies on the Stock Exchange, namely,
China Resources Enterprise, Limited, China Resources Land Limited,
China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited, China Resources
Gas Group Limited and China Resources Microelectronics Limited since
September 2007, August 2007, July 2010, March 2008 and March 2008,
respectively. Mr. DU obtained a master’s degree in business administration
from the University of San Francisco, USA in 1993.

Mr. WEI Bin, aged 41, was appointed a non-executive Director in August
2008. He joined the China Resources Group in 2001 and is the General
Manager of the Finance Department of CR Holdings. He has been a non-
executive director of five listed companies on the Stock Exchange, namely,
China Resources Enterprise, Limited, China Resources Land Limited,
China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited, China Resources
Gas Group Limited, and China Resources Microelectronics Limited since
November 2010, October 2010, July 2010, November 2008 and August
2010 respectively. He holds a bachelor’s degree in auditing and a master’s
degree in finance. He is a Senior Accountant and a Senior Auditor in
the PRC. He is also a non-practicing member of The Chinese Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.
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Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen, aged 59, has been an independent non-
executive Director since August 2008. Mr. IP graduated from the
University of Hong Kong with a degree in social sciences in 1973.
Mr. IP joined the Hong Kong Government in November 1973 and was
promoted to the rank of Director of Bureau in April 1997. He worked in
the Hong Kong Government as a Principal Official from July 1997 to June
2007. Senior positions held by Mr. IP in the past include Commissioner of
Insurance, Commissioner for Labour, Secretary for Economic Services and
Secretary for Financial Services. Mr. IP took up the position of Secretary
for Economic Development and Labour in July 2002. His portfolio in
respect of economic development covered air and sea transport, logistics
development, tourism, energy, postal services, meteorological services,
competition and consumer protection. He was also responsible for
labor policies including matters relating to employment services, labour
relations and employees rights. In his capacity as Secretary for Economic
Development and Labour, Mr. IP was a member of the Hong Kong
Airport Authority Board, the Mandatory Provident Fund Authority Board,
the Hong Kong International Theme Parks Company Board as well as
the Chairman of the Logistics Development Council, Port Development
Board, Maritime Industry Council and Aviation Development Advisory
Committee. Mr. IP retired from the Hong Kong Government in July
2007. Mr. IP received the Gold Bauhinia Star award from the Hong Kong
Government in 2001, and is an unofficial Justice of the Peace. Mr. IP
has been appointed a director of six publicly listed companies, namely
Yangtze China Investment Limited, a company listed in the UK, since
February 2008, Viva China Holdings Limited since June 2010, a company
listed on the GEM board of the Stock Exchange; Synergis Holdings
Limited since September 2008, Lai Sun Development Company Limited
since December 2009, Time Infrastructure Holdings Limited since October
2010 and PICC Property and Casualty Company Limited since January
2011, all are companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abraham, aged 65, has been an independent
non-executive Director since January 2011. Mr. SHEK was appointed
as a Justice of the Peace in 1995 and awarded Silver Bauhinia Star in
2007. Mr. SHEK is a member of the Legislative Council for Hong Kong
representing the real estate and construction functional constituency
since 2000.

Mr. SHEK acts as an independent non-executive director of several
companies which are listed on the Stock Exchange, including Midas
International Holdings Limited, Paliburg Holdings Limited, Lifestyle
International Holdings Limited, Chuang’s Consortium International
Limited, NWS Holdings Limited, Titan Petrochemicals Group Limited, ITC
Corporation Limited, Country Garden Holdings Company Limited, MTR
Corporation Limited, Hsin Chong Construction Group Ltd., Chuang’s
China Investments Limited, Hop Hing Group Holdings Limited, SIM
Holdings Limited, Kosmopolito Hotels International Limited and ITC
Properties Group Limited, Eagle Asset Management (CP) Limited, the
manager of Champion Real Estate Investment Trust and Regal Portfolio
Management Limited, the manager of Regal Real Estate Investment Trust.

Mr. SHEK is also a committee member of the 5th Shenzhen Committee
of Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference of the PRC, a
director of the Hong Kong Mortgage Corporation Limited, a member of
the Committee on Strategic Development of the Central Policy Unit of
the Government of Hong Kong, the Vice-Chairman of the Independent
Police Complaints Council in Hong Kong, a Court member of the Hong
Kong University of Science and Technology and the University of Hong
Kong. Mr. SHEK graduated from the University of Sydney, Australia with a
Bachelor of Arts Degree and a Diploma in Education.

Mr. XU Yongmo, aged 54, has been an independent non-executive
Director since July 2010. Mr. XU has been appointed an independent
director of three publicly listed companies, namely, Sinoma Science &
Technology Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange,
since December 2004; BBMG Corporation, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange, since August 2008, and Huaxin Cement Co., Ltd., a company
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, since April 2009. Mr. XU is
currently the Vice President of China Building Materials Federation, the
President of China Concrete and Cement Products Association, the
President of China Construction Units Association, and the Vice President
of China Cement Association. Mr. XU graduated from London South
Bank University in 1997 with a doctoral degree in philosophy majoring in
civil engineering materials.
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Madam ZENG Xuemin, aged 66, has been an independent non-
executive Director since August 2008. Madam ZENG is a senior
engineer at professor level accredited by the State Economic and Trade
Commission and a registered consulting engineer (investment) accredited
by the National Development and Reform Commission. She studied at
the Beijing Architecture and Industrial Institute from 1963 to 1968 and
started her career and served at Benxi Gongyuan Cement Factory as
a technician and director of the laboratory between 1969 and 1983.
From 1984 to March 2001, she worked at the Production Division and
the Planning Division of the State Building Materials Bureau and served
as the deputy director and the director of the various departments
and divisions. She has been serving as the Vice President of the China
Cement Association from April 2001 to date. Madam ZENG s specialised
in managing matters in respect of the development and planning for,
and the scientific advancement, policies and laws and regulations,
construction investment in connection with as well as setting up the
relevant standards and quotas applicable to, the building materials
industry. She took the lead in formulating the relevant building materials
industry development plans for the Seventh Five-Year Plan, Eighth
Five-Year Plan, Ninth Five-Year Plan and Tenth Five-Year Plan and in
setting up a wide spectrum of construction standards and quotas for
the building materials industry, including the Standards of Design for a
Cement Factory. For engineering and construction management, she
was awarded with a number of the Grade 1 and Grade 2 prizes at the
provincial level.

Mr. LAM Chi Yuen, aged 42, has been an independent non-executive
Director since August 2008. He is the sole proprietor of Nelson and
Company, Certified Public Accountants which has been in operation since
February 2005. He has extensive experience in professional accountancy
in Hong Kong, in particular in advising and speaking on issues relating
to International and Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards in Hong
Kong and other Asian cities. He obtained a bachelor’s degree in business
administration from the Hong Kong Baptist University in 1992, a master
degree of business administration from the Hong Kong University of
Science and Technology in 1998 and a master of science in finance from
the Chinese University of Hong Kong in 2001.

Mr. LAM is a practicing fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and a member of several professional
bodies in Australia, the USA and the United Kingdom, including CPA
Australia, the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
Institute of Chartered Accountants of England and Wales. He is also a
CFA charter holder and a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Directors. In December 2006 Mr. LAM became a Council Member of the
Society of Chinese Accountants and Auditors and since December 2010,
he has served as its Vice President. He has also been appointed as Visiting
Associate Professor in the Beijing Normal University-Hong Kong Baptist
University United International College since October 2008.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Madam SUN Mingquan, aged 55, has been appointed
the Guangdong regional general manager since
September 2008. She joined China Resources Group in
1984 and was an executive director of our Company
from June 2003 to August 2008. Madam SUN obtained
a bachelor’s degree in economics from the University of
International Business and Economics, China in 1983.
She has over 20 years of experience in international trade
and corporate management.

Mr. PAN Yonghong, aged 40, has been appointed the
Guangxi regional general manager since September
2008. Mr. PAN joined our Group in August 2003 and
was formerly an executive director of CRC Investments
from February 2007 to February 2008. Mr. PAN obtained
a master's degree in finance from the Jinan University,
China in 1998. He has 16 years’ experience in financial
management.

Mr. ZENG Fanrong, aged 47, joined our Group as
the general manager of Pingnan Cement in January
2005. He has been appointed the Hainan regional
general manager since February 2010 and the Merger
and Acquisition Controller since January 2011. He
was appointed the chief operations controller of our
Company from February 2008 to February 2010. He
obtained a degree in electrical automation engineering
from the Sichuan Institute of Building Materials, China in
1984. He has over 20 years of experience in the cement
industry.

Mr. ZHENG Qinghong, aged 45, joined our Group
in April 2000. He had occupied various managerial
positions and has been appointed the Fujian deputy
regional general manager since December 2009. He
obtained a master’s degree in building materials in 1993
from the Wuhan University of Technology, China. He has
over 10 years of experience in the cement industry.
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Mr. YU Zhongliang, aged 45, joined our Company as
a manager of the investment department in July 2003
and has been appointed the strategic development
controller since February 2008 to be responsible for
the strategic development of our Group. He obtained
a master’s degree in business administration from the
York University, Canada in 2003. He has over 20 years of
experience in finance accounting and business analysis.

Mr. JI Youhong, aged 45, joined our Group in October
2003 and has been responsible for the management of
our Group's concrete operations. He has been appointed
the sales and marketing controller since November 2008.
He graduated from the Nanjing Industrial College (now
Southeast University), China in 1988 with a master's
degree in inorganic and non-metallic materials. He has
over 20 years of experience in construction material
engineering.

Mr. ZHANG Yingzhong, aged 44, joined our Group as
the general manager of Pingnan Cement in September
2007 and has been appointed the chief operations
controller of our Company from February 2010 to be
responsible for the overall business operations and
project development administration of our Company.
He completed a certificate course in ceramic technology
from the Wuhan University of Technology, China in
1993. He has over 20 years of experience in the cement
industry.

EHKRIERAEMR AT China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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Mr. WANG Junxiang, aged 42, joined our Company in
July 2003 and has been appointed the financial controller
of our Company since February 2008 to be responsible
for our Group's financial affairs. He has also been
appointed the procurement controller of our Company
since February 2009 to be responsible for our Group's
purchases of raw materials and coal. Mr. WANG joined
China Resources Group in 1989. He obtained a master’s
degree in business administration from the University of
South Australia in 2004 and has 15 years of experience
in financial management.

Mr. DING Yuankui, aged 36, joined our Company in
April 2008 and has been appointed the human resources
controller since November 2008 to be responsible for our
Group's human resources affairs. He obtained a degree
in business administration from the Zhongnan University
of Economics, China in 1996 and a master’s degree in
business administration from the Tsinghua University,
China in 2003 and a professional training certificate
from the American International Training Association in
2004. He has 13 years of experience in corporate human
resources management and marketing management.

Mr. TANG Jun, aged 55, joined our Company as
the general manager of the human resources and
administration department in November 2007 and has
been appointed the controller of the CEQ's office since
February 2008 to assist the Chief Executive Officer of our
Company in discharging his responsibilities. He obtained
a bachelor’s degree in Chinese language and literature
from the Sichuan University, China in 1982. Mr. TANG
was formerly employed at the Ministry of Commerce,
China, where he served as a director.
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Madam WANG Liling, aged 48, joined the Internal
Audit Department of our Company in November
2008 and has been appointed the Internal Auditor of
the Company since January 2010. She joined China
Resources Group in 1986 and worked in the Internal
Audit and Supervision Department of CR Holdings
from May 2001 to November 2008. Madam WANG
obtained a bachelor’'s degree in financial accounting
from the Shanxi University of Finance and Economics in
China in 1983. She is a Senior Accountant and a non-
practicing member of The Chinese Institute of Certified
Public Accountants in the PRC. She has over 25 years of
experience in financial accounting and internal auditing.

Mr. NG Chong, aged 41, joined our Company as an
assistant to the Chief Executive Officer since August
2008. He graduated from the Beijing University of
Technology, China in 1990 with a bachelor’s degree
in marketing. Mr. NG has 19 years of experience in
international trade and corporate management.

Mr. QIU Suhao, aged 50, joined our Company when
we acquired the controlling interests in SDIC Hainan
Cement Co. Ltd. (subsequently renamed as China
Resources Cement (Changjiang) Limited) in September
2009. He was the Chairman of SDIC Hainan Cement Co.
Ltd. (subsequently renamed as China Resources Cement
(Changjiang) Limited) from August 2004 to December
2009 and has been appointed an assistant to the Chief
Executive Officer since December 2009. He graduated
from the Wuhan University of Technology, China in
1983 with a bachelor’s degree in electrical automation.
Mr. QIU has over 25 years of experience in building
materials and project management.

EHKRIERAEMR AT China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors are pleased to present their annual report together with
the audited financial statements of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2010.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in the production and sale of cement, concrete
and related products and services. Details of the principal activities of
the subsidiaries are set out in Note 45 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income on page 90.

DIVIDEND

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK$0.045
per share for the year ended 31 December 2010 (2009: Nil). Subject to
approval by shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming annual
general meeting, the final dividend will be distributed on or about
20 May 2011 to shareholders whose names appear on the Register of
Members of the Company on 6 May 2011. Such final dividend will not
be subject to any withholding tax in Hong Kong.

The Board did not declare any interim dividend and total distribution for
the year ended 31 December 2010 is HK$0.045 per share (2009: Nil).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The Register of Members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday,
3 May 2011 to Friday, 6 May 2011, both days inclusive, during which
period no transfer of shares of the Company will be effected. In order
to qualify for the final dividend and attendance at the annual general
meeting, all transfers accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged with the Company’s Share Registrar, Tricor Investor Services
Limited at 26th Floor, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai,
Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 29 April 2011.

FIXED ASSETS AND INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Details of the movements in fixed assets and investment property of the
Group during the year are set out in Notes 15 and 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in Note 45 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the authorised and issued share capital of
the Company for the year are set out in Note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements.

CHARITABLE DONATION

During the year, the Group made donations in cash and in form
of cement finished goods in the total amount of approximately
HK$4,733,000.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Articles
of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

TAXATION RELIEF

According to the laws of the Cayman Islands, there is currently no
taxes levied on individuals or corporations by reason of holding of the
Company'’s shares based upon profits, income, gains or appreciations and
there is no taxation in the nature of inheritance tax or estate duty.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are
set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 93.

As at 31 December 2010, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to shareholders amounted to approximately HK$8,886.4
million.

50 #EMAKEEZERABRAT China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date of this
report are:

Executive Directors
ZHOU Junging

ZHOU Longshan

LAU Chung Kwok Robert
Non-executive Directors
LI Fuzuo

DU Wenmin
WEI Bin

(Resigned on 31 July 2010)

Independent Non-executive Directors

IP Shu Kwan Stephen
SHEK Lai Him Abraham
XU Yongmo

ZENG Xuemin

LAM Chi Yuen

(Appointed on 1 January 2011)
(Appointed on 1 July 2010)

In accordance with Article 16.2 of the Company’s Articles of Association,
Mr. XU Yongmo and Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abraham shall retire from office
at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election.

In accordance with Article 16.18 of the Company's Articles of
Association, Madam. ZHOU Junging, Mr. DU Wenmin, Mr. WEI Bin and
Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen shall retire from office at the forthcoming
annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election.
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules and still considers all the independent non-executive
Directors to be independent to the Company.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company or any of
its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the employing company
within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATIONS

All Directors are entitled to fees approved by the Board by reference to
the prevailing market conditions. The executive Directors are entitled to
salaries, allowances and discretionary bonuses determined by the Board
having regard to the Group's performance and the prevailing market
condition and approved by the Remuneration Committee. Details of
Directors’ remuneration are stated in Note 9 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

There were no contracts of significance to which the Company, its
holding companies, any of its fellow subsidiaries or subsidiaries was a
party and in which a Director had a material interest, either directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

52 #EHKEEZEREBMRAT China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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Name of Directors

JE &I
ZHOU Junging

FEREL
ZHOU Longshan

52’-'
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as follows:

(a)

-5

Capacity

EmfEAA

Beneficial owner

B (B =
Interest of spouse

ZF+-A=+—H

H6,519,255,46208 0 F /TR TE -

The Company

PR 8 E

Number of
Shares held

2,098,000

1,000,000

note:

As at 31 December 2010, the Directors, chief executive of the Company
or their associates held certain interests in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company and its associated corporations as recorded in the
register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO

RIR 5 R AEE
IR 13 Y57 B A B
HAQRE #IT
BRAHILE B (771)

(%)

Aggregate

long position

in Shares and
underlying Shares
to issued share
capital of the
Company (note 1)
(%)

0.03

0.02

1. Based on 6,519,255,462 shares of the Company in issue as at

31 December 2010.
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Name of Director Capacity
xR EmlEBA
DU Wenmin Beneficial owner
1. BIFEREIEARARR T —TF+=

B =+—H%2,398276,12008 £ 31 TR &t

o

China Resources Enterprise, Limited, an associated
corporation of the Company

note:

RIR 5 R AEE
R IF B AR
HEBAEAR

NRSBITREN
Ll (5£1)

(%)

Aggregate

long position

in shares and
underlying
shares to issued
share capital of
China Resources
Enterprise,
Limited (note 7)
(%)

PR 8 E

Number of
shares held

100,000 0.01

Based on 2,398,276,120 shares of China Resources Enterprise, Limited in
issue as at 31 December 2010.
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Name of Directors

23]
ZHOU Junging

[EEE WL
ZHOU Longshan

2R E
LAU Chung Kwok
Robert

MR
DU Wenmin

L

Capacity

E=EBA
Beneficial owner
[RREEr

Interest of spouse

EREBA
Beneficial owner
Al iBEs

Interest of spouse

EnBAA

Beneficial owner

EnBAA

Beneficial owner

() China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited, an
associated corporation of the Company

RIRD R HEE
IR HY 3T B B
REBSHER
ERARCHIT

R 25 9 L 4
(it1)

(%)
Aggregate
long position
in shares and

RGO EE HERH

underlying
shares to issued
share capital of
China Resources
Power Holdings
Company
Limited (note 1)
(%)

Number of
shares held

Underlying

shares Total

70,864 - 70,864 0.01

20,000 - 20,000 0.01

- 48,864 48,864 0.01

- 12,216 12,216 0.01

31,032 - 31,032 0.01

297,000 183,240 480,240 0.01
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Name of Directors Date of grant Date of expiry

R “ZE-E+ARR ZE-ZETARA

ZHOU Longshan ~ 6/10/2003 51072013

HXE i S T b= St Y

DU Wenmin 12/11/2003 5102013

it

1. RIBFHENERERIAN_-ZE-TF
+ZA=+—H%4719,501,291AK B 17
BREPFHE o

2. EFERENIZERER A RH61,0808 M 1)
RS ERES  B12,2160 R (5 &Y BB R
RARERELEENRBIE Bt Fx
EWRANZEBR R EA -

3. R EERASHE TN E W B AT e 1T -

4. B RE R1.008 7T o

Underlying shares represented by share options outstanding

under the share option scheme of China Resources Power

Holdings Company Limited to subscribe for ordinary shares in

China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited are as follows:

T8
(1)

Exercise
price
(HKS)

275

2.75

notes:

BREHE PABR G

HREBE

R=2-%% R=2-%% ERENER
-A-8 RER tZB=t-B ARLFABEST
8 RATR BiTR WATE RANLE (1)
(%)

Aggregate

long position

in underlying

shares to issued

share capital of

Number of share options China Resources
Outstanding Exercsed  Outstanding  Power Holdings
at during at  Company Limited
1172010 the year 31/12/2010 (note 1)
(%)
61,080 - 61,080 001 (22)

(note 2)

183,240 - 183,240 0.01

Based on 4,719,501,291 shares of China Resources Power Holdings
Company Limited in issue as at 31 December 2010.

Out of these options for 61,080 shares in China Resources Power Holdings
Company Limited, options for 12,216 shares are held by Mr. ZHOU
Longshan’s spouse, and therefore Mr. ZHOU is deemed to be interested in
these share options.

The above share options are exercisable any time until the date of expiry.

Consideration for each of the above grants is HK$1.00.



(d) FEHEHERAT (RDQANEESE (d)  China Resources Land Limited, an associated corporation of

) the Company
R4 REE
R A E
HEEEBER
ARTRITRE
Y &4 FEROEA HER G et WLl (1)
(%)
Aggregate
long position
in shares and
underlying
shares to issued
share capital of
China Resources
Number of Underlying Land Limited
Name of Directors  Capacity shares held shares Total (note 1)
(%)
R EREAA 30,000 - 30,000 0.01
ZHOU Junging Beneficial owner
YR EREAA 790,000 250,000 1,040,000 0.02
DU Wenmin Beneficial owner
RIFEBEM AR AR EREE - 7] Underlying shares represented by share options outstanding
RWEREM AR A R BREARITE under the share option scheme of China Resources Land Limited
BEARERTA R RUABREAR (D 2A T to subscribe for ordinary shares in China Resources Land Limited
are as follows:
REREA NEBRONER
it 3:3 R=2-%% BYLEHEYL
-B-H TZA=t-H BRAFCRT
Bspg REAH EwAH k@ KT RERKE AR RAHLH (71
(%) (%)
Aggregate
long position
in underlying
shares to issued
Number of share options share capital of
Outstanding Granted Outstanding China Resources
Exercise at during at Land Limited
Name of Director ~ Date of grant Date of expiry price 1/1/2010 the year 31/12/2010 (note 1)
(HKS) (%)
HXR —2ZRF7A-H “Z-RFERA=T-H 123 250,000 - 250,000 0.01
DU Wenmin 11612005 31/5/2015
it : notes:
1. BEEHEMERATIN_-_E—ZTF+= 1. Based on 5,387,240,447 shares of China Resources Land Limited in issue
A =+4+—H7%55,387,240,447 % B 21T 5 as at 31 December 2010.
HE-
2. - B RS AT A B B B AT RE RS T(E 2. The above share options are exercisable any time until the date of expiry.

3 RO RER.008 T 3. Consideration for the above grant is HK$1.00.
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BEE)

BEsng

Name of Directors

JE &I
ZHOU Junging

AgEW
ZHOU Longshan

R
DU Wenmin

55

Capacity

BEmfEAA

Beneficial owner

BEmfEAA

Beneficial owner

Em#EA A
Beneficial owner

1. REEBRRIZERERARR-E—ZF
+=A=1+—H%H1,831,094,933E 21T

(A

China Resources Gas Group Limited, an associated

corporation of the Company

FrEROEE

Number of
shares held

34,800

6,000

54,000

note:

1. Based on 1,831,094,933 shares of China Resources Gas Group Limited in

issue as at 31 December 2010.

R 5 R AHE
IR3 W iF B A
HEERRER
BRARE#T

R < #y Lt 451
(#£1)

(%)

Aggregate

long position

in shares and
underlying
shares to issued
share capital of
China Resources
Gas Group
Limited (hote 1)
(%)

0.01

0.01

0.01



(f) EEMEFERAT (XD TR IEBH f China Resources Microelectronics Limited, an associated
EE) corporation of the Company
R 5 R AHE
RPN IF B AR
HEENE
BRARE#T
P& 2 1 EE 4B
BEEHR 14 FrERHEE (521)
(%)
Aggregate
long position
in shares and
underlying
shares to issued
share capital of
China Resources
Number of  Microelectronics
Name of Directors Capacity shares held Limited (hote 1)
(%)
JE e BExERA 1,539,600 0.02
ZHOU Junging Beneficial owner
MHXR EHEAA 1,458,000 0.02
DU Wenmin Beneficial owner
it note:

1. BEEBRETERANKR-E—TF+=
B =+—H7%58789,552,7080% 2 %17 (D5t

o

Ho

Br EXFTEBEEIN R —TF+_A=+—
B REFEMA EFHARBNERITRABL
BEE BB ATHEREZE S LB GRDIE
XVEBRF B AR Ak = VA AN A ) sl ELAE (AT AR
EE (E#& R EZ LR RGIEXVEL) BRIERE
5 RERE GO EXVEDET R 85 B R E SRR
REFRIZARMEARR NEBE T HATIAR
1R85 S ARG B 35216 FITAR T 78 A SR I RZ 16k
FIFftE eV B RO A AR (D  ERERR L R B 5t
PR -R_F—FF+_A=1t—R EERK
TETBAR (BRBEFNERS M ARm+/\BRH
F20) TMERE A SRR R IR AR A B M EL AR
(EEREFLHEGD) ES NEkRE B
W EIT{E L RIZF R -

1. Based on 8,789,552,708 shares of China Resources Microelectronics
Limited in issue as at 31 December 2010.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2010, so far as is known
to the Directors, no interests and short positions were held or deemed
or taken to be held under Part XV of the SFO by any Director or chief
executive of the Company or their respective associates in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of it associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO or pursuant to the Model
Code or which were required pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO to be
recorded in the register referred to therein. Nor any of the Directors and
the chief executive (including their spouses and children under the age of
18) had, as at 31 December 2010, any interest in, or had been granted
any right to subscribe for the securities and options of the Company
and its associated corporations within the meaning of the SFO, or had
exercised any such rights.
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As at 31 December 2010, so far as is known to the Directors, the
following persons, not being a Director or chief executive of the
Company, had interests or short positions in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by

B the Company under Section 336 of the SFO as follows:
EERZALTRE BE /%R ROEHE BRESIEIL
(%)

Approximate

Name of interested party

PRIZERE AT (57)
China Resources National Corporation
(note)

EERNAR AR (i)

China Resources Co., Limited (note)

CRC Bluesky Limited (7%)
CRC Bluesky Limited (note)

=8B (KE) (7)
CR Holdings (note)

ERARREBIRERAF ()

China Resources Cement Investment

Long position/Short position

HeE
Long position

HeE
Long position

HaE
Long position

Long position

No. of Shares

shareholding

(%)
4,781,051,462 73.34
4,781,051,462 73.34
4,781,051,462 73.34
4,781,051,462 73.34
4,781,051,462 73.34

Group Limited (note)

it PEIEHEAR EAERROBRAR I ET
A E TS A M1&E ACRC Bluesky Limited2 B
BEITIRAEZHE A A CRC Bluesky Limited 7k /32
B(EE)2HEHTRANEREEA  MEH (£
E) Rl AZE BRI EERAR AR (RIEIEAIRE
BIRAR)ZHEETRANERIEE A R
REZERBR A R EER 4,781,051 4628 A8 17 - 15
RNRIEBEITRALI73.34% ©

R ENFREEIN REEMM R _E—ZF
ToA=1t—A BEEBALERERESR

HEIRDIEXVERSE2 K37 BB E A MG AN F
SHE X TR ARSI A R RIRIERE 7 S B 51
3361517 B R B LM I AR R R A D M AR AR

DR EOR A °

note: China Resources National Corporation is the beneficial owner of the entire issued
share capital of China Resources Co., Limited, which in turn is the beneficial owner
of the entire issued share capital of CRC Bluesky Limited, which in turn is the
beneficial owner of the entire issued share capital of CR Holdings, which in turn is
the beneficial owner of the entire issued share capital of China Resources Cement
Investment Group Limited (formerly known as Smooth Concept Investments
Limited). China Resources Cement Investment Group Limited directly held
4,781,051,462 Shares representing approximately 73.34% of the issued share
capital of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, so far as is known to the Directors, as at
31 December 2010, no other person had interests or short positions in
the shares and underlying shares of the Company which were required to
be disclosed to the Company or the Stock Exchange under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the
SFO.
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Certain related party transactions as disclosed in Note 43 to the
consolidated financial statements also constituted continuing connected
transactions within the meaning of the Listing Rules. Details of such

transactions conducted by certain subsidiaries of the Company with
connected parties during the year are summarised below:

Sale of cement to certain subsidiaries
of China Resources Power Holdings
Company Limited, a fellow subsidiary

Sale of concrete to China Resources
Construction Company Limited,
a subsidiary of CR Holdings

Sale of limestone powder to
Guangzhou China Resources Thermal
Power Company Limited, a subsidiary
of China Resources Power Holdings
Company Limited

Provision of testing service to certain
subsidiaries of CR Holdings

Purchase of de-sulphur gypsum from
Guangzhou China Resources Thermal
Power Company Limited

Purchase of ash and slag from
Guangzhou China Resources Thermal
Power Company Limited

Purchase of coal from China
Resources Power Logistics (Tianjin)
Company Limited

x|
T

Amount
HK$'000

15,427

13,160

4,383

376

6,185

24,442

218,374

B PP IR T
HRENFE LR
FET

Annual cap
under the waiver
granted by the
Stock Exchange
HK$'000

29,400

44,500

7,920

3,300

8,379

31,450

1,377,362
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1.

Sale of Cement to China Resources Power Holdings
Company Limited

The Company entered into a Cement Supply Framework
Agreement with CR Holdings on 1 January 2008 for the supply
of cement products to certain subsidiaries of CR Holdings with a
term of three years and a supplemental agreement on 1 August
2009 to extend the term to 31 December 2011. Under the
Cement Supply Framework Agreement, the prices charged will be
negotiated on an arm’s length basis between the relevant parties
with reference to the prevailing market prices.

During the year, the Group supplied cement to certain subsidiaries
of China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited for the
construction of power plants.

Sale of Concrete to China Resources Construction Company
Limited

Redland Concrete Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into an agreement dated 1 January 2009 for
the sale of ready mixed concrete by Redland Concrete Limited
and its subsidiaries to China Resources Construction Company
Limited, a subsidiary of CR Holdings, for its construction projects
in Hong Kong. The agreement has a term commencing from
the date of the agreement to 31 December 2011 and may be
terminated earlier by either party giving three months’ prior
written notice. Under the agreement, the prices charged will be
negotiated on an arm’s length basis between the parties with
reference to the prevailing market prices.
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Sale of limestone powder to Guangzhou China Resources
Thermal Power Company Limited

China Resources Cement Investments Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into an agreement dated
2 November 2009 on behalf of certain wholly owned subsidiaries
of the Company which are engaged in the production of cement
and concrete in the PRC for the sale of limestone powder to
Guangzhou China Resources Thermal Power Company Limited,
an indirectly owned subsidiary of China Resources Power
Holdings Company Limited, a fellow subsidiary of the Company,
for its power generating business. The agreement has a term
commencing from the date of the agreement to 31 December
2011. Under the agreement, the unit selling price of limestone
powder is RMB115.0 per ton subject to quarterly review and
adjustment with reference to the prevailing market prices of
limestone powder.

Provision of testing service to certain subsidiaries of CR
Holdings

Quality Control Consultants Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, entered into an agreement dated 1 January 2009
for the provision of testing services with a credit term of 30 days
to a number of subsidiaries of CR Holdings, including Redland
Precast Concrete Products Limited, China Resources Construction
Limited and Strong Progress Limited. The agreement has a term
of three years commencing on the date of the agreement and
ending on 31 December 2011 and may be terminated earlier by
either party giving three months' prior written notice. The fees
charged for the testing services were determined with reference
to the prevailing market prices. Market prices are determined
during negotiations with our customers.
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Purchase of de-sulphur gypsum from Guangzhou China
Resources Thermal Power Company Limited

China Resources Cement Investments Limited entered into an
agreement dated 2 November 2009 with Guangzhou China
Resources Thermal Power Company Limited for the purchase of
de-sulphur gypsum which is a type of raw material used in the
production of cement. The de-sulphur gypsum will be used by
certain wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company which are
engaged in the production of cement in the PRC. The agreement
has a term commencing from the date of the agreement to
31 December 2011. Under the agreement, the unit selling price
of de-sulphur gypsum is RMB73.0 per ton subject to quarterly
review and adjustment with reference to the prevailing market
prices of de-sulphur gypsum.

Purchase of ash and slag from Guangzhou China Resources
Thermal Power Company Limited

China Resources Cement Investments Limited entered into an
agreement dated 2 November 2009 with Guangzhou China
Resources Thermal Power Company Limited for the purchase of
ash and slag. Ash is a type of raw material that is used in the
production of cement and concrete and slag is a type of raw
material used in the production of cement. The ash and slag will
be used by certain wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company
which are engaged in the production of cement and concrete.
The agreement has a term commencing from the date of the
agreement to 31 December 2011. Under the agreement, the
respective unit purchase prices of ash and slag are RMB88.0 per
ton and RMB12.0 per ton respectively, subject to quarterly review
and adjustment with reference to the prevailing market prices of
ash and slag.

Purchase of coal from China Resources Power Logistics
(Tianjin) Company Limited

China Resources Cement Investments Limited entered into an
agreement dated 9 April 2010 with China Resources Power
Logistics (Tianjin) Company Limited for the purchase of coal.
The coal will be used by certain subsidiaries of the Company
which are engaged in the production of clinker. The agreement
has a term commencing from the date of the agreement to
31 December 2011. Under the agreement, the respective unit
price of coal will be negotiated on an arm’s length basis between
the relevant parties based on the then prevailing market prices.



B SFNTE R D BHRE R A AR Z
FR 575

@ ARAEBEN—REBEEELBRE
FRETS

b  EREARGGGEI SHEEH
BB LR B IAHIE R =R
— R EIFRETIL - RIIRTNENE
M =77 RIS R (RI5
SUMTE ) EEANER BRI fe

O RERERSTIOEMBHEE
AFARRFARRTBRRER
R A BFRET L

REBECFHRERNTIE B ZBENEE « B
ERG S EITERREE SR R
RAEM LIRS :

@ CEEGERSHE:

b FHEARFNEEHRR (F125
ABRRZH M BAN A B AR
ART%) -

© ERBEREZERZNE @
I &

@  TEBERRERARITARE
PERR LR -

RAFEE AEBEMNAARFNEEBHLAE
E R iHE B EE L R30% ©

RAFE  AEBNH AR BRI RBARER
SERBARRDTN30%

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed these
transactions and confirmed that the transactions have been
entered into:

(@) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(b) either on normal commercial terms or, if there are not
sufficient comparable transactions to judge whether
they are on normal commercial terms, on terms no less
favourable to the Group than terms available to or from
(as appropriate) independent third parties; and

(@) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing
them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

Based on work performed, Deloitte Touche Tohmastu, our
independent auditor, has confirmed in a letter to the Board to the
effect that the above transactions:

(a) have received the approval of the Board;

(b) are in accordance with the pricing policies of the
Company (transactions 1 to 4 which involved provision of
goods or services by the Company);

(©) have been entered into in accordance with the relevant
agreements governing the transactions; and

(d) have not exceeded the caps disclosed in the Prospectus
and previous announcements.

During the year, the aggregate sales attributable to the Group's five
largest customers accounted for less than 30% of the Group's total sales.

During the year, the aggregate purchases attributable to the Group's
five largest suppliers accounted for less than 30% of the Group's total
purchases.
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The Company adopted a share award scheme on 2 September 2009.
The share award scheme does not constitute a share option scheme
pursuant to Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules and is a discretionary scheme
of the Company. The purpose of the share award scheme is to recognise
the contributions of officers and employees of our Group, excluding any
director of the Company, towards the development of our Group in the
past or as incentives to selected grantees to achieve higher than target
profits for our Group and to align the interests of the selected grantees
with sustainable growth and development of our Group.

The aggregate number of Shares purchased under the share award
scheme shall not exceed 2.5% of all issued shares of the Company.
The aggregate number of Shares which may be awarded to a selected
grantee under the share award scheme shall not exceed 0.1% of the
issued share capital of the Company. A trust has been set up and BOCI-
Prudential Trustee Limited has been appointed as the trustee. Pursuant
to the share award scheme, the trustee may purchase Shares from the
public market out of cash contributed by the Company from time to
time. Shares purchased under the share award scheme will be held in
trust for the eligible employees until such Shares are vested in accordance
with the provisions of the rules relating to the share award scheme.
The share award scheme will be effective for a term of 10 years until
2 September 2019 unless terminated at the discretion of the Board at an
earlier date.

On 17 November 2010, the Company amended the terms of the share
award scheme to include Directors as eligible grantees and such that
payments under the Scheme will be made in form of cash rather than
Shares. According to the Scheme, the Company can utilise the proceeds
generated from the disposal of the Shares purchased and held by the
trustee for awards to be made under the Scheme.

The trustee has been holding 160,000,000 Shares on trust throughout
the year ended 31 December 2010. None of the Shares held on trust by
the trustee and cash benefits under the Scheme has been granted to any
eligible grantee during the year.
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EEEHE
REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company'’s listed securities during the year.

MODEL CODE

The Board has adopted a code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities
transactions on terms no less exacting than the required standard set out
in the Model Code. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, the
Company confirmed that all Directors have complied with the required
standards set out in the Company’s code of conduct and the Model Code
regarding their securities transactions during the year.

CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

During the year, the Company complied with all code provisions as well
as most of the recommended best practices of the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices set out in Appendix 14 of The Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited except
that all non-executive Directors were not appointed for a specific term.
Since all Directors are subject to re-election by shareholders at annual
general meetings and at least about once every three years on a rotation
basis in accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company,
there are sufficient measures to ensure the corporate governance of the
Company complies with the same level to that required under the Code
on Corporate Governance Practices.

Please refer to the Corporate Governance Report on pages 69 to 87 of
this report.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this report, there
is sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the Company's issued
shares as required under the Listing Rules.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Group's results and its assets and liabilities for the past
five years is set out on page 204.
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AUDITOR

The financial statements of the Company for the year have been audited
by Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.

A resolution will be submitted at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as
independent auditor of the Company.

By order of the Board
ZHOU Junging

Chairman

Hong Kong, 4 March 2011

68 HFEEAKREREMRAT China Resources Cement Holdings Limited



HREZERAB U EEREAFERAERITBR
BIE R ARIEARR BBCR K E RIS AR A LA
S EBUE AR RRERTERNEDSLRE
REEENDEER AL AAREHRRARE
MERERRA URBEFSLR AUWHNA
ARIZE ] BB AR FR AR TE M AT A MIzs AR A £
BRERREEE-

RAERE - ARBEET LR R ER14prE B
KEVAT R TRIMFTE SFRIGSUA R KRS HEE
REFHR EREFMTESLEEREF N
RERIBRSN e T AR RINEERE TR

E=SRBRSIARAIRRE R IR REE XD
MEE BEFAB(REARTEBIENERLE
B ER S AR RISENEHORE -

RREEBEEFEEARNBT AR EF
SVERTEEEERTRENBRTERE
Wt ETT RIRHUBM RSS! LU R B E B
SHSE S REETERENGE S -

E=ERARB AR MERMIAARR]E
B - TESMOFITESNTARBE
RERESENELEY A SESSELERN
B - EEENEENEERARREBH
HREEEEESSNERBWEID ARERES
RIRER ] M BNKE TR EEAEA -

The Company and the Board are devoted to achieve and maintain the
highest standards of corporate governance as the Board believes that
effective corporate governance practices are fundamental to enhancing
shareholder value and safe guarding interests of our shareholders and
other stakeholders. Accordingly, the Company has adopted sound
corporate governance principles that emphasise a quality Board, effective
internal control, stringent disclosure practices and transparency and
accountability to all stakeholders.

During the year, the Company complied with all code provisions as well
as most of the recommended best practices of the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules except
that all non-executive Directors were not appointed for a specific
term. The following summarises the Company’s corporate governance
practices:

The Board is responsible for directing the strategic objectives of the
Company and overseeing the management of the business. The Directors
are accountable for promoting the success of the Company and making
decisions objectively in the best interest of the Company.

In order to maintain a highly efficient operation, as well as flexibility and
swiftness in operational decision-making, the Board, when necessary, may
delegate its managing and administrative powers to the management,
and provide clear guidance regarding such delegation so as to avoid
seriously impeding or undermining the overall capabilities of the Board in
exercising its powers.

The Board should have a balance of skills and experience appropriate
for the requirements of the business of the Company. A balanced
composition of executive Directors and non-executive Directors helps to
ensure the independence of the Board and enables the Board to make
independent judgments effectively. The operation and management of
the Board and the day-to-day management of the Company’s business
should be clearly divided at the Board level to ensure that there is a
balance of power and authority and that power will not be concentrated
in any one individual.
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Throughout the period from 1 January 2010 to 30 June 2010, the Board
comprised 9 Directors, including 3 executive Directors, namely, Madam
ZHOU Junging, Mr. ZHOU Longshan and Mr. LAU Chung Kwok Robert,
three non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. LI Fuzuo, Mr. DU Wenmin and
Mr. WEI Bin, and three independent non-executive Directors, namely,
Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen, Madam ZENG Xuemin and Mr. LAM Chi
Yuen. With effect from 1 July 2010, Mr. XU Yongmo has been appointed
an independent non-executive Director. On 31 July 2010, Mr. LI Fuzuo
resigned from the position of non-executive Director. The representation
of independent non-executive Directors fulfilled the minimum
requirement of the Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31 December
2010. A description of the Directors are set out in the Biographical Details
of Directors and Senior Management Section on pages 40 to 48 and on
the Company’s website.

For a Director to be considered independent, the Board must be satisfied
that the Director does not have any direct or indirect material relationship
with the Group. In determining the independence of Directors, the Board
follows the requirements set out in the Listing Rules and considers all of
the independent non-executive Directors as independent.

The roles of the Chairman are segregated from the Chief Executive
Officer. The Chairman and an executive Director, Madam ZHOU
Junging, approves and monitors the Company'’s strategies and policies,
annual budgets and business plans, evaluates the performance of the
Company, and supervises the management of the Company. The senior
management team is responsible for the day-to-day operations of the
Group under the leadership of Mr. ZHOU Longshan, an executive Director
and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

Such division of responsibilities also helps to reinforce their independence
and accountability. The Chairman, Madam ZHOU Junging, is responsible
for providing leadership to, and overseeing the functioning of, the
Board to ensure that it acts in the best interests of the Group and that
Board meetings are planned and conducted in an effective manner.
The Chairman is also responsible for setting the agenda for each Board
meeting, taking into consideration, where appropriate, matters proposed
by the Directors and the Company Secretary for inclusion in the agenda.
With the support of executive Directors and the Company Secretary,
the Chairman seeks to ensure that all Directors are properly informed
of issues arising at Board meetings and provided with adequate and
accurate information in a timely manner. The Chairman also actively
encourages the directors of the Company to be engaged in the Board's
affairs and contribute to the Board’s functions. The Board, under the
leadership of the Chairman, has complied with the corporate governance
practices and procedures and has taken appropriate steps to provide
effective communication with our shareholders and other stakeholders, as
outlined in the latter section headed Supply of and Access to Information
for Board Meeting.



THASEERLTEAREEARENES
FHEBEBEE 2EFE KN ERESTEM
HUER SR BB MR ML A ASEN A FE
tFRESSAERIET-

THERBER B R ARENZLEREA KT
HEFVEEILREERGREREFRHEY
MERGREFEREUHEBRIE  WHER
EXQRBAMASEERB I ENESHRN
FIELBEEM - WIS HEREBNESFTLEE
m eI E V) B SR Y BB S RAR AL
HBHEBMREINIEE - A VB S REERTTE) -
HETFEREBEETSTHRBUSKRELRE
BB EXGHERNFR

ExerliTHeR EEFEL MR - REHRH
FET AEENSREEES R AEB XL
R NBEREMAERREEN -CEZRR/E
VEEARE EF A ERENAEENER
MBIBEEER -

REFENTEMERNS EFKEDREN T
AESENSHANLESHNTIN=RER
LR ENARX M - HEMEENE AR
EOBEHNERT EFEeRERTRFRBA-
FRAR BB ERARIFAFHZEFIE RN
EREAEH X5 HAEFESIRE AL
IR EMBREET HEEAERNES
KRB R ERNENE A ERES T ST
ARREEEABNEE RN

The Chief Executive Officer, Mr. ZHOU Longshan, is responsible for
managing the businesses of the Group, coordinating overall business
operations, attending to the formulation and successful implementation
of Group policies and strategies approved by the Board and assuming full
accountability to the Board for all the Group's day-to-day operations.

The Chief Executive Officer is directly responsible for maintaining
the operational performance of the Group. He also works with the
Chief Financial Officer, Mr. LAU Chung Kwok Robert, and the senior
management team and presents annual budgets to the Board for
consideration and approval, and ensures that the Board is provided
with all the necessary information relating to the funding requirements
of the businesses of the Group. He will also ensure that the funding
requirements of the business are met and closely monitors the operating
and financial results of the businesses against plans and budgets,
taking remedial action if necessary. He communicates regularly with
the Chairman and all Directors to keep them fully informed of all major
business development and issues.

The Board is expected to meet regularly and at least four times a
year. Between scheduled meetings, the senior management of the
Group provides information to Directors on a regular basis regarding
the activities and development in the businesses of the Group. The
Directors have full access to information on the Group and independent
professional advice at all times whenever deemed necessary by the
Directors.

With respect to regular meetings of the Board, the Directors will be
given written notice of the meeting at least 14 days in advance and an
agenda with supporting Board papers no less than three days prior to
the meeting. For other meetings, Directors are given as much notice
as is reasonable and practicable in the circumstances. Except for those
circumstances permitted by the Articles of Association of the Company,
a Director who has a material interest in any contract, transaction,
arrangement or any other kind of proposal put forward to the Board for
consideration abstains from voting on the relevant resolution and such
Director is not counted for quorum determination purposes.
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attendances of these meetings are as follows:

28 EEREBR e
Written
Meeting Resolution Total
Executive Directors
ZHOU Junging 3 13 16
ZHOU Longshan 3 13 16
LAU Chung Kwok Robert 3 13 16
Non-Executive Directors
LI Fuzuo (resigned on 31 July 2010)
1 11 12
DU Wenmin 3 13 16
WEI Bin 3 13 16
Independent Non-executive
Directors
IP Shu Kwan Stephen 4 13 17
XU Yongmo
(appointed on 1 July 2010) 3 5 8
ZENG Xuemin 4 13 17
LAM Chi Yuen 4 13 17

R-ZE—TFHA MABBEIFNTESESFS  In May 2010, two independent non-executive Directors, Mr. IP Shu Kwan
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Stephen and Madam ZENG Xuemin, accompanied by two executive
Directors, Madam ZHOU Junging and Mr. LAU Chung Kwok Robert, had
a four day tour and visited certain cement and concrete plants of the
Group in Guangxi for a deeper understanding of the Group's business
operations.
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None of the Directors, including the non-executive Directors, has a
service contract with the Company and there are no specific terms of
their appointments. However, all Directors are subject to re-election
by shareholders at annual general meetings and at least about once
every three years on a rotation basis in accordance with the Articles of
Association of the Company. A retiring Director is eligible for re-election
and re-election of retiring Directors at annual general meetings is dealt
with by separate individual resolutions. There are sufficient measures to
ensure the corporate governance of the Company complies with the
same level to that required under the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices. Where vacancies arise at the Board, candidates are proposed
and put forward to the Board by the Nomination Committee as more
fully explained below under the section on Nomination Committee.

Upon appointment to the Board, the Directors receive a package
of orientation materials about the Group and are provided with a
comprehensive induction to the Group’s businesses by senior executives.
Continuing education and information are provided to the Directors
regularly to help ensuring that the Directors are apprised of the latest
changes in the commercial, legal and regulatory environment in which
the Group conducts its businesses.

The Board has adopted a code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities
transactions on terms no less exacting than the required standard set out
in the Model Code. All Directors confirmed that they have complied with
the required standards set out in the Company’s code of conduct and the
Model Code regarding their securities transactions for the year.

The Company established an Audit Committee, a Remuneration
Committee and a Nomination Committee on 2 September 2009. The
Company also established an Executive Committee on 13 January 2010.
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The Executive Committee comprises three executive Directors, Madam
ZHOU Junging, Mr. ZHOU Longshan and Mr. LAU Chung Kwok Robert,
and is chaired by Madam ZHOU Junging. The duties of the Executive
Committee are as follows:

@)

To monitor the execution of the Company’s strategic plans and
the operations of all business units;

To appoint and remove the directors and general managers of the
business units of the Company (the “Operating Management”);

To approve any changes to the scope of authority delegated
to the Operating Management and the functional department
heads of the Company (the “Corporate Management”);

To approve any excess in authority delegated to the Corporate
Management and the Operating Management;

To exercise the functions and responsibilities of the Board
between regular Board meeting, with its power restricted to the
following areas that are considered by the Board as material and
related to the formulation of the policy and business development
direction of the Company:

(1 the policy of the entire strategic business development
direction and planning of the Company;

() the main business policy and financial achievement policy
of the Company;

(3) transactions being considered by the Board as major or
discloseable. e.g. entering into agreements, acquisitions,
investments, spin-off, disposal of assets or any capital
expenditures. To determine whether a transaction is
“major transaction” or “discloseable transaction”, the
committee should consider the percentage ratios set out
in the Listing Rules.

To establish and authorise committees to deal with daily business
operations or ad-hoc projects if consider appropriate;



@ - EER#E: (@  Toreview and approve:

M HEREENFEME TARAA (1) banking facilities and/or financial instruments to be
FEAARFFELHRITEREE granted to or issued by the Company for the needs of the
Y/ SemTI A Group;

@ EEAYNCIESIUN) = INCT) N S ke (2)  the grant of any loan or other financial assistance to the
NARFEMERSE I EE Company's subsidiaries and/or associates;

Bh:

3) AARAEMBAR R SHER (3)  the provision of corporate guarantees, indemnity and/or
ARMAI D REIER  AEREE R letters of comfort by the Company for its subsidiaries and/
S MREE or associates;

@) FIIRTTSRERFE SRR RS & (4)  the opening of bank or securities related accounts
HEHEE (BREEEFETAR and other ancillary matters including appointing the
BEZEF ONGERREES) signatories and approving the terms and mandate for
& such accounts; and

(5  EEHE R EEEENERNRE (5)  to affix the Company’s seal on any instrument or
IR M EANE AR RIE0 i ED K document related to the above items and approve any
HEAR—ERZEESTEEZ one or more of the Directors to sign the instrument or
FES o document.

(h) RIFEHEESRENTEZESHEMEMm  (h) Any other specific business authorised by the Board to be dealt
FFEEIR- with by this Committee.

RIZE—TFAN PITEEGRTTZ +E A& During 2010, twenty four meetings (including one meeting by way of

(@%Mﬁfﬁiﬁ& S AANBITH—INEE) ° drculation of written resolution) were held by the Executive Committee.
ZEGHZNLEEROT The attendances of these meetings are as follows:
23 EERER A&t
Written
Meeting Resolution Total
JEE I ZHOU Junging 22 1 23
JEBE L ZHOU Longshan 16 1 17

2 B E LAU Chung Kwok Robert 23 1 24
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From 1 January 2010, the Audit Committee comprises three independent
non-executive Directors, Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen, Madam ZENG Xuemin
and Mr. LAM Chi Yuen and is chaired by Mr. LAM Chi Yuen. On 1 July
2010, Mr. XU Yongmo, the newly appointed independent non-executive
Director, has been appointed as an additional member of the Audit
Committee. The duties of the Audit Committee are as follows:

Relationship with the Group’s auditors

(a) being primarily responsible for making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal of the
external auditor, and to approve the remuneration and terms
of engagement of the external auditor, and to consider any
questions of resignation or dismissal of that auditor;

(b) reviewing and monitoring the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards;

(© developing and implementing policy on the engagement of an
external auditor to supply non-audit services and reporting to the
Board, identifying any matters in respect of which it considers that
action or improvement is needed and making recommendations
as to the steps to be taken;

(d) discussing with the external auditor before the audit commences,
the nature and scope of the audit, and ensure co-ordination
where more than one audit firm is involved; and

(e) discussing problems and reservations arising from the interim
and final audits, and any matters the external auditor may wish
to discuss (in the absence of the senior management where
necessary);
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Review of financial information of the Group

(f)

monitoring integrity of the Group's financial statements,
annual reports and accounts, half-year reports and, if prepared
for publication, quarterly reports, and reviewing significant
financial reporting judgments contained in them. In this regard,
in reviewing the Group's annual reports and accounts, half-
year reports and, if prepared for publication, quarterly reports
before submission to the Board, the Audit Committee shall
focus particularly on: (i) any changes in accounting policies and
practices; (i) major judgmental areas; (i) significant adjustments
resulting from audit; (iv) the going concern assumptions and any
qualifications; (v) compliance with accounting standards; and
(vi) compliance with any requirements from the Stock Exchange
and other legal requirements in relation to financial reporting; and

in respect of (f) above: (i) liaising with the Board and the
senior management; (ii) meeting, at least once a year, with
the Company's auditors; and (i) considering any significant or
unusual items that are, or may need to be, reflected in such
financial statements, reports and accounts and giving due
consideration to any matters that have been raised by the Group’s
staff responsible for the accounting and financial reporting
function, compliance officer or auditors;

Oversight of the Group's financial reporting system and internal
control procedures

(h)

reviewing the Group's financial controls, internal control and risk
management systems;

discussing with the management of the Group any matters in
relation to the Company’s internal control system and ensuring
that the senior management has discharged its duties in
establishing and maintaining an effective internal control system
including adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of
staff of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting function,
compliance officer or auditors;

considering any findings of major investigations of internal control
matters as delegated by the Board or on its own initiative and the
response of the senior management;
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where an internal audit function exists, ensuring co-ordination
between the internal and external auditors, ensuring that
the internal audit function is adequately resourced and has
appropriate standing within the Group, and reviewing and
monitoring the effectiveness of the internal audit function;

reviewing the Group's financial and accounting policies and
practices;

reviewing the external auditor’s management letter, any material
queries raised by the auditor to the senior management in respect
of the accounting records, financial accounts or systems of control
and the response of the senior management;

ensuring that the Board will provide a timely response to the
issues raised in the external auditor's management letter;

reporting to the Board on the matters set out in these terms;

reviewing arrangements by which employees of the Group
may, in confidence, raise concerns about possible improprieties
in financial reporting, internal control or other matters and
ensuring that proper arrangements are in place for the fair and
independent investigation of such matters and for appropriate
follow-up action;

acting as the key representative body for overseeing the Group’s
relationship with the external auditor; and

considering any other topics, as defined by the Board.
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Two meetings of the Audit Committee were held during the year to
approve the financial statements of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2009 and for the six months period ended 30 June 2010.
During the year, the Board conducted a review of the effectiveness of the
system of internal control of the Company and its subsidiaries covering
all material financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions. An Audit Committee meeting was held to review
this internal control report submitted by the Internal Audit Department
of the Company and the internal weakness report submitted by the
independent auditor, and was satisfied that such systems are effective
and adequate. The attendances of these meetings are as follows:

E &t

Meeting Total

ME =R LAM Chi Yuen 2 2
7 IP Shu Kwan Stephen 2 2
TRKAE XU Yongmo 1 1
B8 ZENG Xuemin 2 2
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The Remuneration Committee comprises three independent non-
executive Directors, Mr. IP Shu Kwan, Stephen, Madam ZENG Xuemin
and Mr. LAM Chi Yuen, and two executive Directors, Mr. ZHOU Longshan
and Mr. LAU Chung Kwok Robert, and is chaired by Madam ZENG
Xuemin. The duties of the Remuneration Committee are as follows:

(a) making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all remuneration of the Directors and the
senior management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing such remuneration policy;

(b) being responsible for determining the specific remuneration
packages of all executive Directors and the senior management
and to make recommendations to the Board of the remuneration
of non-executive Directors. The Remuneration Committee shall
consider factors such as salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and responsibilities of the Directors and the
senior management, remuneration levels within the Group and
desirability of performance-based remuneration packages;
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reviewing and approving any performance-based remuneration
offered by the Group with reference to corporate goals and
objectives resolved by the Board from time to time;

reviewing and approving the compensation payable to the
executive Directors and the senior management in connection
with any loss or termination of their office or appointment
in order to ensure that such compensation is determined
in accordance with the relevant contractual terms and that
such compensation is otherwise fair and not excessive for the
Company;

reviewing and approving compensation arrangements relating to
dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct in order to ensure
that such arrangements are determined in accordance with
relevant contractual terms and that any compensation payment is
otherwise reasonable and appropriate;

ensuring that no Director or any of his associates is involved in
deciding his own remuneration;

advising the shareholders on how to vote with respect to any
service contracts of the Directors that require shareholders’
approval under the Listing Rules; and

reviewing the Group's policy on expense reimbursements for the
Directors and the senior management.

In carrying out its duties under these terms of reference, the
Remuneration Committee should:

@)

consult the chairman of the Board and/or the chief executive
officer about their proposals relating to the remuneration of
the executive Directors and have access to professional advice if
considered necessary;,

provide the packages needed to attract, retain and motivate
executive Directors of the quality required, but avoid paying more
than is necessary for this purpose;

judge where to position the Group relative to other companies.
They should be aware what comparable companies are paying
and should take account of relative performance;
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be sensitive to the wider scene, including pay and employment
conditions within the Group and elsewhere, especially when
determining annual salary increases;

ensure that the performance-related elements of remuneration
form a significant proportion of the total remuneration package
of executive Directors and are designed to align their interests
with those of shareholders and to give the Directors incentives to
perform at the highest levels; and

ensure that share options offered by the Company to its Directors
or senior management (if any) are in accordance with Chapter 17
of the Listing Rules, as applicable.

The Remuneration Committee shall:

@

operate the Company’s share award schemes or other incentives
schemes (if any) as they apply to, and recommend to the general
meeting of shareholders grants of awards to be made to Directors
and/or senior management. It shall recommend to the Board the
total aggregate amount of any grants to employees (with the
specific grants to individuals to be at the discretion of the Board)
and make amendments to the terms of such schemes (subject to
the provisions of the schemes relating to amendment);

liaise with the trustee of any employee share scheme which is
created by the Company for the benefit of employees, senior
management or Directors;

review the terms of executive Directors’ service contracts from
time to time; and

advise the Board in relation to the preparation of the Board's
remuneration report (if any) to shareholders.
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During 2010, two meetings were held by way of circulation of written

resolutions of the Remuneration Committee to approve the increase in

salaries and payment of discretionary bonus to executive Directors and

senior management during the year. The attendances of these meetings

are as follows:

EERER a5t
Written
Resolution Total
B ZENG Xuemin 2 2
EH® IP Shu Kwan Stephen 2 2
MEE LAM Chi Yuen 2 2
JEBE L ZHOU Longshan 2 2
2B LAU Chung Kwok Robert 2 2
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The Nomination Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen, Madam ZENG Xuemin and
Mr. LAM Chi Yuen, and one executive Director, Madam ZHOU Junging,
and is chaired by Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen. The duties of the Nomination
Committee are as follows:

@)

regularly reviewing the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) required of the Board
and making recommendations to the Board with regard to any
changes;

giving full consideration to succession planning for Directors in
the course of its work, taking into account the challenges and
opportunities facing the Company and what skills and expertise
are therefore needed on the Board in the future;

identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Directors
and selecting or making recommendations to the Board on the
selection of individuals nominated for directorship;
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assessing the independence of independent non-executive
Directors;

before appointments are made by the Board, evaluating the
balance of skills, knowledge and experience on the Board, and, in
the light of this evaluation preparing a description of the role and
capabilities required for a particular appointment. In identifying
suitable candidates, the Nomination Committee shall:

(i) use open advertising or the services of external advisers to
facilitate the search;

(ii) consider candidates from a wide range of backgrounds;
and

(iii) consider candidates on merit and against objective
criteria, taking care that appointees have enough time
available to devote to the position;

keeping under review the leadership needs of the organisation,
both executive and non-executive, with a view to ensuring the
continued ability of the organisation to compete effectively in the
marketplace;

keeping up to date and fully informed about strategic issues and
commercial changes affecting the company and the market in
which it operates;

reviewing annually the time required from non-executive
Directors. Performance evaluations should be used to assess
whether the non-executive Directors are spending enough time in
fulfilling their duties; and

ensuring that on appointment to the Board, non-executive
Directors receive a formal letter of appointment setting out
clearly what is expected of them in terms of time commitment,
committee service and involvement outside board meetings.

The Nomination Committee shall also make recommendation to the
Board concerning:

@

(b)

formulating plans for succession for both executive and non-
executive Directors;

suitable candidates for the role of independent non-executive
Directors;



RiEHEZMTHREETR®R BEX
ERBENKEER:

ZRIRENRANEBEREZTSIREN
BES WM B AT MO RIS - 1BE
MRS EFITEREREERER
RAIREEEMN (T

FEAE (SR 1E) (] S 7057 & F M AR TS
BH:

FEERIEX M BEERBEHRR T - (E
MEREREEMEARENEEER
BREFEIRIEATES (FRARTIE
BB &

REEAESETITRA B LR
(ERRITHABERIN)  AREEHEE
BEFER L TUAER-

TR REZBSHBRTRAEH (2
g

EAE

MEmRERTABTN-REHR) &

b RKREE R AR RE LR DB

TES

HHE-E-TFLA-AR-T——

F-A—BER-gRHEERAT

SR
=L
iR
Biem

IP Shu Kwan Stephen

ZENG Xuemin
LAM Chi Yuen
ZHOU Junging

membership of the Company's audit and Remuneration
committees, in consultation with the chairmen of those
committees;

the re-appointment of any non-executive Director at the
conclusion of their specified term of office having given due
regard to their performance and ability to continue to contribute
to the Board in the light of the knowledge, skills and experience
required;

the continuation (or not) in service of any Director who has
reached the age of 70;

any matters relating to the continuation in office of any Director
at any time including the suspension or termination of service of
an executive Director as an employee of the company subject to
the provisions of the law and their service contract; and

the appointment of any Director to executive or other office,
other than to the positions of chairman and chief executive, the
recommendation for which would be considered at a meeting of
the full board.

During 2010, two meetings (including one meeting by way of circulation
of written resolution) of the Nomination Committee were held at which
Mr. XU Yongmo and Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abraham have been appointed
as independent non-executive Director with effect from 1 July 2010 and
1 January 2011 respectively. The attendances of these meetings are as

follows:

=] EERER a5t
Written

Meeting Resolution Total

1 1 2

1 1 2

1 1 2

1 1 2
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Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the
Annual Report and financial statements of the Company to ensure that
these financial statements give a true and fair presentation in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards. The statement by the
auditor about their reporting responsibilities is set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report on pages 88 to 89.

Independent Auditor

The Audit Committee reviews and monitors the independent
auditor’s independence and objectivity and effectiveness of the audit
process. It receives each year the letter from the independent auditor
confirming their independence and objectivity and holds meetings with
representatives of the independent auditor to consider the scope of its
audit, approve its fees, and the scope and appropriateness of non-audit
services, if any, to be provided by it. The Audit Committee also makes
recommendations to the Board on the appointment and retention of the
independent auditor.

The Group's policy regarding the engagement of Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu for the various services listed below is as follows:

o Audit services — include audit services provided in connection
with the audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the Company and the financial statements of the individual
subsidiaries. All such services are to be provided by independent
auditor.

o Audit related services — include services that would normally be
provided by an independent auditor but not generally included
in audit fees, for example, due diligence and accounting advice
relating to mergers and acquisitions and internal control reviews
of systems and/or processes. The independent auditor is to be
invited to undertake those services that it must or is best placed to
undertake in their capacity as auditor.

o Taxation related services — include all tax compliance and tax
planning services, except for those services which are provided
in connection with the audit. The Group uses the services
of the independent auditor where it is best suited. All other
significant taxation related work is undertaken by other parties as
appropriate.
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. Other services — include, for example, risk management
diagnostics and assessments, and non-financial systems
consultations. The independent auditor is also permitted to assist
management and the Group's internal auditor with internal
investigations and fact-finding into alleged improprieties. These
services are subject to specific approval by the Audit Committee.

o General consulting services — the external auditor is not eligible to
provide services involving general consulting work.

An analysis of the fees of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu and other
independent auditor is shown in Note 8 to the consolidated financial
statements. In the year ended 31 December 2010, the fees and
disbursements paid to Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu for audit services and
those for non-audit services amounted to HK$2.6 million and HK$2.6
million respectively.

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s system of internal
control and assessment and management of risks. In meeting its
responsibility, the Board seeks to increase risk awareness across the
Group's business operations and has put in place policies and procedures,
including parameters of delegated authority, which provide a framework
for the identification and management of risks. It also reviews and
monitors the effectiveness of the systems of internal control to ensure
that the policies and procedures in place are adequate.

Reporting and review activities include review by the executive Directors
and the Board and approval of detailed operational and financial reports,
budgets and plans provided by the regional management, review by
the Board of actual results against the budgets, review by the Audit
Committee of the ongoing work of the Group's internal audit function
and risk management function, as well as regular business reviews by the
executive Directors.

Whilst these procedures are designed to identify and manage risks
that could adversely impact the achievement of the Group’s business
objectives, they do not provide absolute assurance against material
misstatement, errors, losses or fraud.
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Internal Control Environment

The Board is responsible for monitoring the overall operations of the
businesses within the Group. The Group's internal control procedures
include a comprehensive system for reporting information to the
executive Directors. Business plans and budgets are prepared annually
by the regional management and subject to review and approval by the
executive Directors as part of the Group's three-year corporate planning
cycle. Forecasts for the current year are prepared on a monthly basis,
reviewed for variances to the budget and for approval. When setting
budgets and forecasts, management identifies, evaluates and reports on
the likelihood and potential financial impact of significant business risks.
The executive Directors review the monthly management reports on the
financial results and key operating statistics of each business and hold
monthly meetings with the executive management team to review these
reports, business performance against budgets, forecasts, significant
business risk sensitivities and strategies.

The Group maintains a centralised cash management system for its
subsidiaries’ operations. The Chief Financial Officer has established
guidelines and procedures for the approval and control of expenditures.
Operating expenses are subject to overall budget control and are
controlled within each business with approval levels set by reference
to the level of responsibility of each executive and officer. Capital
expenditures are subject to overall control within the annual budget
review and approval process, and more specific control and approval prior
to commitment by the executive Directors are required for unbudgeted
expenditures.

Internal audit is responsible for assessing the Group's internal control
system, formulating an impartial opinion on the system, and reporting
its findings to the Audit Committee, the Chairman and the senior
management concerned as well as following up on all reports to ensure
that all issues have been satisfactorily resolved. In addition, a regular
dialogue is maintained with the Group’s external auditor so that both
are aware of the significant factors which may affect their respective
scope of work. Depending on the nature of business and risk exposure
of individual business units, the scope of work performed by the internal
audit function includes financial and operations reviews, recurring and
surprise audits, fraud investigations and productivity efficiency reviews.

Group Risk Management

Directors and Officers Liability Insurance is in place to protect Directors
and officers of the Group against their potential legal liabilities.
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(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Resources Cement Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 90 to 203,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2010, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report. We conducted
our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to
the entity’s preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 December 2010 and of
the Group's profit and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
4 March 2011
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Turnover
Cost of sales

Gross profit
Other income
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary

Change in fair value of

an investment property
Selling and distribution expenses
General and administrative expenses
Finance costs
Share of results of associates

Profit before taxation
Taxation

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income
Exchange differences arising on
translation of foreign operations

Other comprehensive income
for the year

Total comprehensive income
for the year

Profit for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive income
attributable to:

Owners of the Company

Non-controlling interests

Basic earnings per share

HiiE

NOTES

39

17

14

—g-®
FET
2010
HK$'000

14,141,537
(9,678,190)

4,463,347
219,646

18,000
(989,731)
(1,211,650)
(268,042)
(188)

2,231,382
(97,537)

2,133,845

491,954

491,954

2,625,799

2,040,833

93,012

2,133,845

2,512,337
113,462

2,625,799

HK$0.313& T

—EENF
FHET
2009
HK$'000

6,906,925
(4,864,817)

2,042,108
76,845

22,399
(1,000)
(474,446)
(469,537)
)

(149,059
6,822

1,054,132
(26,807)

1,027,325

(625)
(625)

1,026,700

1,010,176
17,149

1,027,325

1,009,342
17,358

1,026,700

HK$0.4007%% 7T
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Non-current assets

Fixed assets

Prepaid lease payments
Investment property
Intangible assets
Interests in associates

Interests in jointly controlled entities

Deposits for acquisition of
fixed assets

Deferred tax assets

Long term receivables

Current assets

Inventories
Trade receivables
Other receivables
Amounts due from

jointly controlled entities
Taxation recoverable
Pledged bank deposits
Cash and bank balances

Current liabilities

Trade payables

Other payables

Provisions

Taxation payable

Loan from a non-controlling
shareholder

Bank loans — amount due
within one year

Net current (liabilities) assets

Total assets less current liabilities

Hiit

NOTES

15
16
17
18
20
21

22
23

24

25

26

27
28

29

30

31

32

—s-%%
T
2010
HK$'000

21,862,718
1,631,597
52,000
632,639
20,142
894,669

1,434,851
106,483
336,284

26,971,383

1,182,024
1,481,868
1,221,782

345,901
373

9,220
4,115,340

8,356,508

1,836,221
4,838,088
4,051
52,508

196,129

4,959,792
11,886,789
(3,530,281)

23,441,102

—EENF
F#EIT
2009
HK$'000

14,264,055
443,284
34,000
347,612
8,511

645,755
22,421
264,842

16,030,480

602,380
802,833
624,799

20,991
429,348
5,723,061

8,203,412

950,590
1,140,828
3,915
6,556

3,099,222
5,201,111
3,002,301

19,032,781
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HiaE FERT THET
2010 2009
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
FnBAE Non-current liabilities
RITE Bank loans — amount due
—R—FEEH after one year 32 8,064,356 6,278,373
R3] Provisions 30 38,957 42,695
RAAFER SRIE Long term payable 33 22,967 27,011
RERIEEE Deferred tax liabilities 22 69,533 54,048
8,195,813 6,402,127
15,245,289 12,630,654
IR R 4 Capital and reserves
A& Share capital 34 651,926 651,926
& Reserves 14,124,328 11,605,699
RNAEHER AEL Equity attributable to owners of
the Company 14,776,254 12,257,625
FEPRRHE £ Non-controlling interests 469,035 373,029
U G Total equity 15,245,289 12,630,654
FEI0BEEF203EHGEAMBHREERN-_ZE——  The consolidated financial statements on pages 90 to 203 were approved
E- AN EEEed A RE#ETE WA T and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 4 March 2011 and
PIATREEE: are signed on its behalf by:
JE#E L ZHOU LONGSHAN 2| 5B LAU CHUNG KWOK ROBERT

ZE % DIRECTOR E % DIRECTOR



mERmEER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2010 HE-—ZT—ZTF+=-F= HIEFE
KAREEAREES
BROSE
HEmsE nE

R RGEE HRE  AHEE  EMRE  BRERE  REEA i  RREZz  BnEE
TEL TAL TAT THEL TEL TAL TAT THEL TAEL TAL
(Hrita)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company

Shares held
for share Property Non-
Share Share award Merger  revaluation  Translation Retained controlling Total
capital premium scheme reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests equity
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(Note 44)
RZZZNE-A—H At1January 2009 78,179 2,541,996 - (35,193) 17,810 481,555 1,282,250 4,366,597 34,647 4,401,244
Et2EHA Other comprehensive income
-ERES - exchange differences = = = = = (834) = (834) 209 (625)
EREF Profit for the year = = = = = - 100176 1010176 17,149 1,027,325
FEREHNAR Total comprehensive income and
putote expenses for the year - - - - - (834) 1,010,176 1,009,342 17,358 1,026,700

BOHRHVESES  Issue of new shares for cash

(Hii#34) (Note 34) 563800 6,824,400 - - = = - 7388200 - 7388200
REBBRRERT  Issue of new shares for

HRHAEGR S cash under over-allotment

(Wiztz4) option (Note 34) 9,947 377978 = = = = = 387,925 = 387,925
MR EATRA Issue costs of new shares - (264,143) - - - - - (264,143) - (264,143)
RERG B Purchase of shares under share

BERH award scheme - - (630,296) - - - - (630,296) - (630,296)
BB AR Acquisition of subsidiaries

(Hit38) (Note 38) - - - - - - - - 321,024 321,024
i k3 At 31 December 2009

+-p=t-R 651926 9,480,231 (630,296) (35,193) 17,810 480721 22946 12,251,625 373029 12,630,654
Ef2EHA Other comprehensive income

-EXER - exchange differences - - - - - 471,504 - 471,504 20450 491,954
FERF Profit for the year = = = = = - 2040833 2,040,833 93012 2133845

FEAENAEE Total comprehensive income

for the year - - - - - 471,504 2,040,833 2,512,337 113,462 2,625,799
WERBAR Acquisition of subsidiaries
(Hiit38) (Note 38) - - - - - - - - (7,345) (7,349)
WEREMELRN  Acuiition of
BiMER additional interest of
an existing subsidiary - - - - - - 6,292 6,292 (10,111) (3,819)
RZZ-Z% At 31 December 2010
+-A=+-A 651,926 9,480,231 (630,296) (35,193) 17,810 952,225 4339551 14,776,254 469,035 15,245,289

—EF—FFFFR Annual Report 2010 93
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Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before taxation
Adjustments for:

Depreciation of fixed assets

Impairment loss on
other receivables

Impairment loss recognised

in respect of fixed assets
Amortisation of mining rights
(Gain) loss on change in fair

value of an investment property
Release of prepaid lease

payments
Interest income
Interest expenses

Share of results of associates
Allowance (reversal of allowance)

for doubtful debts

Loss on disposal of fixed assets
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary

Exchange loss

Operating cash inflows before
movements in working capital
Increase in inventories
Increase in trade receivables
Increase in other receivables
Increase in trade payables
Increase (decrease) in
other payables

(Decrease) increase in provisions

Cash generated from operations
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid
Chinese Mainland Enterprise

Income Tax paid

Interest paid

Net cash generated from operating
activities

Hiit

NOTE

39

—s-%%
FH
2010
HK$'000

2,231,382

807,148

14,661

65,350
11,738

(18,000)

28,323

(57,234)
268,042
188

29,055
18,533

38,100

3,437,286
(479,018)
(507,756)
(118,515)

780,868

499,725
(3,602)

3,608,988
(13,714)

(55,850)
(402,740)

3,136,684

—ETNF
T#ETT
2009
HK$'000

1,054,132

432,638

5,671
4,225

1,000

8,683
(11,119)
149,059

(6,822)

(20,533)
872

(22,399)
892

1,596,299
(112,094)
(130,391)

(44,099)
113,249

(11,611)
2,161
1,413,514

(17,976)

(8,273)
(318,007)

1,069,258



REREEENIESRE  Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase and deposit paid for
acquisition of fixed assets

Decrease (increase) in pledged

AU BB [ E B 2 T S AN Y

BEREEEZS
EERRITEZRD
(3 m)
TR 4077 BUR 508
K B H77 BUR H) 38 7R

BE—KBE R

WhEHIE AR (FRRE
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TR EFRIRE I

W BB R

HE—HKMBAF
(IBRERES
ZEY)

E4FE

HEEEBEMSRA
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RIRBE RSB PTA/

HaHER

REREEZEHIRERE  Cash flows from financing activities

FIBIRITE R
AR HIEA R
BTN PR 1S 5R
(IR EEITRAS)
ERPITER
BRI B —RIFEK
BRERER
WIER A B A RN
BRIMEZ
B fn BBt 815 R
BAED IR T — K A&
iy N

MEEPELNEDFR

FERSMREEED

FE Ofid)

FNREFREFED

EXRFEHUIRE K

RITHEBHTE

FRAREMRESEFEY

TS RIB(T RS

bank deposits

Advances to local governments

Repayments from
local governments

Investment in an associate
Acquisition of subsidiaries (net of
cash and cash equivalents)

Additions to prepaid lease

payments

Acquisition of mining rights
Disposal of a subsidiary (net of
cash and cash equivalents)

Interest received

Proceeds from disposal of

fixed assets
Acquisition of jointly
controlled entities

Net cash used in investing activities

Bank loans raised

Settlement of long term payable
Proceeds from issue of shares

net of issue costs

Repayments of bank loans

Repayment of loan from

a non-controlling shareholder
Acquisition of additional interest of

an existing subsidiary

Payment of share award scheme
Deemed distribution to an
intermediate holding company

Net cash generated from

financing activities

Net (decrease) increase in cash and
cash equivalents for the year
Cash and cash equivalents

at beginning of the year

Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes on cash and bank balances

Cash and cash equivalents

at end of the year,

representing cash and bank balances

K1zt

NOTES

38

39

—¥-%F
TR
2010
HK$°000

(6,803,349)

425,016
(228,694)

164,525
(11,517)

(32,266)

(1,012,145)
(123,291)

57,234
19,509

(110,398)

(7,655,376)

9,830,007
(6,602)

(7,027,883)
(37,332)

(3.819)

2,754,371

(1,764,321)
5,723,061

156,600

4,115,340

—EENF
FHET
2009
HK$'000

(5,543,454)
(413,870)
(258,574)
(237,064)
(439,530)

(57,597)
(6,132)
7)
11,119

7,593

(6,937,516)

12,006,562
(6,381)

7,511,982
(7,642,731)

(630,296)

(10,916)
11,228,220

5,359,962
363,889

(790)

5,723,061
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The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Company Law
(2002 Revision) of the Cayman Islands on 13 March 2003 and its
shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
on 6 October 2009. Its immediate holding company is China
Resources Cement Investment Group Limited (formerly known as
Smooth Concept Investments Limited), a company incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands. Its ultimate holding company is
China Resources National Corporation (“CRNC"”), a company
established in the Chinese Mainland.

The Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries (together with the Company hereinafter collectively
referred to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in the
manufacture and sale of cement, concrete and other related
products and services.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in HK$
while the functional currency of the Company is Renminbi. The
Company has selected HK$ as its presentation currency because
the management considered it is more beneficial to the users of
the consolidated financial statements.

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new and
revised standards, amendments and interpretations issued by
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA™)
("new and revised HKFRSs").
HKFRS 2 (Amendments) Group cash-settled share-based
payment transactions
HKFRS 3 Business combinations
(as revised in 2008)
HKAS 24 (Revised) Related party disclosures in
relation to the partial exemption
in paragraphs 25 to 27 for
government-related entities
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HKAS 27
(as revised in 2008)
HKAS 39 (Amendments)

HKFRSs (Amendments)

HKFRSs (Amendments)

HK(FRIC) - INT 17

HK —INT 5

Consolidated and separate financial
statements
Eligible hedged items

Improvements to HKFRSs issued in
2009

Amendments to HKFRS 5 as part of
Improvements to HKFRSs issued
in 2008

Distributions of non-cash assets to
owners

Presentation of financial statements
— Classification by the borrower
of a term loan that contains a
repayment on demand clause

Except as described below, the application of the new and revised
HKFRSs in the current year has had no material effect on the

amounts reported in these consolidated financial statements and/

or disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

HKFRS 3 (as revised in 2008) Business combinations

HKFRS 3 (as revised in 2008) has been applied in the current year
prospectively to business combinations of which the acquisition

date is on or after 1 January 2010 in accordance with the relevant

transitional provisions. Its application has affected the accounting

for acquisition as disclosed in Note 38 in the current year.
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HKFRS 3 (as revised in 2008) allows a choice on a
transaction-by-transaction basis for the measurement
of non-controlling interests at the date of acquisition
(previously referred to as “minority interests”) either
at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ share
of recognised identifiable net assets of the acquiree.
In the current year, in accounting for the acquisition
of additional interests of an existing subsidiary and
subsidiaries disclosed in Note 38, the Group has elected
to measure the non-controlling interests at share
of recognised identifiable net assets at the date of
acquisition.

HKFRS 3 (as revised in 2008) changes the recognition
and subsequent accounting requirements for contingent
consideration. Previously contingent consideration was
recognised at the acquisition date only if payment of
the contingent consideration was probable and it could
be measured reliably; any subsequent adjustments
to the contingent consideration were always made
against the cost of the acquisition. Under the revised
standard, contingent consideration is measured at fair
value at the acquisition date; subsequent adjustments
to the consideration are recognised against the cost of
acquisition only to the extent that they arise from new
information obtained within the measurement period (a
maximum of 12 months from the acquisition date) about
the fair value at the acquisition date. All other subsequent
adjustments to the contingent consideration classified as
an asset or a liability are recognised in profit or loss.

HKFRS 3 (as revised in 2008) requires acquisition-related
costs to be accounted for separately from the business
combination, generally leading to those costs being
recognised as an expense in profit or loss as incurred,
whereas previously they were accounted for as part of the
cost of the acquisition.
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In current year, the application of HKFRS 3 (as revised in 2008) has
no significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

HKAS 27 (as revised in 2008) Consolidated and separate
financial statements

The application of HKAS 27 (as revised in 2008) has resulted
in changes in the Group's accounting policies for changes in
ownership interests in subsidiaries of the Group.

Specifically, the revised standard has affected the Group's
accounting policies regarding changes in the Group’s ownership
interests in its subsidiaries that do not result in loss of control. In
prior years, in the absence of specific requirements in HKFRSs,
increases in interests in existing subsidiaries were treated in the
same manner as the acquisition of subsidiaries, with goodwill or
a bargain purchase gain being recognised, when appropriate;
for decreases in interests in existing subsidiaries that did not
involve a loss of control, the difference between the consideration
received and the adjustment to the non-controlling interests was
recognised in profit or loss. Under HKAS 27 (as revised in 2008),
all such increases or decreases are dealt with in equity, with no
impact on goodwill or in profit or loss.

When control of a subsidiary is lost as a result of a transaction,
event or other circumstance, the revised standard requires the
Group to derecognise all assets, liabilities and non-controlling
interests at their carrying amounts and to recognise the fair value
of the consideration received. Any retained interest in the former
subsidiary is recognised at its fair value at the date the control
is lost. The resulting difference is recognised as a gain or loss in
profit or loss.
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In addition, the Group also applied the consequential
amendments of the other HKFRSs resulting from the issuance of
HKFRS 3 (Revised 2008) and HKAS 27 (Revised 2008). Particularly
HKAS 31 “Interest in joint ventures” for the acquisition of
jointly controlled entities in the current year. The adoption of
the consequential amendments had no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements.

These changes have been applied prospectively from 1 January
2010 in accordance with the relevant transitional provisions
in current year, the Group acquired additional interest of an
existing subsidiary. The difference of HK$6,292,000 between
the consideration paid and the non-controlling interests being
recognised directly in equity, instead of profit or loss.

Amendments to HKAS 17 Leases

As part of “Improvements to HKFRSs" issued in 2009, HKAS
17 "Leases” has been amended in relation to the classification
of leasehold land. Before the amendments to HKAS 17, the
Group was required to classify leasehold land as operating leases
and to present leasehold land as prepaid lease payments in the
consolidated statement of financial position. The amendments
to HKAS 17 have removed such requirement. The amendments
require that the classification of leasehold land should be based
on the general principles set out in HKAS 17, that is, whether or
not substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership
of a leased asset have been transferred to the lessee.

In accordance with the transitional provisions set out in the
amendments to HKAS 17, the Group reassessed the classification
of unexpired leasehold land as at 1 January 2010 based on
information that existed at the inception of the leases. The
adoption of amendment to HKAS 17 “Leases” had no material
impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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HKAS 24 (Revised) Related party disclosures

Paragraphs 25 to 27 of HKAS 24 (Revised) “Related party
disclosures” exempt certain disclosures in relation to the
government-related entities. The Group has applied this disclosure
exemption in the consolidated financial statements.

New and revised standards and interpretations issued but
not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
standards and interpretations that have been issued but are
not yet effective, except for partial exemption from disclosure
requirements for government-related entities in accordance with
HKAS 24 (Revised) “Related party disclosures”.

HKFRSs (Amendments) Improvements to HKFRSs issued
in 2010 except for the
amendments to HKFRS 3 (as
revised in 2008), HKAS 1 and

HKAS 28’

HKFRS 7 (Amendments) Disclosures — Transfers of financial
assets’

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments®

HKAS 12 (Amendments) Deferred tax: Recovery of
underlying assets®
HKAS 24 Related party disclosures?
(as revised in 2009)

HKAS 32 (Amendments) Classification of rights issues”
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HK(IFRIC) — INT 14
(Amendments)

Prepayments of a minimum
funding requirement?

HK(IFRIC) — INT 19 Extinguishing financial liabilities

with equity instruments?

b Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010 or 1 January
2011, as appropriate.

a Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011.
° Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.
6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012.
7 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 February 2010.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of
the new and revised standards, amendments or interpretations
will have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for investment property, which is
measured at fair value, as explained in the accounting policies set
out below.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRS issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.



3
op

e

RAMBRRBEARRRARTIEHE

(EHIBAR]) BTSIHRE - AR EE
ERE BRIV MEERR B XK
Fih ' RIA QA AR b L ERE

Aﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ

RERPTIREESH SRR AR RER
WiEA M B E = E AR B LR

e EmdER (ARG TAKE
RERAAFETRAARERSN) (2E
) e

i 0 By - ANSR B P B 2 RIHOBA TS 3R
KL AR FEHSFTHRENKE R
FREOREE — B

PrERERER S
REFA R E R EEH -

RBER AR ERY

NEBIEYNGIENE SRR SRR 2 SE DS
FEESDFES

DE2EHKEREEFIZERE R

MEBA RN EmE A AR EER
RNATEB A RIEER R - B AR
EEREREREE R —FF—H
—H A IR S ﬁiﬁﬁlifﬁ'a&ﬁ
BENERBIME B AR RS IBRR SN - JEHER
e FTE R EE RN E A 7*&
R SEIERR EaS D B BN E AR

JIEL

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the
Company has the power to govern the financial and operating
policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year
are included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income from the effective date of acquisition or up to the
effective date of disposal (except for subsidiaries under common
control which are accounted for using the principles of merger
accounting), as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line
with those used by the Group.

All'intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are
eliminated on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group's equity therein.

Allocation of total comprehensive income to non-
controlling interests

Total comprehensive income and expense of a subsidiary is
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. Prior to 1 January 2010, losses
applicable to the non-controlling interests in excess of the non-
controlling interests in the subsidiary’s equity were allocated
against the interests of the Group except to the extent that the
non-controlling interests had a binding obligation and were able
to make an additional investment to cover the losses.
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Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

Chanages in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries on or after 1 January 2070

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the
Group's interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries.
Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration
paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to
owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on
disposal is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate
of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value
of any retained interest and (i) the previous carrying amount of
the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary
and any non-controlling interests. Where certain assets of the
subsidiary are measured at revalued amounts or fair values and
the related cumulative gain or loss has been recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity, the amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity are accounted for as if the Company had
directly disposed of the related assets (i.e. reclassified to profit or
loss or transferred directly to retained earnings). The fair value of
any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when
control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition
for subsequent accounting under HKAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement or, when applicable, the cost on
initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a jointly
controlled entity.
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Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries (Continued)

Chanages in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidlaries prior to 1 January 2010

Increases in interests in existing subsidiaries were treated in the
same manner as the acquisition of subsidiaries, with goodwill or
a bargain purchase gain being recognised where appropriate.
For decreases in interests in subsidiaries, regardless of whether
the disposals would result in the Group losing control over
the subsidiaries, the difference between the consideration
received and the adjustment to the non-controlling interests was
recognised in profit or loss.

Business combinations

Business combinations that took place on or after 1
January 2010

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred to the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
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Business combinations (Continued)

Business combinations that took place on or after 1
January 2010 (Continued)

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value at the
acquisition date, except that:

o deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes
and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment transactions of the acquiree or the replacement
of an acquiree’s share-based payment transactions
with share-based payment transactions of the Group
are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment at the acquisition date; and

° assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in
accordance with that Standard.
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Business combinations (Continued)

Business combinations that took place on or after 1
January 2010 (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net
of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed. If, after re-assessment, the net of
the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a
bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net
assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either
at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets on a transaction by transaction basis.
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Business combinations (Continued)

Business combinations that took place prior to 1 January
2010

Acquisition of subsidiaries other than under the Group
reorganisation involving entities under common control, was
accounted for using the purchase method. The cost of the
acquisition was measured at the aggregate of the fair values,
at the date of acquisition, of assets given, liabilities incurred
or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree, plus any costs directly
attributable to the business combination. The acquiree’s
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that met the
relevant conditions for recognition were generally recognised at
their fair value at the acquisition date.

Goodwill arising on acquisition was recognised as an asset and
initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the
acquisition over the Group's interest in the recognised amounts
of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
recognised. If, after assessment, the Group's interest in the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities exceeded the cost of the acquisition, the
excess was recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The interest of minority shareholders in the acquiree was initially
measured at the minority interest’'s proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities of the acquiree.
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Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost less any accumulated impairment loss and is included in
the carrying amount of intangible assets for presentation in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units that is expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination.

Cash generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are
tested for impairment annually, or more frequently whenever
there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. For
goodwill arising on acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-
generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment before the end of that reporting period. If the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the
carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated first
to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the
unit, and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis
of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment
loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable
amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the
amount of profit or loss on disposal.
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Fixed assets

Fixed assets including land and buildings held for use in the
productions or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purpose, other than construction in progress are stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Depreciation is provided so as to write off the cost of items
of fixed assets (other than construction in progress) less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for
on a prospective basis. They are as follows:

Land and buildings
Plant and machinery 3 to 40 years
Logistic equipment 10 to 40 years
Others 3 to 35 years

Over the unexpired lease terms

Construction in progress includes fixed assets in the course
of construction for production or administrative purposes.
Construction in progress is carried at cost less accumulated
impairment losses, if any. Construction in progress is classified
to the appropriate category of fixed asset when completed and
ready for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same
basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are
ready for their intended use.

An item of fixed asset is derecognised upon disposal or when
no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of fixed assets is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the item and is recognised in profit or loss.
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Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation.

On initial recognition, investment properties are measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to
initial recognition, investment properties are measured using the
fair value model. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair
value of investment properties are included in profit or loss for the
year in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the assets (calculated
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the year in
which the item is derecognised.

Mining rights

Mining rights acquired separately or acquired in a business
combination and with finite useful lives are carried at cost
and at their fair value at the acquisition date respectively, less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for mining rights with finite useful lives is provided
on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.

Gain or loss arising from derecognition of mining right is
measured at the difference between the net disposal proceed and
the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the
period when it is derecognised.
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Interests in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a jointly
controlled entity. Significant influence is the power to participate
in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but
is neither control nor joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of an associate are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using the
equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, interests
in associates are initially recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise
the Group'’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the associates. When the Group's share of losses
of an associate equals or exceeds its interest in that associate
(which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form
part of the Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional
losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of that associate.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group's share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities of an associate recognised at the date of acquisition
is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying
amount of the investment.

Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost
of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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Interests in associates (Continued)

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine whether
it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to
the Group's investment in an associate. When necessary, the
entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is
tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 Impairment
of Assets as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount
(higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell) with its
carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms part
of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36
to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with its associate, profits and losses
resulting from the transactions with the associate are recognised
in the Group’ consolidated financial statements only to the extent
of interests in the associate that are not related to the Group.

Interests in joint ventures

Joint venture arrangements that involve the establishment of
a separate entity in which venturers have joint control over the
economic activity of the entity are referred to as jointly controlled
entities.
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Interests in joint ventures (Continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of jointly controlled entities
are incorporated in the consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method,
investments in jointly controlled entities are initially recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit
or loss and other comprehensive income of the jointly controlled
entities. When the Group's share of losses of a jointly controlled
entity equals or exceeds its interest in that jointly controlled entity
(which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form
part of the Group's net investment in the jointly controlled entity),
the Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group
has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments
on behalf of that jointly controlled entity.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities of a jointly controlled entity recognised at the date of
acquisition is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment.

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost
of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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Interests in joint ventures (Continued)

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine whether it
is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to the
Group's investment in a jointly controlled entity. WWhen necessary,
the entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill)
is tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 Impairment
of Assets as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount
(higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell) with its
carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms part
of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36
to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with its jointly controlled entity,
profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the jointly
controlled entity are recognised in the Group’ consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the jointly
controlled entity that are not related to the Group.

Prepaid lease payments

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the
Group assesses the classification of each element as a finance
or an operating lease separately based on the assessment as
to whether substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of each element have been transferred to the Group.
Specifically, the minimum lease payments (including any lump-
sum upfront payments) are allocated between the land and the
building elements in proportion to the relative fair values of the
leasehold interests in the land element and building element of
the lease at the inception of the lease.
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Prepaid lease payments (Continued)

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an
operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments” in the
consolidated statement of financial position and is amortised over
the lease term on a straight-line basis except for those that are
classified and accounted for as investment properties under the
fair value model. When the lease payments cannot be allocated
reliably between the land and building elements, the entire
lease is generally classified as a finance lease and accounted for
as property, plant and equipment, unless it is clear that both
elements are operating leases, in which case the entire lease is
classified as an operating lease.

The up-front payments to acquire leasehold interest in land are
accounted for as operating leases and are stated at cost and
released over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

Impairment (other than goodwill)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If the recoverable amount of an
asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount but to the extent that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior periods. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised as income immediately.
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Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost method.

Revenue recognition

Revenue or turnover is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable and represents amounts
receivable for goods and services provided in the normal course of
business, net of discounts, value added tax and other sales related
taxes.

Sale of goods is recognised when goods are delivered and title
has passed.

Service income is recognised when services are rendered.

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time basis,
by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective
interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts
the estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of
the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial
recognition.
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Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost
of those assets. Capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases
when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets
is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
year in which they are incurred.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income because it excludes items of
income and expense that are taxable or deductible in other years
and it further excludes income and expense items that are never
taxable and deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of each reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
statement of financial position and the corresponding tax bases
used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities
are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences,
and deferred tax assets are generally recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities
in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.
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Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, associates and
jointly controlled entities, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities
and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow
from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities. Deferred tax is recognised in profit or
loss, except when it relates to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the
deferred tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity respectively.

Government grants
Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable

assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.
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Government grants (Continued)

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises the
related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate
as expenses. Government grants related to depreciable assets
are recognised as a deduction from the carrying amount of the
relevant asset in the consolidated statement of financial position
and transferred to profit or loss over the useful lives of the related
assets. Other government grants are recognised as revenue
over the periods necessary to match them with the costs for
which they are intended to compensate, on a systematic basis.
Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in its
functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates) at the rates of
exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end
of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the
date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency
are not retranslated.
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Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the translation of monetary items, are recognised in
profit or loss in the year in which they arise. Exchange differences
arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at
fair value are included in profit or loss for the year except for
differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items in
respect of which gains and losses are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income, in which cases, the exchange differences
are also recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group at the exchange rate prevailing at the end of the
reporting period, and their income and expenses are translated
at the average exchange rates for the year, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during the year, in which case,
the exchange prevailing at the dates of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised as a separate
component of equity (the translation reserve).

From 1 January 2010 onwards, on the disposal of a foreign
operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group's entire interest in a
foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of control over a
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, a disposal involving
loss of joint control over a jointly controlled entity that includes
a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of significant
influence over an associate that includes a foreign operation),
all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect
of that foreign operation attributable to the owners of the
Company are reclassified to profit or loss. In addition, in relation
to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that does not result in the
Group losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share
of accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed to non-
controlling interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. For
all other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates or
jointly controlled entities that do not result in the Group losing
significant influence or joint control), the proportionate share of
the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to profit or
loss.
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Foreign currencies (Continued)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on acquisitions of foreign operations are treated
as assets and liabilities of that foreign operation and retranslated
at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of the reporting
period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in the
translation reserve.

Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases when the terms of the lease
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the
Group. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised as an expense over the lease term on a straight-line
basis.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant leases. Benefits
received and receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating
lease are recognised as a reduction of rental expense over the
lease term on a straight-line basis.
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Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

The Group's financial assets are classified as loans and receivables
and available-for-sale financial assets.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees and interests paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.
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Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Effective interest method (Continued)

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt
instruments.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. At the end of each reporting period, subsequent to initial
recognition, loans and receivables (including trade and other
receivables, long term receivables, pledged bank deposits and
bank balances) are carried at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less any identified impairment losses (see
accounting policy on impairment of financial assets below).

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the
end of each reporting period. Financial assets are impaired where
there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events
that occur after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the
estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have been
impacted.
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Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;
or

o default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or

o it becoming probable that the borrower will enter

bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade receivables,
assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually are
subsequently assessed for impairment on a collective basis.
Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables
could include the Group's past experience of collecting payments,
an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio
past the average credit period as well as observable changes in
national or local economic conditions that correlate with default
on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an impairment loss
is recognised in profit or loss when there is objective evidence
that the asset is impaired, and is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective
interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the impairment
loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows
discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar
financial asset. Such impairment loss will not be reversed in
subsequent periods.
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Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception
of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced
through the use of an allowance account. Changes in the
carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit
or loss. When a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is
written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases and
the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after
the impairment loss was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent
that the carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment
is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have
been had the impairment not been recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group
entity are classified according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities. The Group’s financial liabilities are generally classified
into other financial liabilities.
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Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Interest expenses is recognised on an effective interest basis.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, loan from
a non-controlling shareholder and bank loans are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash
flows from the assets expire or, the financial assets are transferred
and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the financial assets. On derecognition
of a financial asset, the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable
and the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other
comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss. If the Group
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a
transferred asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial
asset and recognise a collateralised borrowing for proceeds
received.
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Financial instruments (Continued)
Derecognition (Continued)

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified
in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Employee benefits

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans,
government-managed retirement benefit schemes and the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are charged as an expense
when employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.

Provision for other employee benefits are recognised when the
Group has a present obligation to provide such benefits to its
employee and is measured at the directors’ best estimate of the
future obligations discounted to its present value where the effect
is material.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that the
Group will be required to settle that obligation. Provisions are
measured at the best estimate of the consideration required to
settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period
taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the
obligation. Where a provision is measured using cash flows
estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is
the present value of those cash flows.
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Estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation
of the value in use of the cash generating units to which goodwiill
has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the
Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from
the cash generating unit (“CGU") and a suitable discount rate
in order to calculate the present value. As at 31 December 2010
and 2009, the carrying amount of goodwill are HK$325,570,000
and HK$186,789,000, respectively. Details of the recoverable
amount calculation are disclosed in Note 19.

Deferred tax assets

The realisability of the deferred tax asset mainly depends on
whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary differences
will be available in the future. In cases where the actual future
profits generated are less than expected, a reversal of deferred tax
assets would be recognised in profit or loss in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income for the year in which such
a reversal takes place. As at 31 December 2010 and 2009, the
carrying amount of deferred tax assets is HK$106,483,000 and
HK$22,421,000, respectively.

Estimated impairment of trade receivables

Where there is objective evidence of impairment loss, the Group
takes into consideration the estimation of future cash flows.
The amount of impairment loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that
have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset's original
effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed
at initial recognition). As at 31 December 2010 and 2009, the
carrying amount of trade receivables are HK$1,481,868,000
(net of allowance for doubtful debts of HK$73,326,000) and
HK$802,833,000 (net of allowance for doubtful debts of
HK$47,672,000), respectively (see Note 25).
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Segment information has been identified on the basis of different
products in internal management reports which are prepared in
accordance with accounting policies conformed with HKFRS, that
are regularly reviewed by the chief executive officer in order to
allocate resources to the reportable segments and to assess their
performance.

The Group's operating and reportable segments under HKFRS 8
are as follows:

Cement — manufacture and sale of cement and related products

Concrete — manufacture and sale of concrete and related
products

Turnover represents the amount received and receivable for goods
sold to outside customers.

Segment results represent the profits earned by each segment
without allocation of central administration costs, directors’
salaries, share of results of associates, interest income and finance
costs and taxation.



DEEBEEREHTIWT The information of segment results are as follows:

BE-_Z—ZHF+-HA=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31 December 2010
XK AL EIE HE
TET TER THERT THERT
Cement Concrete Elimination Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
- DFWE  TURNOVER - SEGMENT
REVENUE
HIMEE External sales 10,804,147 3,337,390 - 14,141,537
D Ep 2 EHE Inter-segment sales 703,202 30 (703,232) =
11,507,349 3,337,420 (703,232) 14,141,537
DEZ BEHEENIRBITMISERTE - Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market prices.
E RESULTS
DEFEE Segment results 2,388,886 158,755 = 2,547,641
A EUA Interest income 57,234
B % & A Finance costs (268,042)
RAOBEA AR Unallocated corporate expenses (105,263)
JE{GEEZ N AIEEAE  Share of results of associates (188)

B A5 A 22 F Profit before taxation 2,231,382



BE_ETNE+—_A=1+—HILEE For the year ended 31 December 2009

K NNt 3 pcke
FHT FHT FHT FHT
Cement Concrete Elimination Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BELE - S  TURNOVER - SEGMENT
REVENUE
HIMNHE External sales 5,070,678 1,836,247 - 6,906,925
7 #b 2 FISHE Inter-segment sales 347,623 86 (347,709) -
5,418,301 1,836,333 (347,709) 6,906,925
DE 2 FIHE TR TS BRTE o Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market prices.
E RESULTS
D EBELE Segment results 1,012,795 225,123 = 1,237,918
A EHA Interest income 11,19
B % & A Finance costs (149,059)
APBERARIFRAX Unallocated corporate expenses (52,668)
JE{GEEZ N A)ZELE  Share of results of associates 6,822

Br AT & Profit before taxation 1,054,132



DEEEED A BENERBIIAT -

Information of segment assets and segment liabilities are as

follows:
R+=A=+—H
—E-2F —ETNF
THExT FAT
As at 31 December
2010 2009
HK$°000 HK$'000
BE Assets
DEPE EE Segment assets
—7KJE — Cement 26,783,226 16,285,498
— BT — Concrete 2,637,836 1,397,445
29,421,062 17,682,943
REE N R R Interests in associates 20,142 8,511
A HL [R5 I B BE ) A Interests in jointly
controlled entities 894,669 -
RIEFHIAE E Deferred tax assets 106,483 22,421
ARFIE Taxation recoverable 373 20,991
RAOBERARIEE (Mita) Unallocated corporate
assets (note a) 4,885,162 6,499,026
e BERTE Consolidated total assets 35,327,891 24,233,892
= Liabilities
SEERE Segment liabilities
— 7K — Cement 4,815,498 1,711,655
—RREL — Concrete 903,510 435,159
5,719,008 2,146,814
MIBAE Tax liabilities 122,041 60,604
RABRABIERE (52b) Unallocated corporate
liabilities (note b) 14,241,553 9,395,820
maBafEes Consolidated total liabilities 20,082,602 11,603,238
it notes:
a RO ARIEERR e RRITHEM EER a Unallocated corporate assets represent cash and bank balances, pledged
BITEFRREDEE- bank deposits and assets of the headquarters.
b AABMRRBERRTER AN EA b Unallocated corporate liabilities represent bank loans and other payables

FERTFRIE - RNRTT B R AN SR BB 7530
SHER  BZEHEEIND RRDBL AR liabilities because they are managed centrally by the treasury function of
afEe the Group.

of the headquarters. The bank loans are classified as unallocated corporate
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Additions to fixed assets

Additions to mining rights

Additions to prepaid lease
payments

Additions to goodwill

Increase (decrease) in deposits
for acquisition of fixed assets

Depreciation of fixed assets

(Reversal of) allowance for
doubtful debts

Amortisation of mining rights

Release of prepaid lease
payments

Gain on change in fair value of
an investment property

Loss (gain) on disposal of
fixed assets

Impairment loss on fixed assets

Other information

K
FEx

Cement
HK$'000
5,359,826
123,291

967,897
116,550

799,075
708,958

(847)
11,738

26,328

18,871
61,020

=y g
TER

Concrete
HK$'000

505,739

44,248
16,626

(9,979)
97,552

29,902

1,995

(18,000)

(341)
4,330

For the year ended 31 December 2010

AT
THER
Corporate
level
HK$'000

294

mEBE
THERT
Consolidated
total
HK$'000

5,865,859
123,291

1,012,145
133,176

789,096
807,148

29,055
11,738

28,323

(18,000)

18,533
65,350



HuEd (&) Other information (Continued)

HEZZNFTA=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2009
Kk SRR L NS A
FET FHEL FHEL FHEL
Corporate  Consolidated
Cement Concrete level total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
NEBETEEE Additions to fixed assets 5,023,455 235,787 1,850 5,261,092
FRUERESZ N Additions to mining rights 6,132 - - 6,132
TENTEEFIEL I Additions to prepaid lease
payments 49,307 8,290 - 57,597
P IE N Additions to goodwill 123,950 = = 123,950
BERETEEER] Increase in deposits for
o Yl acquisition of fixed assets 550,431 22,299 = 572,730
EEEWE Depreciation of fixed assets 377,184 54,994 460 432,638
RIZRREEED Reversal of allowance for
doubtful debts (1,146) (19,387) - (20,533)
PRUE R 65 Amortisation of mining rights 4,225 - - 4,225
TERTEEFIEES  Release of prepaid lease
payments 8,264 419 - 8,683
REYENTFEE  Losson change in fair value of
SEELNERE an investment property - 1,000 = 1,000
HEFETEEERE  Loss (gain) on disposal of
(zs) fixed assets 792 133 (53) 872
FEEERERE  Impairment loss on fixed assets 5,671 = = 5,671
EER Geographical information
REBMFEIERESEE (T RIERER All non-current assets of the Group excluding deferred tax assets

BEE) BRI E RN KB are located in the Chinese Mainland and Hong Kong.
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THET

2010

HK$'000

Interest income 57,234

Exchange gain 48,173

Government incentives 70,482

Sales of scrap materials 9,294
Compensation received

from insurance 5,983

Service income 768

Rental income 13,834

Others 13,878

219,646

—B-%F

FTHET

2010

HK$'000

Interests on:
Bank loans wholly
repayable within five
years 393,017
Bank loans wholly
repayable after five

years 9,723
Long term payable 1,855
404,595

Less: Amount capitalised to

fixed assets (136,553)

268,042

—EENF
F#ETT
2009
HK$'000

11,119

33,061
6,440

3,290
3,038
10,247
9,650

76,845

—ETENF
T
2009
HK$'000

318,007

156

318,163

(169,104)

149,059

Capitalisation rate of borrowing costs to expenditure on
qualifying assets is approximately 4.7% (2009: 5.0%).
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Profit before taxation has
been arrived at after
charging (crediting):

Directors’ emoluments
(Note 9)

Pension costs and
mandatory provident
fund contributions
excluding directors

Other staff costs

Total staff costs

Allowance (reversal of
allowance) for
doubtful debts
Amortisation of
mining rights (included
in general and
administrative expenses)
Auditor’s remuneration
Depreciation of fixed assets
Exchange loss
Impairment loss
on other receivables
Impairment loss recognised
in respect of fixed assets
(included in general and
administrative expenses)
Loss on disposal of
fixed assets
Operating lease payments
in respect of
— rented premises
— motor vehicles
Release of prepaid lease
payments

—s-%%

TERT
2010
HK$'000

8,011

57,620
954,731

1,020,362

29,055

11,738
3,995
807,148

14,661

65,350

18,533

24,039

62,696

28,323

—EENF
FHEIT
2009
HK$'000

8,488

50,282
448,862

507,632

(20,533)

4,225
3,452
432,638
342

5,671
872
23,698
27,891

8,683



EEME Directors’ emoluments

BE—E-—EFt+-A=+—HLEE For the year ended 31 December 2010
BREHA
RaFI
ESHe HeEREE AR META st
THER THERT THER TR TR
Pension
costs and
Salaries  mandatory
Directors’ and provident Discretionary
EEpg Name of director fees  allowances fund bonus Total

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000

[E & ZHOU Junging 50 1,937 163 650 2,800
[EBEL ZHOU Longshan 50 1,410 106 1,063 2,629
ot LAU Chung Kwok Robert 50 1,041 104 775 1,970
R LI Fuzuo 29 - - - 29
HXE DU Wenmin 50 = = = 50
v yii) WEI Bin 50 - - - 50
e IP Shu Kwan Stephen 138 - - - 138
2 ZENG Xuemin 138 - - - 138
MEE LAM Chi Yuen 138 - = = 138
kg XU Yongmo 69 = = = 69

762 4,388 373 2,488 8,011
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Name of director

ZHOU Junging

ZHOU Longshan

LAU Chung Kwok Robert
LI Fuzuo

DU Wenmin

WEI Bin

IP Shu Kwan Stephen
ZENG Xuemin

LAM Chi Yuen

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2009

EREKA

Riamit
EXe  FelkEh  LAREHR BRI
TRT TR TET TR

Pension

costs and

Salaries mandatory
Directors' and provident  Discretionary
fees allowances fund bonus

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

13 1,773 129 1,446
13 1,300 97 1,325
13 991 92 843
13 = = =
13 = = =
13 = = =
138 = = =
138 = = =
138 = = =

492 4,064 318 3,614

st
TAT

Total
HK$'000

3,361
2,735
1,939
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1,000,0017% 7T %2,000,0007% 7T
2,000,001;% 7T, 23,000,000/ 7T
3,000,0017% 7T, 24,000,000/ 7T
4,000,001/ 7T £ 5,000,000/ 7T
5,000,001 7T £6,000,0007 7T

6,000,001 7T 27,000,000 7T

The five highest paid individuals in the Group in 2010 do not
include any director. The five highest paid individuals in 2009
included three directors of the Company whose emoluments are

included in the disclosures in Note 9 above. The emoluments of

the five (2009: remaining two) individuals were as follows:

—E-Z2F

FERT

2010

HK$'000

Salaries and allowances 26,485

Pension costs and

mandatory provident

fund contributions 363

26,848

—ETNF
FHETT
2009
HK$'000

3,789

199

3,988

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

—s-%%

TR

2010

HK$'000
HK$1,000,001 to

HK$2,000,000 -
HK$2,000,001 to

HK$3,000,000 -
HK$3,000,001 to

HK$4,000,000 1
HK$4,000,001 to

HK$5,000,000 1
HK$5,000,001 to

HK$6,000,000 1
HK$6,000,001 to

HK$7,000,000 2

—ETNF
FHET
2009
HK$'000
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Current taxation
Hong Kong Profits Tax
Chinese Mainland
Enterprise Income Tax
Underprovision
in prior years

Deferred taxation (Note 22)
Hong Kong
Chinese Mainland

= i
TR
2010
HK$°000

15,928

118,932

134,860

4,936
(42,259)

(37,323)
97,537

—EENF
F#ETT
2009
HK$'000

15,186

20,291

1,954

37,431

2,335
(12,959)

(10,624)

26,807

Hong Kong Profits Tax was calculated at 16.5% of the estimated

assessable profit for both years.

Chinese Mainland Enterprise Income Tax represents the income

tax in the Chinese Mainland which is calculated at the prevailing

tax rate on the taxable income of the group entities in the

Chinese Mainland.
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According to the Chinese Mainland tax laws and regulations,
certain subsidiaries, which are established in the Chinese
Mainland, are exempted from Chinese Mainland Foreign
Enterprise Income Tax (the “FEIT”) for the first two years
starting from their first profit-making year after offsetting the
accumulated losses brought forward from previous five years,
followed by a 50% reduction on the FEIT for the next three years
(“Tax Holiday").

Under the Law of the Chinese Mainland on Enterprise Income Tax
(the "EIT Law"”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law,
the tax rate of the subsidiaries in the Chinese Mainland is 25%
in respect of 2009 and 2010, except for certain subsidiaries that
previously enjoyed a preferential tax rate prior to 1 January 2008,
which will be gradually transited to the new tax rate over five
years from 1 January 2008 and certain subsidiaries that previously
enjoyed the Tax Holiday will continue to enjoy such preferential
tax treatment until the expiry of such prescribed period.

No deferred tax liabilities has been provided for in the
consolidated financial statements in respect of the temporary
differences attributable to the undistributed retained profits
of HK$4,704,204,000 as at 31 December 2010 (2009:
HK$2,303,142,000) earned by the subsidiaries established in
the Chinese Mainland as the Group is able to control the timing
of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.
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The charge for the year can be reconciled to the consolidated

profit before taxation as follows:

—E-Z2F

TET

2010

HK$'000

Profit before taxation 2,231,382

Tax at the Chinese

Mainland Enterprise

Income Tax rate of 25% 557,845

Tax effect of expenses

that are not deductible

in determining taxable

profit 67,481
Tax effect of income

that are not taxable in

determining taxable

profit (34,140)
Tax effect of reduced tax

rate under Tax Holiday (533,750)
Tax effect of tax losses not

recognised 64,920
Tax effect of utilisation of

tax losses not previously

recognised (16,064)
Tax effect of share of

results of associates 47
Effect of different tax rates

of subsidiaries operating

in other jurisdictions (8,802)

Underprovision in prior
years -

Taxation expense for the
year 97,537

—ETENF

TAT
2009
HK$'000

1,054,132

263,533

21,469

(8,570)

(267,987)

28,348

(731)

(1,706)

(9,503)

1,954

26,807
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Employees in Hong Kong may be offered to participate in the
Group's defined contribution retirement schemes or to join the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF”). The assets of the
defined contribution retirement scheme are held separately in
independently administered funds. The amount of contributions is
based on a specified percentage of the basic salaries of employees
and is charged to profit or loss in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income. Any forfeited contributions in respect
of unvested benefits of staff leavers will be used to reduce the
Group's contributions. There was no significant amount of
unutilised forfeited contributions at the end of each reporting
period. The assets under the MPF are held separately from those
of the Group in funds under the control of the trustee. The Group
and each of the employees make monthly contributions to the
MPF.

The employees of the Group in the Chinese Mainland are
members of government-managed retirement benefit schemes
operated by the respective local government in the Chinese
Mainland. The Group is required to contribute a specified
percentage of payroll cost to the retirement benefit schemes to
fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect
to these schemes is to make the specified contributions.

—B-BF C—ZTIAF

THET FAET

2010 2009

HK$'000 HK$'000

Proposed final dividend 293,366 -

The Board did not declare the payment of any interim dividend
for the year (2009: Nil). At the meeting held on 4 March 2011,
the Board proposed a final dividend of HK$0.045 per share for
the year (2009: Nil). The total amount of the proposed final
dividend, calculated on the Company’s number of shares issued
as at the date of this annual report, is not recognised as a liability
in the consolidated financial statements.
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The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to the
owners of the Company is based on the following data:

—®-8%F C—ZTAF

THET T
2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000
Earnings
Earnings attributable to
owners of the Company
for the purpose of
basic earnings per share 2,040,833 1,010,176
R+=A=+—H
—g-BF _—TTNF
As at 31 December
2010 2009

Number of shares
Weighted average number of
shares for the purpose of

basic earnings per share 6,519,255,462  2,523,517,029

No diluted earnings per share is presented as the Company did
not have any potential ordinary shares outstanding.
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CoST

At 1 January 2009

Additions

Acquisition of subsidiaries
(Note 38)

Transfer upon completion of
construction in progress

Disposals

Exchange adjustments

At 31 December 2009

Additions

Acquisition of subsidiaries
(Note 38)

Transfer upon completion of
construction in progress

Disposals

Exchange adjustments

At 31 December 2010

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
AND IMPAIRMENT

At 1 January 2009

Charge for the year

Disposals

Impairment loss recognised in
profit or loss (note)

Exchange adjustments

At 31 December 2009
Charge for the year
Disposals

Impairment loss recognised

in profit or loss (note)
Exchange adjustments

At 31 December 2010

CARRYING VALUES
At 31 December 2010

At 31 December 2009

TR
BE
TR
Land and
buildings
HK$'000

1,191,913
71,939

371,104
697,552

(2,578)
(135)

2,329,795
184,659

143,088
1,949,014

(10,814)
14,474

4,670,216

164,522
41,317
@77)

2,611
17

208,190
84,324
(4,855)

10,840
7,280

305,779

4,364,437

2,121,605

BER
R
TR
Plant and
machinery
HK$'000

4,665,912
312,933

325,693
2,056,780

(10,925)
(641)

7,349,752
962,926

326,478
4,479,090

(56,594)
255,567

13,317,219

959,721
312,740
(6,293)

3,060
136

1,269,364
580,593
(43,913)

48,829
54,435

1,909,308

11,407,911

6,080,388

WRRE
TR
Logistic
equipment
HKS$'000

734,551
135,489

9,289
59,222

(2427)
(95)

936,029
358,735

41,549
302,957

(29,506)
30,724

1,640,488

216,934
56,156
(2,249)

22

270,863
103,800
(10,916)

9,564
373,311

1,267,177

665,166

Hit
TET

Others
HK$'000

326,805
22,769

48,951
49,466

(2,605)
(44)

445,342
83,598

41,021
138,720

(4,331)
15,122

719,472

91,038
22,425
(1,251)

112,220
38,431
(3519

5,681
4,104

156,917

562,555

333,122

ERIR
THERT
Construction
in progress
HK$'000

2,637,297
4,717,962

571,905
(2,863,020

(376)

5,063,774
4,275,941

1,576,005
(6,869,781)

214,699

4,260,638

4,260,638

5,063,774

aE
TER

Total
HK$'000

9,556,478
5.261,092

1,326,942

(18,535)
(1,285)

16,124,692
5,865,859

2,128,141

(101,245)
590,586

24,608,033

1,432,215
432,638
(10,070)

5,671
183

1,860,637
807,148
(63,203)

65,350
75,383

2,745,315

21,862,718

14,264,055
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Others mainly comprise furniture and equipment and leasehold
improvements.

note: During the year ended 31 December 2010, the directors of the Company
conducted a review of the Group's production assets and determined that
the assets of certain subsidiaries were fully impaired due to damage and
obsolescence. Accordingly, impairment losses of HK$65,350,000 (2009:
HK$5,671,000) have been recognised in respect of those fixed assets.

—g-2F —TEINF

FTET FET
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000
Carrying values of the land
and buildings of the
Group comprise:
Properties in Hong Kong
held on
— medium-term leases 173,124 177,886
Properties in the Chinese
Mainland held on
— medium-term leases 4,191,257 1,943,662
— short-term leases 56 57
4,364,437 2,121,605

Included in construction in progress at 31 December 2010 is
interest capitalised of approximately HK$65,009,000 (2009:
HK$129,445,000).



—2-2F "TTNHF

FERT FHET
2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000
AN HERIEBEE Total prepaid lease
payments:
R B R i 9 R BRI S i Medium-term leasehold
land in the Chinese
Mainland 1,667,584 454,570
I IR —FRR Bz P R A EIE Less: Amount which will be
(FrAE M EWKFRIEA) charged to profit or
loss within one year
(included in other
receivables) (35,987) (11,286)
1,631,597 443,284
TENHEFIERE ST - Movements of prepaid lease payments are as follows:

—g-gF —TTAF

FET FAET
2010 2009
HK$°000 HK$'000
FREER Balance at beginning of
the year 454,570 300,679
NE Additions 1,012,145 57,597
WM B A | (A7:38) Acquisition of subsidiaries
(Note 38) 210,773 105,025
F N Release for the year (28,323) (8,683)
b AR Exchange adjustments 18,419 (48)
FRIER Balance at end of the year 1,667,584 454,570
TEFTH E R A AN P35 =504 The lease terms over which the prepaid lease payments are

TEo amortised ranged from 35 years to 50 years.
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—B-BF _—TTNF

THxT FHT
2010 2009
HK$°000 HK$'000

Balance at beginning of
the year 34,000 35,000
Change in fair value 18,000 (1,000)
Balance at end of the year 52,000 34,000

Investment property with fair values of HK$52,000,000 and
HK$34,000,000 as at 31 December 2010 and 2009 respectively,
comprised solely a leasehold property in Hong Kong. This
investment property was valued by an independent qualified
professional valuer, DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Limited, by
reference to the market sales comparable approach.

All of the Group’s leasehold interests in land held under
operating leases to earn rental are classified and accounted for as
investment property.

The carrying value of investment property shown above
comprises:

—-BF —TINF

FTERT T
2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000

Properties in Hong Kong
held on long lease 52,000 34,000



[EES PRUERE st
FET FET FHET
Mining
Goodwill rights Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
D2 cosT
RZZEZNF—H—H At1 January 2009 62,841 85,405 148,246
NE Additions - 6,132 6,132
W BB B A A Acquisition of subsidiaries
(H1iE38) (Note 38) 123,950 83,962 207,912
[ 5 % Exchange adjustments ) (11) (13)
RZZEZTNF At 31 December 2009
+=—A=+—H 186,789 175,488 362,277
NE Additions - 123,291 123,291
A npE=lNG] Acquisition of subsidiaries
(H1a£38) (Note 38) 133,176 28,683 161,859
bE o SR Exchange adjustments 5,605 6,817 12,422
RZE—FF At 31 December 2010
+=-—A=+—8 325,570 334,279 659,849
EE § ACCUMULATED
AMORTISATION
RZZTZNF—H—H At1 January 2009 - 10,439 10,439
FEMRXZ Charge for the year - 4,225 4,225
ME 5, B Exchange adjustments = 1 1
RZZETNF At 31 December 2009
+=-A=+—H” - 14,665 14,665
FERY Charge for the year = 11,738 11,738
ME 5, B Exchange adjustments = 807 807
RZE—FF At 31 December 2010
+=-A=+—A” - 27,210 27,210
R FE CARRYING VALUES
RZE—FF At 31 December 2010
+=—A=+—H 325,570 307,069 632,639
RZZEZTNF At 31 December 2009
+=-—A=+—H 186,789 160,823 347,612
B A2 A E T 05 250 T The useful lives of mining rights are ranged from 10 years to 50

%o years.
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The management regularly determines if there is impairment of
any of its CGUs containing goodwill.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill has been
allocated to the groups of CGUs comprising the cement
operating segment and concrete operating segment. The
carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to the group of CGUs of
cement and concrete are approximately HK$286,773,000 (2009:
HK$164,898,000) and HK$38,797,000 (2009: HK$21,891,000),
respectively.

The recoverable amounts of the group of CGUs of cement
and concrete have been determined based on the value in use
calculation. That calculation uses cash flow projections based on
financial budgets approved by the management covering a five-
year period with growth rate of 3% (2009: 3%), and discount
rate of 11% (2009: 11%). This growth rate is based on the
industry growth forecasts and does not exceed the average
long-term growth rate for the relevant industry. The cash flows
beyond the five year period are extrapolated using zero growth
rate. The key assumption for the value in use calculation is the
budgeted gross margin, which is determined based on the unit's
past performance and management’s expectations for the market
development.

Management believes that any reasonably possible change
in any of these assumptions would not cause the aggregate
carrying amount of cement and concrete segments to exceed
the aggregate recoverable amount of cement and concrete
segments.
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—2-2F "TTNHF

FHT FAET
2010 2009
HK$°000 HK$'000
Unlisted shares, at cost 65,243 53,424
Less: Impairment loss
recognised (45,000) (45,000)
Share of post-acquisition
profits and other
comprehensive income (101) 87
20,142 8,511

During the year 2009, the Group acquired 29.31% equity interest
in an associate, SDIC Hainan Cement Co. Ltd. (subsequently
renamed as China Resources Cement (Changjiang) Limited)
("Hainan Cement”), for a consideration of RMB269,000,000
(equivalent to HK$305,218,000) and a tender deposit of
RMB60,000,000 (equivalent to HK$68,154,000) was made
by the Group as at 31 December 2008 and included as other
receivables. In September 2009, the Group acquired additional
34.14% equity interest for the consideration of RMB324,846,000
(equivalent to HK$368,941,000) in this associate, which
then became a 63.45% owned subsidiary of the Company.
Accordingly, the carrying amount of the Group’s interest in
this associate had been transferred as part of consideration for
acquisition of a subsidiary in 2009 (see Note 38).



AEEBE R RRFFIBI T

BENTEM A 3L e B
Place of

Name of associate incorporation

XERBARRA BE

Man Wah Quarry Limited Hong Kong

BEFEEmNE FR B A3t
BREERT

Guangxi Rungui Water Chinese Mainland

Transportation Limited

BEESREL HE A,
BERETAF

Hainan Haidao Concrete Chinese Mainland
Co., Ltd.

i ARERAXEERERATEBITRA
BI50% - A AT ER A AEEER LY
SERERARTEEALEN Bt R
XERBRERADORS R EARER
KRB A R R -

Details of the Group's associates are as follows:

BERTR  AERERACRORE

BRREEMER REERLLA

BB _—TTNF

Issued and fully Proportion of nominal

paid share capital/ value of issued share
registered capital  capital held by the Group
2010 2009
100,000/ 7T 50% 50%
(it) (it)
HK$100,000 50% 50%
(note) (note)
AR %20,000,0007T 49% N
RMB20,000,000 49% N/A
AE#20,000,0007 30% 30%
RMB20,000,000 30% 30%

note:

FEXHK

Principal activity

EEXE

[nactive

&%

Transportation

RRTEERHE

Manufacture and sale of
concrete

The Group holds 50% of the issued capital of Man Wah Quarry Limited.
The directors of the Company consider that the Group only has significant

influence over Man Wah Quarry Limited and hence the interest in Man

Wah Quarry Limited is classified as interest in an associate of the Group.



BN B E N RN ARSI ZH The summarised financial information in respect of the Group's

ONNE associates is set out below:
—g-8F C—2TNF
FET THET
2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000
BERE Total assets 82,627 58,961
BfEME Total liabilities (29,731) (30,647)
BEFE Net assets 52,896 28,314
REEEEHERARNEETE Group's share of net assets
of associates 20,142 8,511
EE Turnover 81,712 197,945
FEAR Profit for the year 54 23,279
REEREHERRINFEEE Group's share of results of

associates for the year (188) 6,822



R-ZE-—TF+_A=+—H F&EBR

TV 24 R P A

DEER

Name of company

REIt A RRAR A

China Century Cement Limited

B2 EXARAF
Easy Point Industrial Limited

TIEKRAR DA

Squareal Cement Limited

B L 4t B

Place of
incorporation

BRE

Bermuda

BB
Hong Kong

BB
Hong Kong

HEEH ERRAE AR

As at 31 December 2010, the Group had interests in the
following jointly controlled entities:

ERITEER

Nominal value
of issued
ordinary shares

26,2903 7T

US$26,290

5,000/ 7T
HK$5,000

10,000/ 7
HK$10,000

ARBEE
ERITRE

B [E0 1B A9t 51
Proportion of
nominal value of

issued share capital
held by the Group

50%

50%

50%
50%

50%
50%

Principal activity

KRR 1 FE
HEBHE

Manufacture and sale of

cement and concrete
products

RHEERY
Provision of management
services

KR E S
Manufacture and sale of
cement

Jointly controlled entities are accounted for using the equity

method of accounting.
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—g-2F —TEIAF

THET FET
2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000
Cost of unlisted
investments in jointly
controlled entities 617,731 -
Loan to a jointly
controlled entity 276,938 -
894,669 -

As 31 December 2010, included in the cost of investment in
jointly controlled entities is goodwill of HK$141,235,000 arising
on acquisitions of jointly controlled entities during the year.
The aggregate consideration of the acquisitions of interests in,
and assignment of the loans to the jointly controlled entities is
HK$1,240,570,000. The consideration included the acquisition
cost of HK$617,731,000 for the interests in the jointly controlled
entities and settlement of HK$622,839,000 for loans from the
selling shareholders. As at 31 December 2010, an aggregate
amount of HK$1,130,172,000 had not been settled and included
in other payables.

The loan to a jointly controlled entity was unsecured, bear interest
at prevailing market borrowing rate and repayable from 2020
onwards by ten equal instalments.

The summarised financial information in respect of the Group's
interests in the jointly controlled entities which are accounted for
using equity method is set out below:

THET

HK$'000

Current assets 719,367
Non-current assets 1,306,510
Current liabilities 568,318
Non-current liabilities 732,291

Non-controlling interests 248,772



HRAEER T —FF+—A=1—H
SEREARZEHEBNEE HEE—F
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AT BASRE RN EBELETIREE
(BE) BRAFEANES) -

RZZTNF—H—H  At1January 2009
AER (MK)EEA (Charge) credit for the year

(Mt 11) (Note 11)

WK B A Al Acquisition of subsidiaries
(Hi#38) (Note 38)

B 5 % Exchange adjustments

RZEENFFZA At 31 December 2009
==
AEEFA () Credit (charge) for the year

(Hit 11) (Note 11)
-1 Acquisition of subsidiaries
(f17£38) (Note 38)
[E 5 A% Exchange adjustments
RZZ-FF At 31 December 2010
+=A=+-H

During the year ended 31 December 2010, there is no income
or expenses recognised in profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as the Group completed its acquisitions of the jointly
controlled entities on 31 December 2010.

The following are the major deferred tax assets (liabilities)
recognised by the Group and movements thereon during the
year.

EBAHE RENE
illps 273 DVER DYEE

HiE RE 28 HEER st
TER TR TER TR TR
Change
Fair value in fair
Accelerated  adjustments value of

tax  onbusiness investment
depreciation combinations property Tax losses Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

(26,852) (4,263) = 9,616 (21,499)
(2,335) 164 = 12,795 10,624
= (20,763) = = (20,763)

= 1 = 10 1
(29,187) (24,861) = 22,421 (31,627)
642 5,961 (5,579) 36,299 37,323

= (16,176) = 46,696 30,520

= (333) - 1,067 734

(28,545) (35,409) (5,579) 106,483 36,950
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R=ZFE—ZFF+-_A=+—H 4%
B HEERRANO KRS AT IE
B 18 51,072,646,0008 T (-2 F
FLE 493,890,000/ L) X E 5
$8411,278,0008 L (ZE T NF:
113,593,000/ 7T ) B iR IR R 18 & 2=
£ T B B I8 E518661,368,000/8 7T (=
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iNc)

FRBK
FRER
Yo B /8 1 )
BE SR

B —F AR ERFIR
(T AR AL EUERIR)

RER

Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities

=
TR
2010
HK$°000

106,483

(69,533)

36,950

—EENF
F#ETT
2009
HK$'000

22,421
(54,048)

(31,627)

As at 31 December 2010, the Group has unused tax losses of
HK$1,072,646,000 (2009: HK$493,890,000) available to offset
against future profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of HK$411,278,000 (2009: HK$113,593,000) of
such losses. No deferred tax assets have been recognised in
respect of the remaining tax losses of HK$661,368,000 (2009:
HK$380,297,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses of
approximately HK$242,963,000 (2009: HK$168,800,000) which
will expire 5 years from the year of origination. Other losses may

be carried forward indefinitely.

At the beginning of

the year
Advances during the year
Repayment during the year
Acquisition of subsidiaries
Exchange adjustments

Less: Amount due within
one year (included
in other receivables)

At the end of the year

—¥-%F
TR
2010
HK$°000

377,473
228,694
(164,525)
43,253

13,690

498,585

(162,301)

336,284

—EENF
FHETT
2009
HK$'000

118,916
258,574

(17)

377,473

(112,631)

264,842
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The advances were made to the local governments to facilitate
the transfer of land for the Group for construction of production
lines. The advances were unsecured and carried interest at the
prevailing market borrowing rates determined by The People’s
Bank of China.

—g-®F _—TThS

FET FHEIT
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000

Raw materials and
consumables 833,891 402,606
Work in progress 146,086 67,555
Finished goods 202,047 132,219
1,182,024 602,380

—g-®F —TEAF

F&ET FET
2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000
Trade receivables from
third parties 1,471,460 799,999
Trade receivables from
fellow subsidiaries 10,408 2,834
1,481,868 802,833

The Group has a policy of allowing an average credit period to its
customers ranging from 0 to 60 days from the date of issuance of
invoices.



AT AR S HREBARBIEEE B YR The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables (net of

FEW B 5 AR (Hkr RIEBREE) HOBR e allowance for doubtful debts) presented based on the invoice
VARl date at the end of each reporting period.
—E-FF —ETNEF
FTET FHET
2010 2009
HK$°000 HK$'000
0£90H 0 to 90 days 1,311,824 727,022
91£180H 91 to 180 days 136,886 44,138
1812365H 181 to 365 days 33,158 31,673
1,481,868 802,833
BHERBENERE SRR KRR Ageing of trade receivables which are past due but not
impaired

—g-%8F -—TINA

FER FAT
2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000
BHEI1Z=90H Past due 1 to 90 days 336,517 365,378
#1HA91E180H Past due 91 to 180 days 72,748 46,519
#HA1812365H Past due 181 to 365 days 28,464 26,730
437,729 438,627

REEE I R L S B HAAE AR A (R AR The Group does not hold any collateral over the balances which

an e are past due.
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Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts

—g-2F —TEIAF

FTERT TAT
2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000

Balance at beginning of

the year 47,672 72,169
Allowance (reversal of

allowance) for doubtful

debts 29,055 (20,533)
Amount written off as

uncollectible (6,465) (3,947)
Exchange adjustments 3,064 (17)
Balance at end of the year 73,326 47,672

In determining the recoverability of trade receivables, the Group
considers any changes in the credit quality of individual trade
receivables from the date credit was initially granted up to the
reporting date. The concentration of credit risk is limited due
to the customer base being large and unrelated. Accordingly,
the directors of the Company believe that there is no further
allowance required in excess of the current amount of allowance
for doubtful debts.

The amounts due from jointly controlled entities were unsecured,
bear interest at prevailing market borrowing rate and repayable
on demand.

All bank deposits of HK$9,220,000 (2009: HK$7,961,000) have
been pledged to secure sales contracts with customers. No bank
deposits have been pledged to secure banking facilities (2009:
HK$421,387,000).



RE RRITHERBIEASERANRE R Cash and bank balances comprise cash held by the Group and

IRITEEER (BB VIR EREF =EAR bank balances (including short-term bank deposits with maturity
B HAR R BRSRTTIE R © within three months from initial inception).
—B-BF _TThEF
% %
2010 2009
% %
RITIF A R & [ Range of interest rates of
the bank balances 0.01-2.23 0.01 -3.60
ST ARITHEARRI LAPTS N B R HIThAL B Included in bank balances are the following amounts
AN B EHERRIEA T © denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of

the entity to which they are related.

—g-®F —TTNE

FTERT T
2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000

BT HK$ 1,557,377 4,718,666
ETT us$ 22,176 17,659



—B-BF _—TTNF

FERT FAT
2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000
JERE=ZFNE SRR Trade payables to
third parties 1,752,126 950,509
FER R R B AR E 5 8RR Trade payables to
fellow subsidiaries 84,095 81
1,836,221 950,590
RE BB B HMERES308 £081E The Group normally receives credit period of 30 days to 90 days
EH- AT RREREHRBBREZREH from its suppliers. The following is an aged analysis of trade
PITREFENT B SRR BRER D AT payables presented based on the invoice date at the end of each

reporting period.

—g-8F —TINF

TR THET

2010 2009

HK$°000 HK$'000

0£90H 0 to 90 days 1,709,505 882,766
91£180H 91 to 180 days 92,176 30,291
181%2365H 181 to 365 days 16,706 13,636
38365 H Over 365 days 17,834 23,897

1,836,221 950,590
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—2-2F "TTNHF

THET FHET
2010 2009
HK$°000 HK$'000
Balance at beginning of
the year 46,610 44,449
Charge for the year - 6,894
Paid during the year (3,602) (4,733)
Balance at end of the year 43,008 46,610
Analysed for reporting
pUrposes as:
Non-current liabilities 38,957 42,695
Current liabilities 4,051 3,915
43,008 46,610

The provisions relate to payments to retired or laid-off employees.
Such payments comprise various benefits including old age
benefits, subsidies for retirement and social medical benefits.

The loan from a non-controlling shareholder was unsecured
and bear interest at the prevailing market borrowing rate and
repayable on demand.



—B-BF _—TTNF

FET FAT
2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000
AR TSR EERNRITER: Bank loans are repayable
as follows:
—FR Within one year 4,959,792 3,099,222
—FREMFRN After one year but
within two years 2,118,063 2,488,809
MEREB=FNR After two years but
within three years 3,591,859 2,329,002
=FBENFR After three years but
within four years 1,138,123 843,855
WEERERFR After four years but
within five years 1,069,414 417,952
AEMNE More than five years 146,897 198,755
13,024,148 9,377,595
JEF MBI BER —F A EI BRI FIAR Less: Amount due within
one year included
in current liabilities (4,959,792) (3,099,222)
—F & B HRRFRIA Amount due after one year 8,064,356 6,278,373
SR (7) Secured (note) 440,693 936,762
AR Unsecured 12,583,455 8,440,833
13,024,148 9,377,595
BITERREER SR -BEZT Bank loans were arranged at fixed rates as well as variable rates.
—ZEFT-A=T—RHIEFEE K& The effective interest rates of the Group’s bank loans ranged from
IRITERKERFEMEE N 7K0.70% 0.70% to 6.40% for the year ended 31 December 2010 (2009:
£6.40% A (ZFEZTNF:1.03%E 1.03% 10 6.72%).
6.72% ) °
RITERUERR D ITAT : The analysis of the terms of the bank loans were as follows:
—E-EF —ZEThEF
FET FET
2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000
ESMBK Fixed rate borrowings 822,626 681,444
FRER Variable rate borrowings 12,201,522 8,696,151

13,024,148 9,377,595
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note:  The bank loans were secured by the following assets:

—g-®& —TThS

FET FHT

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$'000

Land and buildings 136,028 145,281
Plant and machinery 75,440 190,785
Prepaid lease payments 6,251 8,008
Mining rights 127,825 79,146
Bank deposits - 421,360
345,544 844,580

Included in bank loans were the following amounts denominated
in currencies other than the functional currency of the entity to
which they are related:

-85 -—TINA

THET TAET

2010 2009

HK$'000 HK$'000

HK$ 5,655,000 2,192,000
us$ 1,010,837 140,032
6,665,837 2,332,032

As set out in Note 38, Hainan Cement became a subsidiary of
the Company in 2009. As at the date when Hainan Cement
became a subsidiary, it owned a mining right which was acquired
in 2007 for a consideration of RMB56,180,000 (equivalent to
HK$66,022,000) and of which RMB39,326,000 (equivalent
to HK$46,215,000) was payable in seven annual payments of
RMB5,618,000 each (equivalent to HK$6,602,000) until 2015.
As at 31 December 2010, the discounted present value of the
outstanding amount payable amounted to HK$27,925,000
(2009: HK$31,532,000) of which HK$4,958,000 (2009:
HK$4,521,000) was payable within one year and was included
in other payables of the Group and the remaining balance of
HK$22,967,000 (2009: HK$27,011,000) was presented as long
term payable.



BHEE &5
FAT
Number
of shares Amounts
HK$'000
SIREE0.10BITAI LM Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each:
%

JETE Authorised:

RZZEZNF—H—H At 1 January 2009 1,000,000,000 100,000
RZZETNF Increase on 31 August 2009

NA=+—HEm 9,000,000,000 900,000
RZZZNFER At 31 December 2009 and 2010

—ET-FF

+=—A=+—H 10,000,000,000 1,000,000

BETRETE: Issued and fully paid:

RZZEZNF—H—H At 1 January 2009 781,787,462 78,179
RZZEZNEF Issue of shares on 31 August 2009

NA=+—H (note a)

BTG (Fta) 4,000,000,000 400,000
RZZEZNF+ARH Issue of shares on 5 October 2009

BAITIRM (72b) (note b) 1,638,000,000 163,800
RZZEZTNEF Issue of shares on 23 October 2009

+A=+=H (note c)

BITIRG (dfc) 99,468,000 9,947
RZZZNFER At 31 December 2009 and 2010

—ET—ZF

+=—A=+—H 6,519,255,462 651,926

it notes:

a RZFEZNFENAZ+—RB AARIEER a On 31 August 2009, the Company issued 4,000,000,000 shares of
0.254 TAI{E15%4174,000,000,000% SR EE HK$0.10 each for cash to China Resources Cement Investment Group
0108 TTHIAR M) TE BRI EIERER D Limited (formerly known as Smooth Concept Investments Limited) at the
A (AIBIERHR E AR AR]) - LAKEER € - price of HK$0.25 each.

b R-ZEZTNE+AHEB - AQAREY b On 5 October 2009, the Company issued 1,638,000,000 shares of
RAFRBERER300B T ERET HK$0.10 each for cash pursuant to the IPO at the price of HK$3.90 each.
1,638,000,0008% 45 % 1 0. 107 7T MY AR 19
PAWERR & -

c REIZZNE+A-+=0 ARFREY c On 23 October 2009, the Company issued 99,468,000 shares of HK$0.10
RAFEETE N HBRERRE  ZER3.90 each for cash under the over-allotment option pursuant to the IPO at the

'nd
75 7T B0 B 18 35 7799,468, 00005 5 A% [ {0.10
FETCHR D - AR & o

price of HK$3.90 each.
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These shares ranked pari passu with the then existing issued
shares in respect of ranking for dividends, capital and voting rights
attached thereto.

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged
in both years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which
includes the bank loans disclosed in Note 32 and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued share
capital and reserves.

The management of the Company review the capital structure
on a semi-annual basis. As part of this review, the management
considers the cost of capital and the risks associates with each
class of capital. Based on recommendations of the management,
the Group will balance its overall structure through the payment
of dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the
issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debts.
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Categories of financial instruments

—g-2F —TEIAF

F&T AT
2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000
Financial assets
Loans and receivables
(including cash and cash
equivalents) 6,132,050 7,353,459
Financial liabilities
Amortised cost 16,970,880 11,137,859

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial assets and liabilities include trade and
other receivables, amounts due from jointly controlled entities,
long term receivables, pledged bank deposits, cash and bank
balances, trade and other payables, loan from a non-controlling
shareholder and bank loans. Details of these financial instruments
are disclosed in the respective notes. The risks associated with
these financial instruments and the policies about how to mitigate
these risks are set out below. The management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk mainly from its bank
balances, long term and short term borrowings. Borrowings at
fixed and variable interest rates expose the Group to fair value
interest rate risk and cash flow interest rate risk respectively. The
Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging policy.
However, the management monitors interest rate exposure and
will consider hedging significant interest rate exposure should the
need arise.
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Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The Group’s sensitivity to interest rate risk has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for bank balances and
bank loans outstanding at the end of each of the reporting
period.

If interest rate had been 50 basis points higher/lower and all
other variables were held constant, the Group's profit for the
year ended 31 December 2010 would be decreased/increased
by approximately HK$29,479,000 (2009: decreased/increased by
HK$12,032,000).

Currency risk

The Group's exposure to currency risk is attributable to the bank
balances and bank loans which are denominated in the currencies
other than the functional currency of the entity to which they
are related (see Notes 28 and 32 for details). The Group currently
does not have a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of
foreign currency exposure. However, management monitors
the related foreign currency exposure closely and will consider
hedging significant currency exposure should the need arise.
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Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to a 5%
exchange difference in RMB against HK$ and US$. The sensitivity
analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated
monetary items and adjusts their translation at year end for a 5%
change in foreign currency rates. A positive or negative number
below indicates an increase or a decrease in post-tax profit
where the RMB strengthens 5% against HK$ and US$. For a 5%
weakening of RMB against HK$ and US$, there would be an
equal and opposite impact on the post-tax profit.

—g-®F —TThS

TExT TAT
2010 2009
HK$000 HK$'000

if RMB strengthens

against HK$ 226,666 (120,217)
if RMB strengthens

against US$ 9,825 5,823
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Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event of
the counterparties failure to perform their obligations at the end
of each reporting period in relation to each class of recognised
financial assets is the carrying amount of those assets as stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position. In order to
minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has
formulated a defined fixed credit policy and delegated a team
responsible for determination of credit limits, credit approvals
and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action
is taken to recover overdue debts. The Group also reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual trade receivable regularly
at the end of each reporting period to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this
regard, the directors of the Company consider that the Group's
credit risk on trade receivables is significantly reduced.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk, with
exposure spread over a number of counterparties and customers.
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Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The
management monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings and
ensures compliance with loan covenants. As at 31 December
2010, the Group has available unutilised banking facilities of
approximately HK$6,165,000,000 which are also to meet the
Group's future expansion and satisfy its existing liabilities. The
management is also in the process of negotiating with the banks
to refinance its short term banking facilities to long term in order
to satisfy the Group's future investing cash outflow.

In order to mitigate the liquidity risk, the management regularly
monitors the operating cash flow of the Group to meet its
liquidity requirements in short and long term.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table has
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be
required to pay. Specifically, bank loans with a repayment on
demand clause are included in the earliest time band regardless
of the probability of the banks choosing to exercise their rights.
The maturity dates for other non-derivative financial liabilities are
based on the agreed repayment dates.
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2010
Trade payables
Other payables
Bank loans
- Fixed rate
- Variable rate

As at 31 December
2009
Trade payables
Other payables
Bank loans
- Fixed rate
- Variable rate

FHF=

%

Average
interest rate
%

39

3.7

1.9

39

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Liquidity and interest risk tables

—£R
TET

Within
1year
HK$'000

1,836,221
2,110,511

822,626
4,547,230

9,316,588

950,590
809,674

681,444
2,755,665

5,197,373

—FHEE
TRBMF
FHEL
More than
1 year but
less than

2 years
HK$'000

2,387,154

2,387,154

2,780,128

2,780,128

MENLE
THBRE
T
More than
2 years but
less than

5 years
HK$'000

6,118,604

6,118,604

4,033,053

4,033,053

BBREF
TET

More than
5 years
HK$'000

156,299

156,299

306,094

306,094

BHNRER
ReREEE
THET

Total
contractual
undiscounted
cash flow
HK$'000

1,836,221
2,110,511

822,626
13,209,287

17,978,645

950,590
809,674

681,444
9,874,940

12,316,648

REE
TET

Carrying
amount
HK$'000

1,836,221
2,110,511

822,626
12,201,522

16,970,880

950,590
809,674

681,444
8,696,151

11,137,859
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The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities of the
Group are determined in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis using
prices or rates from observable current market transactions as
inputs.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts
of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised
cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate their
fair values.

For the year ended 31 December 2010

(a) In June 2010, the Group acquired 72% equity interest
of Guardwise Investments Limited (“Guardwise
Investments”) from an independent third party for
a consideration of US$72 (equivalent to HK$562).
Guardwise Investments is an investment holding company
and its sole asset is an investment in a wholly owned
subsidiary whose principal activity is manufacture and sale
of cement. The acquisition has been accounted for using
the acquisition method of accounting.



BE-_Z—ZSF+-A=+—HIL*E For the year ended 31 December 2010 (Continued)
E(8)

@) (%) @) (Continued)
R SH T ER A EFERTEA The aggregate net liabilities acquired in the transaction
RSB E RN and the goodwiill arising on the acquisition are as follows:
W B 75 A
Wi B ERE
AFEE
FERT
Acquirees’ fair
value at
acquisition date
HK$°000
BB EETE: Net assets acquired:
B &&= Fixed assets 1,225,539
JEfAEFIE Prepaid lease payments 51,135
mLEE Intangible assets 18,734
BEETEER = Deposits for acquisition of
fixed assets 206,572
BT IB & B Deferred tax assets 17,312
o W sk IE Other receivables 72,004
e MIRTTH R Cash and bank balances 4,087
H b B~ F0E Other payables (1,273,140)
RITER Bank loans (114,039)
RE—BIFERBRRERK Loan from a non-controlling
shareholder (234,436)
Fri s & & %A Net liabilities acquired (26,232)
WHE FTE R RE Goodwill arising on acquisition:
EEEAE Consideration transferred 1
a0 T B EFE Add: Net liabilities acquired 26,232
OB FEE IR RE Less: Non-controlling interests (7,345)
W FTE AR Goodwill arising on acquisition 18,888
SRAR: Satisfied by:
ReRE Cash consideration (1)
WHEEENRESMAFRE: Net cash inflow arising on
acquisition:
ReERE Cash consideration (1)
BUNEIR S RIRTTHE R Cash and bank balances
acquired 4,087

4,086
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For the year ended 31 December 2010 (Continued)

@

(Continued)

Goodwill arising on acquisition of Guardwise Investments
and its subsidiary allows the Group to extend its market
presence in Shanxi Province with respect to cement
operation and the anticipated future operating synergies
from the combination.

Guardwise Investments and its subsidiary has contributed
HK$22,437,000 to the Group’s turnover and
HK$23,054,000 loss to the Group's profit attributable
to owners of the Company for the period from the
date of its being acquired as subsidiary to 31 December
2010. If the acquisition of Guardwise Investments and its
subsidiary had been completed on 1 January 2010, there
would be insignificant effect on the Group’s turnover and
profit for the year ended 31 December 2010.

In September 2010, the Group acquired 100% equity
interest of six Target Companies from an independent
third party for a consideration of HK$810,000,000. The
Target Companies are engaged in the manufacture and
sale of clinker, cement and concrete in Huizhou and
Ningbo. The acquisition has been accounted for using the
acquisition method of accounting.
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For the year ended 31 December 2010 (Continued)

(b)

(Continued)

The six Target Companies are as follows:

i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

Huizhou China Resources Transportation
Company Limited (formerly known as Huizhou
Universal Transportation Company Limited)

China Resources Concrete (Huizhou) Limited
(formerly known as Huizhou Universal Concrete
Co., Ltd.)

Huizhou China Resources Jiancai Limited (formerly
known as Huizhou Universal Construction
Material Co., Ltd.)

China Resources Cement (Huizhou) Limited
(formely known as Huizhou Universal Cement
Company Limited)

Ningbo Ying's Universal Building Material Co., Ltd.

Ningbo Beilun Ying’s Universal Architecture
Material Co., Ltd.
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For the year ended 31 December 2010 (Continued)

(b)

(Continued)

The aggregate net assets acquired in the transaction and
the goodwill arising on the acquisition are as follows:

WU g R
W iE HHAE
AFEE
FHET
Acquirees’ fair
value at
acquisition date
HK$'000
Net assets acquired:
Fixed assets 804,526
Prepaid lease payments 124,159
Intangible assets 9,949
Deposits for acquisitions of
fixed assets 9,696
Long term receivables 43,253
Deferred tax assets 23,668
Inventories 58,307
Trade receivables 149,893
Other receivables 40,997
Cash and bank balances 61,847
Trade payables (37,580)
Other payables (86,211)
Bank loans (457,062)
Deferred tax liabilities (9,512)
Net assets acquired 735,930
Goodwill arising on acquisition 74,070
Total consideration 810,000
Satisfied by:
Cash consideration (810,000)
Net cash inflow arising on
acquisition:
Cash consideration (810,000)
Less: Amounts included in
other payables 767,952
Cash and bank balances
acquired 61,847

19,799
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For the year ended 31 December 2010 (Continued)

(b)

(Continued)

The goodwill on acquisition of the six Target Companies
represents value obtainable from synergies with the
Group and opportunities for the Group to bring its
expertise to the proposition and access to the region of
the Chinese Mainland that are provided by the above
newly acquired subsidiaries.

The six Target Companies contributed HK$225,458,000
to the Group's turnover and HK$1,808,000 profit to the
Group's profit attributable to owners of the Company for
the period from the date of acquisition to 31 December
2010. If the acquisition of the six Target Companies had
been completed on 1 January 2010, the Group’s turnover
for the year would have been HK$14,559,582,000 and
profit attributable to owners of the Company for the year
would have been HK$2,045,751,000.

During 2010, the Group acquired 100% equity interest
of several cement and concrete subsidiaries from
independent third parties for a total consideration of
HK$117,818,000. The acquired subsidiaries are principally
engaged in manufacture and sale of cement and
concrete. These acquisitions have been accounted for
using the acquisition method of accounting.
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For the year ended 31 December 2010 (Continued)

(Continued)

The acquired cement and concrete companies are as
follows:

(i) China Resources Cement (Jiangmen) Limited
(formerly known as Jiangmen Jiaotou Longchen
Trading Ltd.)

(ii) China Resources Cement (Quanzhou) Limited
(formerly known as San Teh (Quanzhou) Building
Materials Co. Ltd.)

(iif) China Resources Concrete (Yangjiang) Limited
(formerly known as Yangjiang Penggang Concrete
Limited)

(iv) China Resources Concrete (Xiamen) Limited
(formerly known as Xiamen lJinggi Concrete
Limited)

(v) Heyuan China Resources Huida Concrete Limited

(vi) Zhanjiang China Resources Pengyuan Concrete

Limited (formerly known as Zhanjiang Pengyuan
Concrete Limited)
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For the year ended 31 December 2010 (Continued)

(© (B) © (Continued)

RZFRZTWBNEEFER
BURMEELNEENT

The aggregate net assets acquired in these transactions
and the goodwill arising on the acquisition are as follows:

WA R
U iE HHA Y
AFTEE
FHxT
Acquirees’ fair
value at
acquisition date
HK$'000
B ERE Net assets acquired:
EEE Fixed assets 98,076
RS HEEFKIE Prepaid lease payments 35,479
BEETEER® Deposits for acquisitions of
fixed assets 500
EETRIBE B Deferred tax assets 74
FE Inventories 7,646
JEUE 5 8RN Trade receivables 7,704
o i W sk IE Other receivables 8,205
e MIRTTH R Cash and bank balances 7,117
JEE S BRI Trade payables (13,211)
Ho b A 5RIE Other payables (67,359)
JET R IE Taxation payables (1,015)
RITER Bank loans (4,594)
BEETIBEEE Deferred tax liabilities (1,022)
B E ERE Net assets acquired 77,600
W E AR EmE Goodwill arising on acquisition 40,218
R{ELREE Total consideration 117,818
SAAR: Satisfied by:
RERE Cash consideration (117,818)
WHEEENRE ML FE: Net cash outflow arising on
acquisition
ReRE Cash consideration (117,818)
JB BT AL AL FE T 5RIE Less: Amounts included in
other payables 54,550
BUREEIR & RIRTTHE % Cash and bank balances
acquired 7,117

(56,151)
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For the year ended 31 December 2010 (Continued)

(©) (Continued)

The goodwill on acquisition of the several cement and
concrete subsidiaries represents value obtainable from
synergies with the Group and opportunities for the Group
to bring its expertise to the proposition and access to the
region of the Chinese Mainland that are provided by the
above newly acquired subsidiaries.

The several cement and concrete subsidiaries contributed
HK$24,937,000 to the Group’s turnover and
HK$4,813,000 profit to the Group's profit attributable
to owners of the Company for the period from the date
of acquisition to 31 December 2010. If the acquisition
of the several cement and concrete subsidiaries had
been completed on 1 January 2010, there would be
insignificant effect on the Group's turnover and profit for
the year ended 31 December 2010.

The above proforma information is for illustrative purpose only
and is not necessarily an indication of turnover and results of
operations of the Group that actually would have been achieved
had the acquisition been completed on 1 January 2010, nor is it
intended to be projection of future results.

For the year ended 31 December 2009

In July 2009, the Group acquired 29.31% equity interest
of Hainan Cement for a consideration of RMB269,000,000
(equivalent to HK$305,218,000). In September 2009, the Group
acquired an additional 34.14% equity interest in Hainan Cement
for the cash consideration of RMB324,846,000 (equivalent to
HK$368,941,000) and assignment of loan of RMB234,652,000
(equivalent to HK$266,504,000) for cash consideration equal
to principal amount of the loan. The principal activity of Hainan
Cement is the manufacture and sale of cement. Upon the
completion of the acquisition of the additional 34.14% equity
interest in Hainan Cement, Hainan Cement has become a
63.45% owned subsidiary of the Company. This transaction has
been accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting.
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E(8)

R SR E B HERTE A RIS The aggregate net assets acquired in the transaction and the
EEREmENT goodwill arising on the acquisition are as follows:
e BB 75 A
Wi A R
AFEE
FAT
Acquirees’ fair
value at
acquisition date
HK$'000
B E ERE - Net assets acquired:
BEEEE Fixed assets 1,326,942
RS HEHKIE Prepaid lease payments 105,025
B AE Intangible assets 83,962
R—EHE QR R Interest in an associate 8,424
BEETEE® Deposits for acquisition of
fixed assets 2,313
FE Inventories 110,582
JEUE 5 8RN Trade receivables 13,860
o fE W Sk IE Other receivables 54,582
BIRRITIF K Pledged bank deposits 6,367
e MIRTTH Cash and bank balances 195,915
B E S ER Trade payables (52,283)
B FE A FRIE Other payables (140,108)
B R E 5K Loan from an ex-shareholder (266,504)
RITERK Bank loans (516,762)
RARFER /IR Long term payable (33,235)
BLERIBEE Deferred tax liabilities (20,763)
BB EERE Net assets acquired 878,317
FEE A I SR A Non controlling interests (321,024)
RO BT BB R T AN R B ) FRIE Amount due by Hainan Cement
assigned to the Group 266,504
WHEFTE AR R Goodwill arising on acquisition 123,950
BRE Total consideration 947,747
XA Satisfied by:
RERE Cash consideration 635,445
RPN AN A AR Transfer from interests in associates 312,302
947,747
WS E E VIR & 7 R RE Net cash outflow arising on acquisition:
BERE Cash consideration (635,445)
BUREEIR S RIRTTHE % Cash and bank balances acquired 195,915

(439,530)
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For the year ended 31 December 2009 (Continued)

The goodwill on acquisition of Hainan Cement represents value
obtainable from the opportunities for the Group to obtain access
to the region of the Chinese Mainland that are provided by the
above newly acquired subsidiary.

Hainan Cement has contributed HK$39,379,000 to the Group's
profit attributable to owners of the Company for the period from
the date of its being acquired as subsidiary to 31 December 20009.

If the acquisition of Hainan Cement had been completed on
1 January 2009, the Group's turnover for that year would have
been HK$7,440,600,000 and profit attributable to owners of the
Company for that year would have been HK$1,034,200,000.
The pro forma information is for illustrative purpose only and is
not necessarily an indication of turnover and results of operations
of the Group that actually would have been achieved had the
acquisition been completed on 1 January 2009, nor is it intended
to be a projection of future results.

For the year ended 31 December 2009

On 6 April 2009, the Group disposed of the entire equity
interest in Guangxi China Resources Hongshuihe Pier Limited
(the “Hongshuihe Pier”) at a consideration of R\B138,000,000
(equivalent to HK$156,754,000) and the gain on disposal of
Hongshuihe Pier of HK$22,399,000 was recognised during the
year.



BE-_ZZhAhF+-A=+—HLHF
E (&)

RE R E R ALKR HE SE R & 2= R E LR
T

BEHEEERE:
BEME

B e MIRITHERR
EREHRARE

& as
REEE

XN

STARMENFKENEEKRERERERE
R-ZFZNF+ZA=1T—BRFHEH
EMEER BHTFEKFIR

HEEENRE R FE:
BEHERS RRITER

E_ETNFT_A=+—RHLFE"
ADKASSERARRIRE AREASER
MHERLENEER WRAEBNK LR

EREEMIERERE -

RZE—ZTF+A=+—0 #HERK
%IEﬁFMfH*E%NOBOW%
T ZE N4 610,676,000/ JT)H K 2
BB FT AR MPERFRIA

For the year ended 31 December 2009 (Continued)

The net assets of Hongshuihe Pier disposed of during the year
were as follows:

FAT
HK$'000
Net assets disposed of:
Investment properties 156,754
Cash and bank balances 7
Deferred tax liabilities (22,406)
134,355
Gain on disposal 22,399
Total consideration 156,754
Satisfied by:
Cash consideration received and
included in other payables as
advanced receipts in respect of
assets classified as held for sale as
at 31 December 2008 156,754
Net cash outflow arising on disposal:
Cash and bank balances disposed of 7

Hongshuihe Pier contributed insignificant losses to the Group's
profit attributable to owners of the Company and contributed
insignificant cash flows to the Group’s operating cash flows for
the year ended 31 December 2009.

As at 31 December 2010, payables of HK$1,621,023,000
(2009: HK$610,676,000) for the construction and acquisition of
fixed assets had not been paid and had been included in other
payables.
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The Group as lessor

At the end of each reporting period, the Group has contracted for
the following future minimum lease payments:

—g-®F —TThS

FHExT FET

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$'000

Within one year 9,215 9,215
In the second to fifth year

inclusive 19,198 28,413

28,413 37,628

The investment property has been rented to outside parties at
fixed predetermined amounts with unexpired tenancy of less than
5 years.

The Group as lessee
At the end of each reporting period, the Group had outstanding
commitments under non-cancellable operating leases which fall

due as follows:

—g-%F -—TINA

FExT TET
2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000
Within one year 22,570 20,364

In the second to fifth year
inclusive 49,915 39,609
Over five years 81,313 44,941
153,798 104,914

Represented by:

Land and buildings 151,617 98,184
Motor vehicles 2,181 6,730
153,798 104,914

Operating leases are negotiated for an average term of eight
years.



TR E NIRRT & EMN SRS RN Capital commitments for purchase and construction of fixed

REITHE AR T - assets outstanding at the end of each reporting period are as
follows:
—E-EF —ETNEF
FEx FAT
2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000
EEFEESET Contracted but not
provided for 3,537,194 2,366,132
EREERETL Authorised but not
contracted for 4,287,185 4,841,814
7,824,379 7,207,946
@ Bréma B A5k 2R AT % 95 B 3 (@  Apart from details of the balances with related parties
ANTHAEARFHEIN  REERARE disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial
BTN ERE A TETUATRS - position, the Group entered into the following

transactions with related parties during the year:

—g-®F —TTNF

FTERT FAET
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000
mMEARKEAREEEm Sale of goods to fellow
subsidiaries 32,970 31,317
BIEELGIEMNGIES A Purchase of goods from
fellow subsidiaries 249,001 5,517
MERMEA R NEE Rent paid to fellow
subsidiaries 2,775 2,019
BIEESEYNSIELE Y i 6 Testing services provided to

fellow subsidiaries 376 1,266
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(b) The key management personnel includes solely the
directors of the Company and the compensation paid to
them is disclosed in Note 9.

Transactions/balances with other state-controlled entities

The Group itself is part of a larger group of companies under
CRNC, which is controlled by the government of the Chinese
Mainland. Apart from the transactions with the parent company
and its subsidiaries which have been disclosed in other notes to
the consolidated financial statements, the Group also conducts
businesses with entities directly or indirectly owned or controlled
by the Chinese Mainland government in the ordinary course of
business. The directors consider those entities other than the
CRNC group are independent third parties as far as the Group’s
business transactions with them are concerned. In establishing its
pricing strategies and approval process for transactions with other
state-controlled entities, the Group does not differentiate whether
the counter-party is a state-controlled entity or not. The Group is
of the opinion that it has provided, in the best of its knowledge,
adequate and appropriate disclosure of related party transactions
in the consolidated financial statements.

The Group has entered into various transactions, including sales,
purchases, borrowings and other operating expenses with other
state-controlled entities which individually were insignificant during
the year.

On 2 September 2009 (the “Adoption Date”), a Share Award
Scheme (the “Scheme”) was adopted by the Company. The
Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years
commencing from the Adoption Date. Pursuant to the rules
of the Scheme, the Company has set up a trust through a
trustee, BOCI — Prudential Trustee Limited, for the purpose of
administering the Scheme and holding the shares.
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WEAR AR B 3L 3t B
Place of
Name of subsidiary incorporation

ERORER (BE)ERAA 30

China Resources Cement Holdings Hong Kong
(Hong Kong) Limited
ERKEREERAF HEAH

China Resources Cement Investments ~ Chinese Mainland
Limited

EBKE(BI)ERAR HEI
(RIREIRSAKE
BREFRA)?

China Resources Cement (Changjiang) ~ Chinese Mainland
Limited (formerly known as
SDIC Hainan Cement Co. Ltd.)?

On 17 November 2010, the Company amended the terms of the
share award scheme to include Directors as eligible grantees and
such that payments under the Scheme will be made in form of
cash rather than Shares. According to the Scheme, the Company
can utilise the proceeds generated from the disposal of the Shares
purchased and held by the trustee for awards to be made under
the Scheme.

The trustee has been holding 160,000,000 Shares on trust
throughout the year ended 31 December 2010. None of the
Shares held on trust by the trustee and cash benefits under the
Scheme has been granted to any eligible grantee during the year.

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 December
2010 and 2009 are as follows:

BRARMERE/
&R ARRREMEERENLA TEEH
—2-2% —EZThE
EE it B fik
Issued and fully Proportion of the
paid share capital/ ownership interest
registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
2010 2009

Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly

10,0007 100% - 100% - BBELZFMBARKRE
HK$10,000 Holding investments in
subsidiaries
221,951972% 7T - 100% - 100% HESZRMBLRRE
US$221,951,972 Holding investments in
subsidiaries
AR %520,750,0007T - 6345% - 6345%  KREEEHE
RMB520,750,000 Manufacture and sale of

cement



WEAREM

Name of subsidiary

ERKR (Fs8) BR AR
China Resources Cement
(Fangchenggang) Limited

ERAOR (1) ARAR"
China Resources Cement (Fengkai)
Limited

EERE(BI)BEBAR"
China Resources Cement (Fuchuan)
Limited

ERAOR (BR)ARAR"
China Resources Cement (Guigang)
Limited

EEKE (EN) BRAR
(AIBBNRIKRARAR) ¥

China Resources Cement (Huizhou)
Limited (formerly known as
Huizhou Universal Cement
Company Limited) ”

£BK0E OIF) BRAR)
(MBIFmERENES
BRARR)

China Resources Cement (Jiangmen)
Limited (formerly known as
Jiangmen Jiaotou Longchen
Trading Ltd.)”

BRIk

Place of
incorporation

hEA

Chinese Mainland

hEA

Chinese Mainland

hEA

Chinese Mainland

hEA

Chinese Mainland

hEA

Chinese Mainland

PEA

Chinese Mainland

BRARARRE/
AMEE

Issued and fully
paid share capital/
registered capital

15,000,00078 7
HK$15,000,000

136,145,900% T
1S§136,145,900

255,560,00038 7C
HK$255,560,000

55,104,000 T
US$55,104,000

70,000,000 T

US$70,000,000

120,000,000/ 7

HK$120,000,000

ARRBERERERRENLA
—2-%% —ZENF
BE & E% %
Proportion of the
ownership interest
held by the Company

2010 2009
Directly Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
- 100% - 100%
- 100% - 100%
- 100% - 100%
- 100% - 100%
- 100% - =
- 100% = =

TEEH

Principal activities

KREEREE
Manufacture and sale of
cement

KREEREE
Manufacture and sale of
cement

KREEREE
Manufacture and sale of
cement

KREEREE
Manufacture and sale of
cement

KEEERHE

Manufacture and sale of
cement

KEEERHE

Manufacture and sale of
cement



WEAREM

Name of subsidiary

EHRE (BR)ARAF
China Resources Cement (Longyan)
Limited

EEKE (BEEE)ERDA
China Resources Cement (Longyan
Caoxi) Limited

ZRKR (BN BRAF"
China Resources Cement (Luchuan)
Limited

EROE (BE)ERAR"
China Resources Cement (Nanning)
Limited

ERAOE (FE)ARAR"
China Resources Cement (Pingnan)
Limited

EBKE (RN BRAHE
(RIBRN=ERMERLR)
China Resources Cement (Quanzhou)
Limited (formerly known as
San Teh (Quanzhou) Building
Materials Co. Ltd.)”

AR AR 3

Place of
incorporation

hEA

Chinese Mainland

hEA

Chinese Mainland

hEA

Chinese Mainland

hEA

Chinese Mainland

hEA

Chinese Mainland

hEA

Chinese Mainland

BRARARRE/
AMEE

Issued and fully
paid share capital/
registered capital

33,280,000% T
1S$33,280,000

480,000,000/ T
HK$480,000,000

AR #243,980,0007T
RMB243,980,000

55,200,000 7T
US$55,200,000

AK%1,080,780,0007C
RMB1,080,780,000

3,280,000% 7T

US$3,280,000

AARHERRER L
=g-%5 R

& B% %
Proportion of the
ownership interest
held by the Company

2010 2009

Indirectly Directly  Indirectly

100% = 100%
100% = =
100% = 100%
100% = 100%
100% = 100%
100% = =

EE:3 3

Principal activities

KREEREE
Manufacture and sale of
cement

KREEREE
Manufacture and sale of
cement

KREERHEE
Manufacture and sale of
cement

KREEREE
Manufacture and sale of
cement

KREEREE
Manufacture and sale of
cement

KEEERHE

Manufacture and sale of
cement



WEAREM

Name of subsidiary

EHRE(LR)ERAF
China Resources Cement (Shangsi)
Limited

=R CLEE) R A F)"
China Resources Cement (Shantou)
Limited

EHRE (AFB) AR
China Resources Cement (Tianyang)
Limited

EEKE(RE)BRAA
China Resources Cement (Wuxuan)
Limited

EBRE (BF)ARAF
China Resources Cement (Yangchun)
Limited

ERAOR GkE) BRAR"
China Resources Cement (Yongding)
Limited

ERAOR CRT)ARAR"
China Resources Cement (Zhanjiang)
Limited

BRIk

Place of
incorporation

hEA

Chinese Mainland

hEA

Chinese Mainland

hEA

Chinese Mainland

hEA

Chinese Mainland

hEA

Chinese Mainland

hEA

Chinese Mainland

hEA

Chinese Mainland

BRARARRE/
AMEE

Issued and fully
paid share capital/
registered capital

AR #220,440,0007T
RMB220,440,000

AR #210,000,0007T
RMB210,000,000

254,660,003 7
HK$254,660,000

257,266,000/ 7
HK$257,266,000

250,000,00038 7
HK$250,000,000

35,000,000% T
US$35,000,000

22,000,000 7T
HK$22,000,000

ARRBERERERRENLA
—2-%% —ZTNE
EE & E% %
Proportion of the
ownership interest
held by the Company

2010 2009
Directly Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
- 100% - 100%
- 100% - 100%
- 100% - 100%
- 100% - 100%
- 100% - 100%
- 100% - 100%
- 100% - 100%

TEEH

Principal activities

KREEREE
Manufacture and sale of
cement

KREEREE
Manufacture and sale of
cement

KREEREE
Manufacture and sale of
cement

KREEREE
Manufacture and sale of
cement

KREEREE
Manufacture and sale of
cement

KREEREE
Manufacture and sale of
cement

KREEREE
Manufacture and sale of
cement



WEAREM

Name of subsidiary

ZHERL (BR)ERAR
China Resources Concrete (Baise)
Limited

ZHERL () ERARY
China Resources Concrete (Beihai)
Limited

REERLHRRIBRAR
China Resources Concrete (Dongguan
Fengcheng) Limited

EERRELT (B BRAR
China Resources Concrete
(Fangchenggang) Limited

EEREL (HR)ERAA
(AIBHREBRELIERAR)
China Resources Concrete (Fengkai)
Limited (formerly known as
Fengkai China Resources
Concrete Limited)

AR AR 3

Place of
incorporation

hEA

Chinese Mainland

hEA

Chinese Mainland

hEA

Chinese Mainland

hEA

Chinese Mainland

hEA

Chinese Mainland

BRARARRE/
AMEE

Issued and fully
paid share capital/
registered capital

20,000,000/ 7T
HK$20,000,000

40,000,0007 7T
HK$40,000,000

20,000,000/ 7T
HK$20,000,000

25,000,000 7T
HK$25,000,000

AR#3,000,0007C

RMB3,000,000

AARHERRER L
=g-%5 R

& B% %
Proportion of the
ownership interest
held by the Company

2010 2009

Indirectly Directly  Indirectly

100% = 100%
100% = 100%
100% = 100%
100% = 100%
100% = 100%

EE:3 3

Principal activities

ERTAEEEE
Manufacture and sale of
concrete

ERTAEEEE
Manufacture and sale of
concrete

ERTAEEEE
Manufacture and sale of
concrete

ERTAEEEE
Manufacture and sale of
concrete

BRIEEREE

Manufacture and sale of
concrete



WEAREM

Name of subsidiary

ZRERL (BIL)ERARY
China Resources Concrete (Foshan)
Limited

ERRELT (BR)ERAAY
China Resources Concrete (Fujian)
Limited

ERERT (BB BRRAY
China Resources Concrete (Fuging)
Limited

BNFAERERERLERAR
China Resources Concrete (Fuzhou

Development Zone) Limited

ZHERL (BN)ERAR
China Resources Concrete (Fuzhou)
Limited

ERREL (RE)ERAAY
China Resources Concrete (Gaoyao)
Limited

BRIk

Place of
incorporation

hEA

Chinese Mainland

hEA

Chinese Mainland

hEA

Chinese Mainland

hEA

Chinese Mainland

hEA

Chinese Mainland

hEA

Chinese Mainland

BRARARRE/
AMEE

Issued and fully
paid share capital/
registered capital

20,000,000/ 7T
HK$20,000,000

26,000,000 7T
HK$26,000,000

20,000,000/ 7T
HK$20,000,000

20,000,000/ 7T
HK$20,000,000

21,000,000 ¢
HK$21,000,000

20,000,000/ 7T
HK$20,000,000

ARRBERERERRENLA
—2-%% —ZENF
BE & E% %

Proportion of the
ownership interest
held by the Company
2010 2009
Directly Indirectly Directly  Indirectly

- 100% - 100%

- 100% - 100%

- 100% - 100%

- 100% - 100%

- 100% - 100%

- 100% - 100%

TEEH

Principal activities

ERTAEEEEE
Manufacture and sale of
concrete

ERTAEEEE
Manufacture and sale of
concrete

ERTAEEEE
Manufacture and sale of
concrete

ERTAEEEE
Manufacture and sale of
concrete

ERTAEREE
Manufacture and sale of
concrete

ERTAESEE
Manufacture and sale of
concrete



WEAREM

Name of subsidiary

ERERT (BR)BRAFY
China Resources Concrete (Guangxi)
Limited

EHERL (BB)BRRAY
China Resources Concrete (Guigang)
Limited

EEREL(BN)BRAR"
China Resources Concrete (Hezhou)
Limited

**/F Ny i( JH)ﬁ
(FIEEY Hiﬁﬁ/mﬁi
BBARA)

China Resources Concrete
(Huizhou) Limited (formerly
known as Huizhou Universal
Concrete Co. Ltd.)”

IMERRRLETAERAR
China Resources Concrete (Jiangmen
Tangxia) Limited

AR AR 3

Place of
incorporation

hEA

Chinese Mainland

hEA

Chinese Mainland

hEA

Chinese Mainland

hEA

Chinese Mainland

hEA

Chinese Mainland

BRARARRE/
AMEE

Issued and fully
paid share capital/
registered capital

34,000,000 T
HK$34,000,000

25,000,000 7T
HK$25,000,000

25,000,000 7T
HK$25,000,000

7,000,000% 7T

US$7,000,000

20,000,000/ 7T
HK$20,000,000

ARRBEMERERRENLA
—g-%f “TENE
BE & B% %

Proportion of the
ownership interest
held by the Company
2010 2009
Directly Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
- 100% - 100%
- 100% - 100%
- 100% - 100%
- 100% - -
- 100% - 100%

EE:3 3

Principal activities

ERTAEEEE
Manufacture and sale of
concrete

ERTAEEEE
Manufacture and sale of
concrete

ERTAEEEE
Manufacture and sale of
concrete

RRIEEREE

Manufacture and sale of

concrete

ERTAEEEE
Manufacture and sale of
concrete



WEAREM

Name of subsidiary

ERRELT OIF)ERAF
China Resources Concrete (Jiangmen)
Limited

EHERT (BR)BRRAF"
China Resources Concrete (Jiedong)
Limited

EHERL (B ERRAY
China Resources Concrete (/injiang)
Limited

ZHERL (RE)ERAR
China Resources Concrete (Laibin)
Limited

EERREL (N BRARY
China Resources Concrete (Liuzhou)
Limited

ERREL (B5)ERAAY
China Resources Concrete (Longyan)
Limited

BRIk

Place of
incorporation

HE N,
Chinese Mainland

HE N,
Chinese Mainland

HE N,
Chinese Mainland

HE N,
Chinese Mainland

BN,
Chinese Mainland

HE N,
Chinese Mainland

BRARARRE/
AMEE

Issued and fully
paid share capital/
registered capital

20,000,000/ 7T
HK$20,000,000

24,000,000 7T
HK$24,000,000

25,000,000/ 7T
HK$25,000,000

20,000,000/ 7T
HK$20,000,000

20,000,000/ 7T
HK$20,000,000

24,000,000 7T
HK$24,000,000

ARRBERERERRENLA
—2-%% —ZTNE
EE & E% %
Proportion of the
ownership interest
held by the Company

2010 2009
Directly Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
- 100% - 100%
- 100% - 100%
- 100% - 100%
- 100% - 100%
- 100% - 100%
- 100% - -

TEEH

Principal activities

ERTAEEEEE
Manufacture and sale of
concrete

ERTAEEEE
Manufacture and sale of
concrete

ERTAEEEE
Manufacture and sale of
concrete

ERTAEEEE
Manufacture and sale of
concrete

ERTAEREE
Manufacture and sale of
concrete

ERTAESEE
Manufacture and sale of
concrete



WEAREM

Name of subsidiary

ERERL (RE)ARAF
China Resources Concrete (Nanning)
Limited

HEEEEARRLARARY
China Resources Concrete (Nanning
Qingxiu) Limited

HEFRRAERRLARAAY
China Resources Concrete (Nanning
Xixiangtang) Limited

ZRERL (PN ERAR
China Resources Concrete (Qinzhou)
Limited

FERRERLERAR
China Resources Concrete (Shenzhen)

Company Limited
EHERT (BR)BERRAY
China Resources Concrete (Wanning)

Limited

EHRRL (EM)BRAR

(ABEFRERRLARAR)

China Resources Concrete (Xiamen)
Limited (formerly known as

Xiamen Jingqi Concrete Limited)

AR AR 3

Place of
incorporation

hEA

Chinese Mainland

hEA

Chinese Mainland

hEA

Chinese Mainland

hEA

Chinese Mainland

hEA

Chinese Mainland

hEA

Chinese Mainland

hEA

Chinese Mainland

BRARARRE/
AMEE

Issued and fully
paid share capital/
registered capital

20,000,000/ 7T
HK$20,000,000

34,000,000 T
HK$34,000,000

20,000,000/ 7T
HK$20,000,000

40,000,0007 7T
HK$40,000,000

AR #25,000,0007T
RMB25,000,000

24,000,000/ 7T
HK$24,000,000

AR #20,000,0007T

RMB20,000,000

AARHERRER L
=g-%5 R

& B% %
Proportion of the
ownership interest
held by the Company

2010 2009

Indirectly Directly  Indirectly

100% = 100%
100% = 100%
100% = 100%
100% = 100%
100% = 100%
100% = 100%
100% = =

EE:3 3

Principal activities

ERTAEEEE
Manufacture and sale of
concrete

ERTAEEEE
Manufacture and sale of
concrete

ERTAEEEE
Manufacture and sale of
concrete

ERTAEEEE
Manufacture and sale of
concrete

ERTAEEEE
Manufacture and sale of
concrete

ERTAEEEE
Manufacture and sale of
concrete

RRIEEREE

Manufacture and sale of
concrete



WEAREM

Name of subsidiary

EEREL (BI)ERAA
(RIBBImEEERL
BRAR) "

China Resources Concrete (Yangjiang)
Limited (formerly known as
Yangjiang Penggang
Concrete Limited)

ZHERL (EM)ERAR
China Resources Concrete (Yulin)
Limited

EERELT CBM)ERAAY
China Resources Concrete (Zhangzhou)
Limited

ERERT (B BERRAY
China Resources Concrete (Zhanjiang)
Limited

ZHERL (ZEE)ERAR
China Resources Concrete
(Zhaoging) Limited

BRIk

Place of
incorporation

hEA

Chinese Mainland

hEA

Chinese Mainland

hEA

Chinese Mainland

hEA

Chinese Mainland

hEA

Chinese Mainland

BRARARRE/
AMEE

Issued and fully
paid share capital/
registered capital

AK%10,000,0007T

RMB10,000,000

24,000,000 7T

HK$24,000,000

24,000,000 7T
HK$24,000,000

20,000,000/ 7T
HK$20,000,000

20,000,000/ 7T
HK$20,000,000

ARRBERERERRENLA
—2-%% —ZTNE
EE & E% %
Proportion of the
ownership interest
held by the Company

2010 2009
Directly Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
- 100% - -
- 100% - -
- 100% - 100%
- 100% - 100%
- 100% - 100%

TEEH

Principal activities

BRIEEREE

Manufacture and sale of

concrete

ERTAEEEE
Manufacture and sale of
concrete

ERTAEEEE
Manufacture and sale of
concrete

ERTAEREE
Manufacture and sale of
concrete

ERTAESEE
Manufacture and sale of
concrete



WEAREM

Name of subsidiary

ERRERERBRAR
China Resources Dongguan Cement
Manufactory Holdings Limited

RRERERTBRAA
China Resources Dongguan

Concrete Co., Limited”

REZHKERBRAR
Dongguan Huarun Cement

Manufactory Co., Limited

HABRAA

First Route Limited

BILEBEZ ERLERAR"
Foshan China Resources Shunan
Concrete Limited

SERERAF
General Perfect Limited

BRERDKIKEERAR

Guangxi China Resources Hongshuihe

Cement Co,, Ltd.?

AR AR 3

Place of
incorporation

R
Hong Kong

hEA

Chinese Mainland

PEIA

Chinese Mainland

BB
Hong Kong

hEA

Chinese Mainland

&b

Hong Kong

hEA

Chinese Mainland

BRARARRE/
AMEE

Issued and fully
paid share capital/
registered capital

150,000,0007%8 7T
HK$150,000,000

20,000,000/ 7T
HK$20,000,000

199,000,000/ 7
HK$199,000,000

BT

HK$2

2,420,000% 7T

US$2,420,000

2ET

HK$2

AR #200,000,0007T
RMB200,000,000

ARRBEMERERRENLA
—g-%f “TENE
EE & B% %

Proportion of the
ownership interest
held by the Company
2010 2009
Directly Indirectly Directly  Indirectly

- 100% - 100%

- 100% - 100%

- 100% - 100%

- 100% - 100%

- 100% - 100%

- 100% - 100%

- 93.8% - 91.8%

EE:3 3

Principal activities

KEES
Trading of cement

BRI EEREE
Manufacture and sale of
concrete

RRTAEEREE
Manufacture and sale of

cement

L UES
Property holding

BRI EEREE
Manufacture and sale of

concrete

BERIES
Property holding

ERTAEREE
Manufacture and sale of
cement



WEAREM

Name of subsidiary

ERDKAKERAERAR
Guangxi Hongshuihe Cement Joint
Stock Company Limited @

TRERBERELERAR
Heyuan China Resources Huida
Concrete Limited ”

TRERBERERLERAR
Heyuan China Resources Pengyuan
Concrete Limited

BEMEBENBRDA
(RN R IREM
BRAR)

Huizhou China Resources Jiancai
Limited (formerly known as
Huizhou Universal Construction
Material Co., Ltd.)”

IFIEBRRLENEROR
Jiangmen China Resources Concrete
Muzhou Limited

BRIk

Place of
incorporation

hEA

Chinese Mainland

hEA

Chinese Mainland

hEA

Chinese Mainland

hEA

Chinese Mainland

hEA

Chinese Mainland

BRARARRE/
AMEE

Issued and fully
paid share capital/
registered capital

AR #305,256,7007T
RMB305,256,700

24,000,000 7T
HK$24,000,000

AK#22,000,0007T
RMB22,000,000

8,000,000 7T

US$8,000,000

24,000,000 7T
HK$24,000,000

ARRBERERERRENLA
—2-%% —ZTNE
EE & E% %
Proportion of the
ownership interest
held by the Company

2010 2009
Directly Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
= 79.4% = 72.8%
- 100% - -
- 100% - 100%
- 100% - -
- 100% - -

TEEH

Principal activities

HE-FBERARE
Holding investment in an

associate

ERTAEEEE
Manufacture and sale of
concrete

KREEREE
Manufacture and sale of
concrete

BRIEEREE

Manufacture and sale of

concrete

ERTAESEE
Manufacture and sale of
concrete



WEAREM

Name of subsidiary

BRI mERREENERR R
Ningbo Beilun Ying's Universal
Architecture Material Co., Ltd.

BERERRIFRENHBERAR
Ningbo Ying's Universal Building
Material Co., Ltd.”

ARERARAT

Profit Success Development Limited

mEEHBRARAR
Quality Control Consultants Limited

HHERERERAR
Redland Ash Limited

PEKRRIIBER AR

Redland Cement Connections Limited
FERRLERAR

Redland Concrete Limited

PAMHEEERAR

Redland Construction Materials Limited

FEDRERAR
Redland Mortars Limited

AR AR 3

Place of
incorporation

hEA

Chinese Mainland

hEA

Chinese Mainland

A
Hong Kong

Bt
Hong Kong

BE
Hong Kong

BB
Hong Kong

EE

Hong Kong

B
Hong Kong

B
Hong Kong

BRARARRE/
AMEE

Issued and fully
paid share capital/
registered capital

7,200,000% 7T
1S$7,200,000

7,000,000% 7T
US$7,000,000

10,000 1T

HK$10,000

200,000/ 7T

HK$200,000

BT

HK$2

28T
HK$2

1087

HK$10

28T
HK$2

28T
HK$2

AARHERRER L
=g-%5 R

& B% %
Proportion of the
ownership interest
held by the Company

2010 2009

Indirectly Directly  Indirectly

100% = =
100% = =
100% = 100%
100% = 100%
100% = 100%
100% = 100%
100% = 100%
100% = 100%
100% = 100%

EE:3 3

Principal activities

ERTAEEEE
Manufacture and sale of

concrete

ERTAEEEE
Manufacture and sale of

concrete

nERE
Property holding

BRI R AR
Concrete testing and

consultancy services

BERES
Trading of fly ash

KEES

Trading of cements

BRTAEEEE
Manufacture and sale of

concrete

REMHES
Trading of construction

materials

PRES
Trading of mortars



WEAR AR A L B
Place of

Name of subsidiary incorporation

RABFARAR B

Redland Shotcrete Limited Hong Kong

LEEBREARAR HEIR

(A LAEREKEERAR) Y

Shanxi China Resources Fulong Cement  Chinese Mainland
Limited (formerly known as
Shanxi Fulong Cement Limited)”

ABNREBRAR B
Standard Wealth Investment Limited Hong Kong

(1) ZERRER RN AN E B EN T
@ ZERAEF A ARING B R ENT
BV AV

ARAREZR/LERIHNARFIRME
AR HAKENRE BERABEE
EXE -HIHMMBRRNFHBDER
JLie

RAFER - BHENB AR B TEME
&S

BRARARRE/

&R ARRBERERERENLA TEEH
—2-%% —ZENF
BE & E% %
Issued and fully Proportion of the
paid share capital/ ownership interest
registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
2010 2009

Directly Indirectly Directly  Indirectly

287 - 100% - 100% ERESH
HK$2 Trading of shotcrete
90,000,000 T - 2% - - KEREEREE
US$90,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
cement
28T - 100% - 100%  EEWE
HK$2 Property holding
notes:
(1) These companies were established in the Chinese Mainland in the form of

wholly foreign-owned enterprise.
(2) These companies were established in the Chinese Mainland in the form of
sino-foreign equity joint venture enterprise.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the subsidiaries
of the Company listed in the above table principally affected the
results, assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would result in particulars of excessive length.

None of subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of
the year.



=== N \ - }-L —
N ) na /\ j
= HAORIERBRE AT
China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
BB B EE265 R E4412
44/F, China Resources Building,
26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
4k Website : www.crcement.com
1@ 48U Website for Corporate Communications :© www.irasia.com/listco/hk/crcement/index.htm

"5 Printed on recycled paper



	COVER
	CONTENTS
	CORPORATE INFORMATION
	DEFINITIONS
	CORPORATE HISTORY
	BUSINESS OVERVIEW
	SIGNIFICANT EVENTS SINCE 2010
	FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
	CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
	REPORT FROM CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
	MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
	BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
	REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
	CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
	INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
	NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
	FINANCIAL SUMMARY
	BACK COVER

